
TWOHUNDRED
AND TIDRTY..FIFTII MEETING

Held at Lake Success, New York,
on Saturday 24 Jalluary 1948, at 10.30 a.m.

President: Mr. F. VAN LA..."'lGENHOVE (Bel­
gium).

Present : The representatives of the following
countries: Argentina, Belgium, Canada, China,
Colombia, France, Syria, Urkainian Soviet So­
cialist Republic, Union of Soviet Socialist Repub­
lies, United Kingdom, United States of America.

28. Provisiona1 agenda
(document SjAgenda 235)

1. Adoption of the agenda.
2. India-Pakistan question:

(a) Letter dated 1 January 1948 from the
representative of India addressed to the
President of the Security Council concern­
ing the situation in Jammu and Kashmir
(document S/628).1

(b) Letter dated 15 January 1948 frOID the
Minister for Foreign Affairs of Pakistan
addressed to the Secretary-General con­
cerning the situation in Jammu and Kash­
mir (document S/646).2

(c} Letter dated 20 January 1948 from the
1vIinister for' Foreign Affairs of Pakistan
addressed to the President of the Security
Council (document S/655).3

29. Adoption of the agenda
The agenda was adopted.

30. Continuation of the discussion
of the India-Paki§fan question

On the invitation of the President, MI'. M. C.
Setalvad, representative of lndia, and Sir Moham­
med Zafrullah ~han, representative of Pakistan,
took their places at the Security Council table.

The system of simultaneous interpretation was
adopted at this point.

Sir Mohammed ZAFRULLAH KHAN (Pakistan) :
My learned friend who addressed the Security
Council yesterday [232nd and 234th meetings] on
behalf of India is a very eminent advocate; in
my view, he is the most eminent advocate
practising ;n Iodia today. 1 have a1ways esteemed
him not only as a very able, but as a very fair­
minded, advocate. He strove very hard yesterday
to persuade me to modify my opinion of him with
regard to bis fair-mindedness. However, 1 concede
that this is an exceptional occasion and, in spite
of the very harsh adjectives that it pleased him to
apply to my speech, 1 shall continue to entertain
of him the opinion 1 have always held.

He started by charging me with certain mis­
statements. The firs~ one had to do with Brigadier
Khuda Baksh of the Jammu Arroy. 1 stated that

:L See Official Records of the Security Council, Third
Yea., Supplement for No~ember 1948, pages 139-144.

2 Ibid., Supplement for Novt;m:"er 1948, pages 67-87.
3 Ibid., No. 6, 231st meeting.

DEUX CENT TRENTE..CINQUIEME
SEANCE

Tenue à Lake Success, New-York,
le samedi 24 janvier. 1948, à 10 h. 30.

Président: M. F. VAN LANGENHOVE (Begique).

Présents : Les représentants des pays suivants:
Argentine, Belgique, Canada, Chine, Colombie,
France, Syrie, Républiqut' socialiste soviétique
d'Ukraine, Union des Républiques socialistes
soviétiq,ues, Royaume-Uni, Etats-Unis d'Amé.
rique.

28. Ordre du jour provisoire
(document SjAgenda 235)

1. Adoption de l'ordre du jour.
2. Question Inde-Pakistan.

a) Lettre en date du l or janvier 1948, adressée
au Président du Conseil de sécurité, par le
représentant de l'Inde au sujet de la situa­
tion dans l'Etat de Jammu et Cachemire
(document 8/628) 1.

b) Lettre, en date du 15 janvier 1948, adres·
sée au Secrétaire Général par le Ministre
des affaires étrangères du Pakistan au sujet
de la situ:ation dans l'Etat de Jammu et
Cachemire (document S/646) 2.

c) Lettre, en date du 20 janvier 1948, adres·
sée au Président du Conseil de sécurité par
le Ministre des affaires étrangères du
Pakistan (document S/655) 3.

29. Adoption de l'ordre du jour
L'ordre du jour est adopté.

30. Suite de la discussion sur la question
Inde-Pakistan

Sur l'invitation du Président, M. M. C. Setal­
vad, représentant de l'Inde, et Sir Mohammed
Zafrullah Khan, représentant du Pakistan, pren­
nent place à la table du Conseil.

A ce stage des débats, il est fait usage de
l'interprétation simultanée.

Sir Mohammed ZAFRULl ..H KHAN (Pakistan)
(traduit de l'anglais) : MOD ,vant collègue, qui a
pris la parole au Conseille sécurité hier [232" et
234" séances] au nom de l'Inde~ est un éminent
avocat; à mon avis, c'est l'avocat le plus éminent
pratiquant aux Indes aujourd'hui. Je l'ai toujours ~'t

estimé et considéré comme un avocat non seule.'
ment très c,!-pable mais aussi plein d'équité. Il
s'est efforcé hier de me persuader de modifier
l'opinion que j'ai de lui au sujet de son esprit
d'équité. Cependant, je reconnais que nous nous
trouvons dans des circonstances exceptionnelles et
que, malgré les qualificatifs très durs qu'il s'est
plu à appliquer à mon discours, je continuerai à
avoir de lui l'opinion que j'ai toujours eue. .

li a commencé par m'accuser de faire de faus­
ses déclarations. La prémière concernant le géné­
ral Khuda Baksh de l'armée de Jammu. J'ai

1 Voir les Procès-verbaux officiels du Conseil de sécu­
rité, troisième a-mée, supplément de novembre 1948,
pages 139 à 144.

2 Ibid., supplément de novembre 1948, pages 67 à 87.
~ Ibid., n° 6, 231" séance.
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an Associflted Press report had announced bis
assllssination. We are very glad to hear that this
report was erroneous. But 1 made no mis-state­
ment; that report had been made and we were
not aware that it was erroneous. We are glad to
learn that it was wrong.

The representative of India then charged me
with having tried to create a wrong impression in
the minds of the members of the Security Council
with regard to what occurred with reference to
my own home. 1 wish to make it clear that the
reference to my own home was not by way of a
specific complaint or grievance as to what had
occurred. Where millions had lost their homes
and all they possessed, and had gone through
various stages and degrees of suffering and misery,
it would have been out of place to mention the
1055 of one's own home. 1 mentioned it as an
instance wht:Ie one knew what had occurred, and
yet the Govemment of India had chosen to deny
altogether that anything had occurred. 1 men­
tioned this as an instance of the fact that this
kind of happening had gone on and had alto­
gether been denied, and 1 am afraid the same thing
has happened over again. Ta try to tell me that,
except for a few articles that may have been
removed, not:Itmg has occurred, is an attempt
which it is difficlÙ.t to characterize.

What actually happened is that this house was
100tOO by the military and by the Sikhs for :five
days betwen 27 September and 1 Octcber. 1t was
a large house with nine bedrooms, eleven bath­
rooms, six reception rooms, offices, garages, a
bungalow for the manager, five acres of garden,
an orchard, and so on ; therefore, even the looting
could not be completed within a very short tïme.

By the sheerest coincidence, last nig...ltt a Delhi
newspaper came to my attention, in which 1
noticed the second instalment of incidents that
took place at Qadian, where my home was, and
which, incidentally, is the headquarters of a
reJigious movement having missions an over the
world. This second instalment describes incidents
No. 31 to No. 46 that occurred during tbis period.

1 might mention that, at my request and that
of other prominent members of this particular
movement, the Govemment of India sent a detach­
ment of troops to he stationed there to give us
protection, and it ~so sent in additional police.
I shall mention three or four of these incidents ta
show what, under this protection afforded to us,
was happening at this place. One incident reads
as follows: .. On 22 September, the police and
military searched houses of the head of the move­
ment and of bis brothers from 6 o'c1ock in the
morning until Il o'clock. Everything was ripped
open; locks were broken, and the police and the
~tary rushed into the women's apartments

."1thout notice. Notbing objectionable was disco-
vered, but all arms, every one of which was
licensed, were removed and taken away and have
not yet been retumed. "

The rushing of police and military into the
Women's quarters is an outrage wbich can proper­
ly be appreciated only by those who are familiar

déclaré qu'une dépêche de l'Associated Press avait
annoncé son assassinat. Nous sommes très heu­
reux d'apprendre que cette nouvelle était inexacte,
mais je n'ai pas fait de fausse déclaration. Cette
nouvelle avait été transmise et nous ne savions
pas qu'elle était fausse. Nous sommes heureux
de rapprendre.

Le représentant de l'Inde m'a ensuite accusé
d'avoir essayé de créer une fausse impression dans
l'esprit des membres du Conseil de sécurité rela­
tivement à ce qui s'est passé au sujet de ma pro­
pre maison. Je désire déclarer nettement que mes
dires au sujet de ma propre maison n'avaient pas
pour but de formuler une plainte précise. Alors
que des millions de gens ont perdu tous leurs
biens et d'autres leur vie même et qu'ils ont passé
par tous les degrés de la souffrance et de la
misère, il aurait été déplacé de parler de la perte
de ma maison. J'ai cité ce cas comme un exem­
ple pour lequel on savait ce qui s'était passé et
dans lequel, cependant, le G"uvemern.ent de l'Inde
avait préféré nier absolument que quelque chose
se fût passé. J'ai cité ce cas cOlrune un exemple
du fait que ce genre d'événement s'est produit et
a été absolument démenti, et je crains que des
faits iden~ques ne se soient produits de nouveau.
Essayer de me dire que, à part quelques objets
qui ont pu être enlevés, rien ne s'est passé, cons­
titue une tentative qu'il es'è difficile de qualifier.

Ce qui s'est produit en vérité, c'est que cette
maison a été pillée par des soldats et des Sikhs
pendant cinq jours, du 27 septembre au 1101" octo­
bre. C'est une grande maison, composée de neuf
chambres à coucher, onze salles de bains, six
salons, des bureaux:, des garages, un pavillon pour
le régisseur, deux hectares de jardins, un verger,
etc., de sorte que le pillage ne pouvait se faire
dans un court laps de temps. .

Hier soir, par une pure coïncidence, mon atten­
tion a été attirée par un journal de Delhi dans
lequel j'ai :remarqué le second article d'une série
ra~ontant les incidents qui ont eu lieu à Qadian,
où se trouve ma maison, et qui, soit dit en passant,
est le siège d'un mouvement religieux qui entre­
tient des missions dans le monde entier. Ce second
article décrit les incidents signalés sous les numé­
ros 31 à 46 qui se sont passés durant cette
période.

Je peux mentionner qu'à la demande et à celle
d'autres membres importants du mouvement dont
je viens de parler, le Gouvernement de l'Inde a
envoyé un détachement fourni par les troupes sta­
tionnées dans cette ville pour nous protéger et
également des renforts de police. Je citerai trois
ou quatre de ces incidents pour montrer ce qui
s'est passé en cet endroit sous la protection qui
nous a été accordée. Voici le récit d'un de ces
incidents : « Le 22 septembre, la police et l'armée
ont perquisitionné, de 6 heures à 23 heures, dans
les maisons du chef du mouvement et de ses
frères. Toutes les portes furent enfoncées, les ser­
rures brisées, et la police et les soldats firent
irruption sans avertissement dans les appartements
des femmes. Rien de répréhensible ne fut décou­
vert, mais toutes les armes, alcrs que chacune
d'elles avait fait l'objet d'une autorisation, ont été
e~portées et n'ont pas encore été rendues. »

L'irruption de la police et de soldats dans les
appartement des femmes constitue un outrage dont
la gravité ne peut être appréciée que par ceux qui
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with the w~ys of living of respectable familles in
the East.

Incident No. 34 reads as follows: .. On. 24
September, the police searched houses in the
quarter called Darush Shukur, and though they
found nothing objectionable, they took away
omaments, cash and other articles worth thou­
sands of rupees, and five young girls belonging to
the refugees, who were subsequently retumed."

Incident No. 35 reads as follows: .. On 25
September, four Muslim refugees who were
staying in a house called Ashiana Mubarlk, in a
quarter named Daru! Anwar, were shot by the
police and their women were taken away."

Incident No. 36 reads as follows: .. On 27
September, 5,000 cattle, belonging to the refugees
who were in a camp "-at this place Qadian­
... were stolen by the Sikhs, with the help of the
police, along with the cars and other vehicles
which the refugees had engaged in order to make
their trek."

Incident No. 37 reads as follows: .. Zafrullah
Khan's house, Baitul Zafar, in the Daru! Anwar
quarter, WliS "-and the paper itself mentions it­
•• except for a few articles, looted by the military.
This looting continued for five nights. Every night,
military trucks came and rolled up the fumiture
and other articles, and took them away. The
ponies and the cattle were also looted."

Incident No. 38 reads as follows: oc On 29
September 1947, Moulvi Ahmed Khan Nasim, in
charge of local missions, and Moulvi Abdul Aziz,
in charge of intelligence, were arrested on the
charge of robbery."

Incident No. 39 reads as follows: .. On 29
September 1947, severa! other houses in the
Daru! Anwar quarter were looted, including the
houses of Colonel Dr. Ataulla, Assistant Director
General of Medical Services, Pakistan; Abu!
Hashim Khan, retired inspec~or of schools; and
Abdul Rahim Dard, e:::.-missionary in charge of 1
tite mission in London."

Incident No. 40 reads as follows: .. On 30
September 1947, the police issued an order to the
local scavengers to stop cleaning and scavenging
the houses of the Muslims, the result being that
the privies could not be cleaned, which led to a
very undesirable situation."

Incident No. 43 reads as follows: .. On 2
October 1947 the police, under orders, stopped
the grinding of corn in the mills at Qadian,
belonging to the Muslims, with the result fuat the
Muslims who were surrounded in Qadian, which
included women and children and old people,
were for many days compelled to eat boiled
wheat, which led to many cases of disorder and
disease."

Incident No. 44 reads as follows: .. On 2
October 1947, the Talimul Islam College and the
Fa.71e Umar Technical Institute buildings, their
furniture, machinery and instruments were taken
possession of by the police and the faculties were
expelled therefrolIl." .

It is needless to multiply incidents, but this
gives a sort of detailed picture of the kind of
thing that was being done by the police and the

connaissent bien les coutumes des familles respec­
tables en Orient.

L'incident 34 est exposé comme suit: «Le
24 septembre, la police a effectué des perquisi­
tions dans le quartier de Darush Shukur et, quoi­
qu'elle n'ait rien trouvé de répréhensible, elle a
emporté des bijoux, de l'argent et d'autres objets
d'une valeur de plusieurs milliers de roupies et
emmené cinq jeunes filles faisant partie d'un
groupe de réfugiés, qui plus tard ont été rame­
nées. »

L'incident 35 est ai....si décrit : «Le 25 septem­
bre, quatre réfugiés musulmans, qui habitaient une
maison appelée Ashiana Mubarik~ dans le quartier
de Daru! Anwar, ont été tués par la police et leurs
femmes enlevées. »

L'incident 36 est exposé comme suit: «Le
27 septembre, 5.000 ïêtes de bétail, appartenant
à des réfugiés qui se trouvaient dans un camp à
Qadian - dont on vient de parler - ont été
volées par Sikhs avec l'aide de la police, ainsi
que des voitures et d'autres véhicules que les réfu·
giés avaient loués pour faire leur voyage. »

L'incident 37 est exposé comme suit: « La
maison de Zafrullah Khan, Baitul Zafar, dans le
quartier de Daru! Anwar, a été... » et le journal
même le mentionne «... à part quelques objets,
pillée par des soldats. Ce pillage a duré cinq nuits.
Chaque nuit, des camions militaires sont venus et
ont emporté les meubles et d'autres objets. Les
poneys et les bestiaux ont été également empor­
tés. »

L'incident 38 est exposé comme suit: « Le
29 septembre 1947, Moulvi Ahmed Khan Nasim,
chef des. émissions locales, et Moulvi Abdul Aziz,
chef du service des renseignements, ont été arrêtés
à la suite d'une accusation de vol. »

Incident 39 : « Le 29 septembre 1947, plusieurs
maisons du quartier de Daru! Anwar ont été
pillées, notamment les maisons du major Ataulla,
directeur général adjoint des Services médicaux du
Pakistan, d'Abul Hashim Khan, ancien inspecteur
des écoles, d'Abdul Rahim Dard, ancien membre
d'une mission, ancien cnef de la mission de Lon-
ares. »

Incident 40 :« Le 30 septembre 1947, la police
a donné l'ordre alut boueurs de la ville de cesser
de nettoyer et de procéder à la vidange dans les
maisons des musulmans; il en est résulté que les
lieux d'aisance n'ont pas pu être nettoyés, ce qui
a occasionné une situation très désagréable. »

Incident 43: «Le 2 octobre 1947, la police,
agissant par ordre, a interdit aux mou11ns de
Qadian de moudre le grain appartenant aUX
musulmans, et il en est résulté que les musulm.ans
qui étaient rassemblés à Qadian, et parmi lesquels
se trouvaient des femmes, des enfants et des vieil­
lards, ont été obligés, pendant de nombreux jours,
de manger du blé bouilli de sorte qu'il y a eu de
nombreux cas d'indisposition et de maladie. »

Incident 44: « l.e 2 octobre 1947, la police
s'est emparée des bâtiments du collège Talimul
Islam et de l'institut technique Fazle Umar, de
leur mobilier, de leurs machines et de leuIJ ins­
truments, et les professeurs en ont été expulsés. »

TI est inutile de continuer à citer de tels inci­
dents, mais cela donne une idée précise du genre
d'actes commis par la police et l'armée. Le repré-
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military. It is all very weIl for the representative '
of India to say it was a case of .. mass frenzy,"
-but this is no case of mass frenzy-and to
continue saying that nothing has happened. The
representative of India admitted that the Muslim
population of a place where there was a total
population of 15,000 of whici! 13,000 were Mus­
Iims, had now been reduced to 300. But he waves
that aside by saying, .. WeIl, that has happened in
many places in West Punjab, too." That is a
typical case of two wrongs not making a right.

The representative of Inma învited attention to
the massacre of the Postal staff in Jammu, which
had been alleged by us. He said, in effect, .. The
matter rests at this stage: VIe deny that it has
happened." 1 was told that 1 had not cited the
authority for my allegation that these massacre<;
had taken place. 1 shall cite the authority, which

1 is memorandum INVIR-5712 dated 10 December
1947 from the Postmaster-General, Lahore, to the
Director-General, Posts and Telegraphs, Pakistan.
Karachi, under the heading .. Massacre of Postal
staff in Jammu". The memorandum says: .. Re­
ference your DO, number E69-5 Kashmir/47
and this office's endorsement, INVIR-5712 dated
5 November 1947, The Supèrintendent of Post
Offices, Sialkot Division, has now reported the
information received by him."

That is the full title of the document from
which l quoted. It is an officiaI document made
after an investigation and inquiry. That again is
an illustration of the attitude adopted by the
Government of India towards incidents of this
kind. Details are given, but the reply is that the
incidents have not occurred.

The representative of India went on to deal
with the origin of communal clashes and nots. 1
shall not follow him into another detailed des·
cription of them again. The Security Council has
heard enough of that, and when the Council goes
on to the consideration of the complaint filed by
the Pakistan Govemment [document S1646] it
will hear more details about these matters. But
a few comments on sorne aspects of the question
are necessary.

The representative of India invited attention to
what had happened in Calcutta. 1 was surprised
to hear tbat the allegation is that the killing in
Calcutta was started by the Muslims. The whole
matter was the subject of a judicial inquiry; a
commission was set, up. The representative of
India said that that inquiry had been stopped
aftcr 15 August. But a postscript must be added
to that. That inquiry was stopped by the West
Bengal. Govemment. The West Bengal Govern­
ment is a Congress Govemment.

1 tried also to follow the evidence that was
being introduced before that commission, and on
one point at least, the evidence left no doubt that
the fust day's killings were started by the Hindus,
and. that, of the people admitted to the hospital
durmg the fust day, the overwhelming majority
Were Muslims. This was particularly the case in
one quarter in North Calcutta. A Hindu landIord
there, being anxious to get rid of his Muslim
tenants in small' huts and cottages in order to
cIear the city so that he could build flats and

sentant de l'Inde à beau dire que ce fut un cas de
« folie collective Jo) et que rien ne s'est passé, cela
n'est pas un cas de folie collective. Le représentant
de l'Inde a reconnu que le nombre des habitants
musulmans d'une ville de 15.000 âmes, dont
13.000 musulmans, était maïntenant réduit à
300. Mais il écarte cela en disant simplement:
«Eh bien, cela s'est produit aussi en de nom­
breux endroits dans le Pendjab occidental ». C'est
là un cas typique de deux: erreurs qui ne sont pas
une vérité.

Le représentant de l'Inde a attiré l'attention du
Conseil sur le massacre du personnel des postes
de Jammu, qui a été cité par nous. TI a dit en
fait: «L'affaire en reste là : nous nions que cela
se soit produit.» On m'a dit que je n'avais cité
aucune référence pour confirmer que ces massa­
cres avaient eu lieu. Je citerai la référence sui­
vante: Mémorandu..m INVIR-5712, en date du
10 décembre 1947, du Ministre des postes à
Lahore, adressé au Directeur général des postes et
télégraphes du Pakistan à Karachi, sous le titre :
«Massacre du personnel postal de Jammu:t. Ce
mémorandum dit : « Référence votre DO,
n° E69-5 Cachemire/47; numéro de transmission
de ce service INVIR-5712 en date du 5 novembre
1947. Le receveur des postes de la division de
Sialkot a maintenant rendu compte des renseigne­
ments qu'il a reçus. »

J'ai donné le titre complet du document d'où
j'ai tiré ma citation. C'est un document officiel
établi après une enquête et des recherches. Ceci
est également un exemple de l'attitude .adoptée
par le Gouvernement de l'Inde à l'égard d'inci­
dents de ce genre. Des précisions sont données,
mais la réponse est que ces incidents ne se sont
pas produits.

Le représentant de l'Inde a continué en traitant
de l'origine des émeutes et des bagarres entre
groupes d'origines différentes. Je ne ferai pas
après lui un nouvel exposé de ces incidents. Le
Conseil de sécurité en a entendu suffisamment
là-dessus, et si le Conseil passe à l'examen de la
plainte déposée par le Gouvem.ement du Pakis­
tan [document SI646], il entend'L'a d'autres détails
sur ces questions. Mais quelques observations sur
certains aspects du problème sont nécessaires.

Le représentant de l'Inde a attiré l'attention du
Conseil sur ce qui s'est passé à Calcutta. J'ai été
surpris que l'on prétende que les massacres de
Calcutta ont été déclenchés par les musulmans.
Toute l'affaire a été l'objet d'une instruction judi­
ciaire ; une CommissIon d'enquête a été établie.
Le représentant de l'Inde a dit que cette instruc­
tion avait été arrêtée après le 15 août. M9js il faut
ajouter à cela un post-scriptum. L'enquête a été
arrêtée par le Gouvernement du Bengale occi­
dental. Dans le Bengale occidental, c'est le parti
du Congrès qui est au gouvernement.

J'ai essayé aussi de suivre les témoignages qui
ont été présentés à cette Commission; sur un
point au moins, ces témoignages permettent
d'affirmer que les massacres du premier jour ont
été déclenchés par les Hindous et que, parmi les
blesr 4s admis à l'hôpital le premier jour, l'écra­
SaIi L"; majorité était constituée par des musulmans.
TI en a été particulièrement ainsi dans un quartier
situé au nord de Calcutta. Un propriétaire hindou,
en cet endroit, étant pressé de se débarrasser de
ses locatarres musulmans qui logaient. dans de
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petites baraques et des pavillons qu'il Voulait
démolir pour pouvoir construire des bureaux et
des appartements, déclencha délibérément contre
eux une campagne de massacres et ils furent
presque tous anéantis. Les témoignages montrent
que, dans ce quartier, il y avait une quantité de
ruelles étroites entremêlées, que ces gens furent
égorgés et qu'un grand nombre d'entre ew: furent
tués parce qu'ils ne purent trouver de sortie dans
ce labyrinthe de ruelles.

Calcutta fut suivi par Noakhali où, malheureu­
sement, il y a eu indubitablement un massacre
d'Hindous. Le gouverneur d'alors, M. Burrows, a
estimé que 200 au moins ont été tués et que beau.
coup ont été, suivant l'expression employée à ce
sujet «convertis de force ~.

Ces incidents ont été suivis par ceux de Bihar.
Une très modeste évaluation fixe le nombre des
musulmans tués à 30.000. Des villages entiers
ont été complètement incendiés et littéralement
anéantis, et toute l'affaire a révélé un plan délibéré
d'extermination des musulmans dans ces régions.

A Gharmkhteswar, à l'occasion de la fête HoU
des Hindous sur les rives du Gange, dont j'ai parlé
précédemment, un grand nombre de musulmans
ont été tués, notamment des officiers qui étaient
de service pour assister les célébrants hindous,
assurer le service de santé et prendre des mesures
de police.

Mais, après tout, cela fait partie de l'histoire
des émeutes et des baganes entre groupes d'ori·
gines différentes. Revenant aux questions plus
récentes, le représentant de l'Inde a fait preuve
d'une certaine candeur lorsqu'il a examiné la
situation. li a dit que je m'étais plaint de ce que
les musulmans ont été anéantis complètement
dans les Etats de Bharatpur et d'Alwar, lors des
massacres commencés là en juin et juillet 1947,
alors que ceux-ci ont été perpétrés par les forces
militaires des gouvernants et qu'il ne s'agissait pas
de bagarres et d'émeutes communales, ces gens
ayant été expulsés et massacrés sur l'ordre des
gouvernants par les forces militaires sous leurs
ordres. Le représentant de l'Inde dit : «Le Gou·
vernement de l'Inde n'est pas responsable de cela,
car ces Etats ne sont entrés dans l'Union indienne
qu'après la mi-août. »

J'ai dit que sa réponse est naïve. Tout d'abord,
les expulsions et les massacres se sont poursuivis
jusqu'en septembre. Ensuite, l'adhésion a été
acceptée par le Gouverneur général et il aurait
pu y poser comme condition que ces Etats mettent
de l'ordre chez eux. Enfin, les Etats indiens
n'étaient pas autorisés et ne sont toujours pas
autorisés à entretenir des relations extérieures.
C'est le Gouvernement de l'Inde d'alors qui
s'occupait de leurs relations extérieures et depui~
ce moment c'est le Gouvernement de l'Inde qUI
s'en occupe. En conséquence, toute la responsa­
bilité, en ce qui concerne l~ remède à appliquer,
doit continuer à être assumée par le Gouverne­
ment de l'Inde.

Mais le représentant de l'Inde n'a pas dit un
mot - pas un mot - sur les terribles m~ssa~re~

du Kapurthala, par exemple, qui ont redult ~
zéro la population musulmane de cet Etat, qUI
constituait la majorité. L'Etat de Kapurthala
s'était rattaché au Gouvernement de l'Inde au
moment où ces massacres ont eu lieu. Et il n'a
pas dit un mot au sujet du Faridkot, du Jind et du

offices on the site, deliberately started a campaign
of killing them, and they were practically wiped
out. The evidence revealed that there were a lot
of narrow lanes in this quarter running into eacb
other, that these people were butchered and that
a large number of them were 1dlled because they
had no way out oÏ that maze of lanes.

1 have saidthat bis reply is ingenious. In the
fust place, the killings and the expulsions went
right on into September. IIi the second place, the
accession was accepted by the Governor-General,
and he could have made it a condition that they
ShOlÙd put their houses in order. In the third place,
the Indian States were not permitted and are not
permitted to have Îoreign relations. Their foreign
relations, even at that date, were carried on
through the then Govemment of India, and since
then have been carried on by the Govemment of
India. Theref6re, any responsibility in that respect
withregard to what the remedy should be still
lies with the Govermnent of India.

Calcutta was followed by Noakhali where,
mast deplorably, there was undoubtedIy a killing
of Hindus. The then Governor, Mr. Burrows,
estimated that as many as 200 had been killed,
and that many had been what has been described
as "forcibly converted ".

These incidents were followed hy Biliar. At a
very modest estimate, the number of killed was
30,000 Muslims. Entire villages were completely
bumed and destroyed, and the whole thing
showed a deliberate plan to wipe out the Muslims
in those areas.

In Gharmkhteswar, on the occasion of the Holl
Festival of Hindus on the banks of the Ganges,
which 1 previously mentioned, large numbers of
Muslims were killed, including Muslim officers
who were on duty ta help the Hindu festival­
makers, to look after their health, and ta make
police arrangements. .

But these were, aftèr aU, a part of the historj
of communal clashes and riots. Coming back to
the nearer questions, the representative of India
showed a certain amount ofingenuity in dealing
with the situation. He said that 1 had complained
that Muslims had been wiped out altogether in
the States of Bharatpur and P.Jwar, during the
killing which started there in the months of June
and July of 1947; that this was done by the
military forces of the Rulers, and that it was not a
case of communal clashes and riots, these people
having been killed and expelled under the orders
of the Rulers by the military forces of the Rulers.
The representat1ve of India says, .. the Govern­
ment of India has no responsibility in that respect
inasmuch as these States did not accede to the
Indian Union unt:l after the middIe of August".

But the representative of India said not one
word-not one-.with regard to the terrible kil­
lings in Kapurthala, for instance, which have
reduced the MusIim majority population of that
'State to zero. The State of Kapurthala had ac­
ceded to the Government of India when these
killings took place. And he said not one wOld
with regard to Faridkot, Jind and Patiala, where
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the Muslim minority had been wiped out altoge­
ther at a time when these States were in accession
to the Government of India.

We now come to East Punjab. The represen­
tative of India referred to the speech of the Sikh
leader, Master Tara Singh, who, while standing
on the steps of the Legislature in Lahore, drew
bis sword out of his scabbard, brandished it, anù
said: .. The question whether Pakistan shaII or
shaIl not be established shaIl be decided between
the Muslims and the Sikhs by the sword. We
have been aware of this danger that has been
threatening us. We have taken OUI' measures. Our
volunteers are ready." The representative of
India said [232nd meeting] that this speech
had taken place in the middIe of aIl the trouble.
I wish to inform the Security Council that this
speech W&S made on 28 February. Dp to then,
no communal clashes had occurred in East or
West Punjab at aIl.

The representative of India accepted the date
of 28 February, but he would not accept the
latter part of my statement.' However, this is a
question of historical fact which can easily be
ascertained. 1 said that this speech by Master
Tara Singh was followed by similar speeches
made by other Sikh leaders, among them Giani
Kartar Singh, that evening or the following even­
ing in Kapurthala House in Lahore. These
speeches were in the same vein, threatening the
Muslims with being driven across the Indus
towards the northwest. These speeches were fol­
lowed, on 2 March in Multan, by the speech of
Nanak Singh, the local Sikh leader, who said that
that year, the Sikhs and the Hindus desired to
.. play Holi ". This, as 1 explanied, is a Hindu
festival which was due to occur within two or
three days. It is a sort of carnival where people
sprinkle each other with, among other things, red
water. Nanak Singh said that they desired to
.. play Holi" this year not with red water but
with red blood. These statements and the state­
ments made at Moltan and Rawalpindi were
followed by riots in which Sikhs were kilIed. The
representative of India has put the cart before
the horse in saying that these speeches were the
i'esults of these riots. These speeches were made
before these riats, and brought them on. It is an
historical fact. However, what distinguishes the
happenings in West Punjab from those in East
Punjab is that in West Punjab these riots occurred
in March and were speedily controlled. Then,
there were stray incidents, and, later on, in the
latter half of August and September, after the
East Punjab kiIlings, there were retaliations.
However, they were, when their elements are
studied. exhibitions of mass frenzy. In East Pun­
jab, there was a regular organized campaign which
was carried out thoroughly, sector by sector.

Ihave given the Security· Council sorne indica­
tion with regard ta Qadian itself. However, that
was one of the least of the inGidents that occurred
~ ?ast Punjab. But even in East Punjab, these
mCldents have not yet stopped. They continue.
Ajmer is the' scene of the latest incident. The
representative of India drew attention to Ajmer.
After stating what in his view had happened, he

Patiala, où la minorité musulmane a été complè­
tement anéantie à une époque où ces Etats
s'étaient rattachés au Gouvernement de l'Inde.

Nous en arrivons maintenant au Pendjab orien­
tal. Le représentant de l'Inde a rappelé un
discours du chef sikh, Tara Singh. il a dit que le
chef Tara Singh, alors qu'il se trouvait sur
l'escalier de la Chambre des représentants à
Lahore, a tiré son sabre du fourreau, l'a brandi
et s'est écrié : «La question de la création du
Pakistan sera décidée entre les musulmans et les
Sikhs par le sabre. Nous sommes avertis du danger
qui nous menace. Nous avons pris nos disposi­
tions. Nos volontaires sont prêts.» Le représen­
tant de l'Inde a dit [2320 séance] que ces paroles
ont été prononcées au milieu de la période de
troubles. Je désire que le Conseil de sécurité sache
que ce discours a été prononcé le 28 février.
Jusqu'à ce moment, absolument aucune bagarre
ne s'était produite dans le Pendjab oriental ou
occidental.

Le représentant de l'Inde a admis la date du
28 février, mais il n'a pas admis la dernière partie
de ma déclaration. Cependant, c'est là un fait
historique qui peut être facilement'vérifié. J'ai dit
que ce discours du chef Tara Singh a été suivi
de discours analogues prononcés par d'autres
chefs sikhs, parmi lesquels Gjani Karter Singh,
le lendemain soir au KapurthaIa House, à Lahore.
Ces discours étaient de la même veine; ils mena­
çaient les musulmans d'être repoussés de l'autre
côté de l'Indus, vers le nord-ouest. Ces discours
ont été suivis, le 2 mars, à Multan, du discours
de Nanak Singh, le chef sikh local qui a dit que
cette année, les Sikhs et les Hindous désiraient
«célébrer la fête de Holi». C'est, ainsi que je
l'ai expliqué, une fête hindoue qui devait avoir
lieu deux ou trois jours plus tard. C'est une sorte
de carnaval où, notamment, les gens s'aspergent les
uns les autres avec de l'eau rougie. Nanak Singh
a dit qu'il désirait «célébrer la fête de Holi»
cette année-là non avec de l'eau rougie, mais avec
du sang. Ces déclarations, et celles qui furent
faites à Multan et à Rawalpindi, ont été suivies
d'émeutes au cours desquelles des Sikhs ont été'
tués. Le représentant de l'Inde a mis la charrue
devant les bœufs lorsqu'il a dit que ces discours
étaient le résultat de ces émeutes. Ces discoms ont
été pronoI;lcés avant ces émeutes et en ont été la
c~use. C'est un fait historique. Cependant, ce qui
distingue les événement du Pendjab occidental de
ceux du Pendjab oriental est que dans le Pendjab
occidental ces émeutes se sont produites en mars
et ont été rapidement maîtrisées. A ce moment,
il y a eu des incidents isolés et, plus tard, dans la
deuxième moitié d'août et en septembre, après les
massacres du Pendjab oriental, il y a eu des repré­
sailler ";ependant lorsqu'on étudie leurs éléments,
on pli.. dire que çe sont des accès de folie
collective. Dans le Pendjab oriental, il y a eu une
véritable campagne organisée qui a été appliquée
systématiquement, secteur par secteur.

J'ai donné au Conseil de sécurité quelques indi­
cations au sujet de Qadianmême. Cependant, cela
a été l'un des moins importants des incidents qui
se sont produits dans le Pendjab oriental. Mais,
même dans le Pendjab oriental, ces incidents
n'ont pas encore cessé. ils continuent à se pro­
duire. Le dernier s'est ptoduit à Ajmer. Le repré­
sentant de l'Inde a attiré l'attention du Conseil



gave a curious reason as to why complete protec­
tion could not be given to the Muslims. He ~d :
It was difficult to afford complete protection to
the Muslims in Ajmer as there are two factions
of Muslims among whom there is some dispute
\Vith regard to the management of this shrine.

The representative of India will forgive me
when 1 say that 1 am utterly unable to follow this
argument. On previous occasions, when 1 have
had to appraise his arguments 1 have never
had that difficulty. This is the first occasion. 1 see
no connexion between fallure to give protection
and the excuse that is put forward that there is
some dispute between two factions of Muslims
with regard to the management of the shrine,
and that, therefore, they cannot be protected com­
pletely from being killed by the Hindus.

Then, the representative of India said that there
were recent events, one in West Punjab and one in
Upper Sind, which showed that similar things
were occurring in West Punjab also. If it is meant
that incidents unfortunately continue to OCCU!,

that has not been denied. If it is meant that in
these riots in the predominantly Muslim areas.
the non-Muslims are made victims, that has not
been denied. AlI this has been amply stated and
deplored by me in my speech. However, when
incidents are cited as rather wiping out other
incidents, that is what 1 take issue wiili.

At Gujrat, large numbers of people were killed
on a train. In this moming's New York Herald­
Tribune there appears under the heading .. The
'War' for Kashmir ", a statement by Margaret
Parton conceming different incidents. In the
course of this statement, to which 1 shall also
draw attention later in connexion with Kashmir,
she states that she went along with a party of other
reporters to these areas. She says: •• Just outside
Gujrat a group of tribesmen and villagers stood
beside four mutilated corpses. Since such sights
are still common in tbis most uncommon country,
we didn't halt the car. Much later we learned
of that moming's Gujrat train massacre in which
174 non-Muslims and 30 tribesmen had been
killed...

Again, this is most.deplorable. The loss of a
single life under circumstances of that kind is to
be deplored. 1 do not seek to minimize incidents
of that kind, but it does not help to exaggerate
the numbers involved. On the other hand, com-

o pare that incident \\ith the train incidents that
occured in Amritsar on 22 September. A train
was carrying Muslim refugées under escort of the
troops of the Government of India. It was at­
tacked at Amritsar by a Sikh mob. The escort
troops of the Government of India refused to fire
upon the mob. The only person who did fire was
the British officer in charge of the escort, and he
was killed. It is not cIear whether he was killed
by the attackers of the train or whether by
members of bis own escorte This train contained
4,500 refugees. Over 3,000 were killed. Over
1,000 were seriously injured. When the train

sur Ajmer. Après avoir exposé ce qui, à son avis,
s'était produit, il a expliqué d'une manière assez
surprenante la raison pour laquelle on n'a pu
protéger complètement les musulmans. TI a dit'
qu'il était difficile de protéger complètement les
musulmans à Ajmer parce qu'il y a deux sectes
de musulmans qui se disputent au sujet de l'admi­
nistration des Lieux saints.

Le représentant de l'Inde me pardonnera si je
dis que je suis absolument incapable de compren­
dre cet argument. Auparavant, lorsque j'ai eu à
apprécier ses arguments, je n'ai jamais rencontré
cette difficulté; c'est la première fois. Je ne vois
aucun rapport entre le défaut de protection et
l'excuse invoquée qu'il y a un désaccord entre
deux sectes de musulmans au sujet de l'adminis­
tration des Lieux saints et que, en conséquence,
on ne peut· leur assurer une protection complète
contre les massacres p·erpétrés par les Hindous.

Ensuite, le représentant de l'Inde a dit qu'il y
a eu des événements récents - un dans le
Pendjab occidental et un dans le Sind supérieur­
qui montrent que des faits analogues se produi­
saient également dans le Pendjab occidentaI. Si
on entend par là que des incidents continuent
malheureusement à se produire, cela n'a pas été
nié. Si l'on entend par là que, au coms de ces
émeutes dans les régions où les musulmans prédo­
minent, ce sont les non-musulmans qui sont les
victime, cela n'a pas été nié. Tout cela a été
amplement déclaré et déploré par moi dans mon
discours. Cependant, lorsqu'on cite des incidents,
en disant qu'ils annulent d'autres incidents, c'est
ce point que je conteste.

A Gujrat, un grand nombre de personnes ont
été tuées dans un train. Dans le New York Herald
Tribune de ce matin, il a paru, sous le titre «La
« guerre » pour le Cachemire », un article de
Margaret Parton sur différents incidents. Dans cet
article, sur lequel j'attirerai également plus tard
l'attention du Conseil au sujet du Cachemire, elle
déclare qu'elle s'est rendue dans ces régions avec
un groupe de reporters. Elle dit : «Juste au
dehors de Gujrat, un groupe de villageois et de
membres des tribus se tenait à côté de quatre
corps mutilés. Comme de tels spectacles sont
encore fréquents dans ce pays extraordinaire, nous
ne nous sommes pas arrêtés. Plus tard, nous avons
appris la nouvelle du massacre des voyageurs d'un
train ayant eu lieu à Gujrat ce matin-là, et au
cours duqueL1"J4 non-musulmans et 30 membres
de tribus avaient été tués ».

Je répète que ceci est tout à fait déplorable. La
perte d'une seule vie humaine dans des circons­
tances de ce genre doit être déplorée. Je ne cher­
che pas à minimiser des incidents de ce genre,
mais cela ne sert à rien d'exagérer le nombre des
victimes. D'autre part, comparez cet incident avec
les incidents, également relatifs à un train, qui se
sont produits à Amritsar le 22 septembre. Un
train transportait des réfugiés musulmans sous
escorte de troupes du Gouvernement de l'Inde. n
a été attaqué à Amritsar par une foule composée
de Sikhs. Les troupes d'escorte du Gouvernement
de l'Inde ont refusé de tirer sur la fome. La seule
personne qui ait tiré 1. été l'officier britannique
qui commandait l'esCOle ~ et il a été tué. On ne
sait pas exactement s'il a été tué par les agres­
seurs ou par les soldats de sa propre escorte. Ce
train· transportait 40500 réfugiés. Plus de 3.000
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arrived at Lahore, a bare hour's journey from
Amritsar, only 200 people came out of the train
entirely uninjured. But it is not the numbers that
matter so much, though the numbers are bad
enough. It is the behaviour of the escort, an escort
that was there to protect those unfortunates whom
they were escorting. We have not yet heard how
that escort has been dealt witli by the military
authorities responsible to the Govemment of
India.

Again, reference is made to Karachi, where
another very deplorable incident took place. Some
Sikhs from Upper Sind arrived there, contrary
to the arrangements made between the Sind Gov­
ernment and the High Commissioner for India,
and without even giving notice to the latter,. who
\Vas aware that, in the conditions which prevail
just n9W, the sight of a Sikh to Muslim refugees
who had suffered at the hands of Sikhs in Eas\.
Punjab would be very provocative. The Sikhs
arrived, hired hackney carriages, and proceeded
through the streets of Karachi to their camp. This
caused a great deal of excitement and led to a
most regrettable incident in which between sixty
and eighty persons were killed and several houses
looted. Once more the military, as soon as they

1 arrived on the scene, secured complete control
of the situation. A curfew was clamped upon the

1 town, ministers and others personally helped to
put down the rioting, and within two hours order
\Vas restored and has since been fully maintained.

In this connexion l should like to draw the
attention of the Security Council to a statement
issued by leading non-Muslims of Karachi con­
cerning the attitude of the Govemment in regard·
to this matter. After sett.ing out details of the
incident and the looting which took place, they
say:

.. Though in deep distress, we consider it our
duty to place on record our sense of gratitude to
aIl those men and women-Sindis and non-Sindis
-who helped to put down the disturbances and,
at the time of need, gave protection and shelter
to those affected in the looting. In this connexion

1 we cannot but mention three persons who did
the greatest service in promptly restorlng order
in the city: Mr. A. M. ~uro, the Prime Minister
of Sind, who worked day and night and showed
determination and courage; Major-Gem..ral Akbar
Khan, G.O.C. Sind àrea, and Mr. Kazem Raza,
Additional Inspector-General of Police, Karachi
City. We are also grateful to the rank: and file of
the military and Muslim National Guards, Kara­
chi, who have done their duty and acquitted
themselves very honourably. Lastly, we have no
words for giving sufficient thank:s to Sindi Mus­
lims, including our Makrani and Baluchi brothers
who, like our good neighbours, without any hesi­
tation gave every possible assistance to the dis­
tressed. We are aIso grateful to the Pakistan Gov­
ernment ministers and the Sind Government
ministers for their real sympathy and extreme
help." •

ont été tués. Plus de 1.000 ont été grièvement
blessés. Lorsque le train est arrivé à Lahore, qui
est juste à une heure d'Amritsar, il n'en est sorti
que 200 personnes absolument indemnes. Mais ce
n'est pas le nombre qui importe tellement, quoi­
que le nombre rende la chose particulièrement
pénible, c'est le comportement de l'escorte, une
escorte qui était là pour protéger c~s infortunés.
Nous ne savons pas encore comment cette escorte
a été punie par les autorités militaires du Gou­
vernement de l'Inde.

Je me réfère à nouveau à Karachi où un autre
incident tout à fait déplorable a eu Heu. Quelques
Sikhs du Sind supérieur sont arrivés dans cette
ville, contrairement aux accords conclus entre le
Gouvernement du Sind et le Haut Commissaire
pour l'Inde, et SIillS qu'un préavis ait été donné
même à ce dernier qui savait que, dans les condi­
tions régnant juste à ce moment, la seule vue d'un
Sikh pour un réfugié musulman "ayant souffert de
la cruauté des Sikhs dans le Pendjab oriental
serait une véritable provocation. Les Sikhs arri­
vèrent, louèrent des voitures et se rendirent à leur
camp à travers les rues de Karachi. Cela causa
une grande effervescence et occasionna .un inci­
dent regrettable au cours duquel soixante à
quatre-vingts personnes furent tuées et plusieurs
maisons pillées. Une fois de plus, les soldats, dès
qu'ils arrivèrent sur les lieux, se rendirent complè­
tement maîtres de la situation. Un couvre-feu fut
immédiatement appliqué à toute la ville, les
Ministres et d'autres personnes aidèrent eux­
mêmes à calmer l'émeute et, dans les deux heures,
l'ordre fut rétabli et a été parfaitement maintenu

A ce propos, je désirerais attirer l'attention du
Conseil de sécurité sur une déclaration faite par
des personnalités non musulmanes de Karachï au
sujet de l'attitude prise par le Gouvernement dans
cette affaire. Après avoir exposé les détails de
cet incident et le pillage qui a suivi, ces person­
nalités ont dit :

« Malgré notre profonde détresse, nous
estimons de notre devoir d'exprimer notre senti­
ment de gratitude envers tous ceux, hommes et
femmes - originaires du Sind ou non - qui ont
aidé à calmer les troubles et, lorsque la nécessité
s'est présentée, ont offert protection et abri aux
victimes du pillage. A ce sujet, nous ne pouvons
mieux faire que de mentionner trois personnes
qui ont rendu les plus grands services en rétablis­
sant promptement l'ordre dans la ville :
M. A. M. Khuro, Premier Ministre du Sind, qui
travailla jour et nuit et fit preuve de détermination
et de courage, le général Akbar Khan, comman­
dant la région du Sind, et M. Kazem Raza,
inspecteur général adjoint de la police de la ville
de Karachi. Nous sommes également reconnais­
sants envers les soldats de l'armée et de la garde
nationale musulmane de Karachi, qui ont fait leur
devoir et s'en sont acquitté très honorablement.
Enfin, les paroles nous font défaut pour remercier
suffisamment les musulmans du Sind, y compris
nos frères originaires du Makram et du Balout­
chistan, qui? en bons voisins, n'hésitèrent pas à
apporter toute l'aide possible aux victimes. Nous
sommes également reconnaissants envers les
Ministres du Gouvernement du Pakistan et ceux
du Gouvernement du Sind pour la réelle
sympathie qu'ils nous ont montrée et l'aide consi­
dérable qu'ils nous ont apportée. :,}
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They had aIready explained 'fuat the occurrence
was. due to the refugees in Karachi, and that the
people of Karachi themselves took no part in it.

That is the kind of picture on which we have
based our allegations with regard to what has
gone on and what is still going on in certain areas
of the Indian Dominion. It was said that there
were largeareas where people are at peace. 1
have not àenied that ;. in fact, 1 have admitted it.
l have confined my charge to East Punjab, to
the States bordering it, and to certain areas in
Rajputana, but the evil has been spreading, and
it can be checked only ifappropriate action is
taken.

Compare the conditions in Karachi with what
has been going on in Delhi ever since the begin­
Ding of September and continues even today. It
was sought to argue that Mahatma Gandhi was
doing, everything in bis power to bring about
peaceful conditions. That is admitted, and we are
indebted to Mr. Gandhi for aIl the efforts he îs
making. He. even announced a fastunto death in
order to bring about a reconciliation between the
communities, and we give him. full credit for it.
That which he has acbieved as the result of bis
fast is very laudable and much to be grateful for,
yet it indicates exactly what the conditions •are

.in Delhi. Whathe has secured byhis fast is the
agreement of the Govemment of Indià.andthe
Muslims and non-Muslims that the following seven
things shall be done :

1. That the annual Muslim ceremony at the
Mehrauli Shrine near Delhïbe permitted-" be
permitted ", meaning that if: was not so· fat being
permïtted. Mahatma Gandhi had to undergo a
fast to secure that for the Muslims.

2. That non-Muslims vaêate mosques, which
means that mosquesare cccupied by non-Mus­
lims, either as places of residence, refuge or
whatever it might be. The mosque is the equi­
valent of a church, chapel or cathedral for Mus­
1ims, ·according to its size.

3. That the Muslims of Delhi be assured of
their safety.

4. That Muslims who have migrated from·De1bi
be made welcome to :return-wbich is one· of the
things we· are seeking to secure for both sides.

5. That Muslims be assured of safe travelon
trains.

6. That ~ere be no social boycott of Muslims.

7. That the Muslims in Delhireceive freedorn
to choose localities in which ta live, instead of
being for~d into. certainneighbourhoods;in
other words, instead of being fOfced into ghettos.

Thoseare the .conditions to secure which
Mr. Gandhi had toundertakehis fast, andthat 1s
an e~oqyent commentary on the conditions which
still exist in Delhi, the capital o~ lndia. The re­
presentative of·. India· bas argued thatthese. are
demonstrations of mass-frenzy, and that the root

Ds avaient déjà expliqué que l'incident a été i

dû aux réfugiés qui se trouvaient à Karachi et
que la population même de Karachi n'y a pas pris
part.

Voilà le genre de tableaux sur lesquels nous
avons basé nos affirmations sur ce qui s'est passê
et ce qui se pa~se encore· dans certaines régions
du Dominion de l'Inde. On a dit qu'il y avait de
vastes zones où la population étàit paisible. Je
ne l'ai pas nié; en fait je l'ai admis. J'ai borné
mon accusation au Pendjab oriental, aux Etats qui .
l'entourent ft à certaines zones du Radjpoutana
mais le mal s'est répandu et on ne pourra l~
mm"triser que si des mesures appropriées sont
prises.

Comparez les conditions régnant à Karachi aveê
ce qui s'est passé à Delhi depuis le début de
septembre .et continue de se passer aujourd'hui.
On a. cherché à arguer du fait que le Mahatma
Gandhi a essayé tout ce qu'il pouvait poUr rétablir
la tranquillité. Nous admettons cela et nous
sommes reconnaissants à M. Gandhi pour tous les
efforts qu'il a faits. D a même annoncé qu'il jeû.
nerait jusqu'à la mort pour tâcher d'amener une
réconciliation entre les deux peuples, et nous lùi
rendons pleinement hommage ·pour cela. Le
résultat qu'il a obtenu à la suite de son jeûne
est très louable et mérite une grande reconnais·
sance.Cependant, cela· montre exactement ce
qu'est la situation à Delhi. Ce qu'il a obtenu par
son jeûne est un accord entre le Gouvernement
de l'Inde et les musulmans et les non-musulmans,
d'après lequel on doit réaliser les sept points
suivants :

1. La cérémonie musulmane annuelle au sanc­
tuaire de Mehrauli, près de Delhi, sera autorisée
- les mots «sera· autorisée» impliquent que
jusqu'à présent elle n'était pas autorisée.' Le
Mahatma Gandhi a dû entreprendre un jeûne
pour obtenir cette décision en faveur des musul­
mans.

2. Les non-musulmans évacueront les mos­
quées, ce qui implique que les mosquées sont
occupées par des non-musulmans, comme habita­
tion, comme, abri ou pour quelque raison que ce
soit. Une mosquée est l'équivalent d'une église,
d'une chapelle ou d'une cathédrale pour 1~

musulmans, selon la grandeur du bâtiment.

3. A Delhi la sécurité des musulmans sera
assurée.

4. Les musulmans qui se sont enfuis de Delhi
pourront y revenir· et il leur sera fait bon accueil,
ce qui est une des dispositions que nous chercholls
à obtenir pour les·deux parties.

5.. Les musulmans pourront voyager en chemin
de fer en toute sécurité.

6. Les musulmans ne seront pas mis à l'illdex.

7. A Delhi, les musulmans seront libres de
choisir les lieux où ils voudront habiter, au lieu
d'être forcés dé loger dans des ghettos.

Telles sont les conditions pour l'obtention des­
quelles M. Gandhi a dû entreprendre un jeûne,
et c'est là un commentaire éloquent de la situation
qui règne encore à Delhi, capitale de l'Inde. Le
représentant de l'Inde a prétendu qu'on se trouvait
en présence de manifestations de folie collective .
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cause is the philosophy of hatred that has been
preached by the Muslim League. That is too vast
a subject to go into, and the roots lie buried very
deep in history, but 1 will put this question: Why
did it become necessiU'y for the Muslim League
to advocate the partition of India and to persist
in that deman.d? And why was the Muslim League
able to obtain the overwhelming support of the
Muslims in India for that demand? In a word, it
was becausethe Hindu exc1usiveness and caste
system resulted in discrimination against the Mus­
lims in every walk of life.

. fûter all, as 1 tried to explain to the Secu..tity
CounciJ: in the course of my fust speech [228th
meeting], thé Muslims were takinfa greai risk
in ask,irig for partition. In seven out of the eleven
:p,rovinces of Inqia they were in a minority, ~d
hild a majority in only four. They were taking the
gteat risk that as mrolY as 35 million or 40 mil­
lion Muslims would be left in India, but they did
thj.s for two purposes;,first, in order to secure
reasonable conditions of equality at least for their,
majority; and, secondly, in order to ·secure some
kind of a baIance. For these reasons they insisted
on partition. '

It has been said that this represents an ideology
based upon. religion. In the first place, 1 personally
see nothing wrong if an ideology is based on reli­
gion, so long as it imposes no disabilities upon.
and entails no· discrimination against other people,
But the definition is not correct. This is not an
ideology based on religion.. Discrimination against
the Muslims in Indir. was being practised on the
basis of religion, and in order to bring about an
ameIioration of those conditions, the proposaI
wàS that provinces in which the Muslims were in
a.majority should be allowed to form one State,
and that provinces where llon-Muslims formed
the majority should be. allowed to fOrm another
State.

If the one is based on religion, theu the other!
is based on religion. But it is not based on reli,;, ."
gion because the Muslims never demanded, did'
not ask for, and did not support, any demand for
the exchanges of population, so as to make one
State entirely MusIim, and the other entirely non­
Muslim. That nrlght have smelled of being based
upon religion. However, they said that the pro­
vinces, as they. are, with a :ll1ajority of Muslims i

should be allowed to form one State, and that
those with a majority of non-Muslims should forro

'another State, with mutual protection and safe­
'guards for minorities. There is nothing non­
secular based upon religion in this matter, except
that the division throughout India has been reli­

-gious. The Muslimsformed a permanent minority
in India, and if India had formed one Government,
they would have been in the position of a perma­
nent minority with no amelioration of their condi­
ti~ , . p

The division goes so far that, from the name
cf every person in India, provided one has the
full name before him and isfamiliar with condi­
tions, onecan' determine whether that person is a
Muslim, a Sikh, a Hindu; a Christian, etc.

et que la cause profonde en est la doctrine de
haine qui a été prêchée par la Ligue musulmane.
C'est là un sujet trop vaste pour qu'il puisse être.
abordé, et il faudrait remonter à des causes pro­
fondément enfouies dans l'histoire. Mais je vais
poser une question. Pourquoi est-il devenu
nécessaire pour la Ligue musulmane de préconiser
le partage de l'Inde et de persister dans cette
demande ? Et pourquoi la Ligue musulmane
a-t-elle pu obtenir l'appui presque unanime des
musulmans de l'Inde pour cette demande ? En un
mot, c'est parce que chez les Hindous l'esprit
d'exclusion et le régime de castes ont occasionné
une discrimination contre les musulmans· à tous
les degrés de l'échelle sociale.

Après tout, ainsi que j'ai essayé de l'expliquer
au Conseil de sécurité au cours de mon premier
discours [228e séance], les musulmans risquaient
beaucoup en demandant le partage.· Dans sept des
onze provinces que comporte l'Inde, ils étaient en
minorité et ils n'étaient en majorité que dans
quatre. Ds couraient le grand risque de laisser
dans l'Inde au moins 35 ou 40 millions. de
musulmans, mais ils ont accepté cela pour deux
raisons : premièrement afin d'obtenir des condi­
tions raisonnables d'égalité au moins pOllI leur
majorité et deuxièmement afin de réaliser un cer­
tain équilibre. C'est pour cela qu'ils on.t. insisté
sur le partage.

On a dit qu'il y a là une idéologie fondée sUr
la. religion. Tout d'abord je ne vois persullllelle­
ment rien de mal à ce qu'une idéologie soit fondée
sur la religion, du moment qu'elle n'impose
aucune incapacité à autrui et qu'il n'en résulte
aucune discrimination contre personne. Mais cette
définition n'est pas exacte. Ce n'est pas une
idéologie fondée sur la religion. La discrimination
contre les musulmans de l'Inde, telle qu'elle était
pratiquée, était fondée sur la religion et, afin
d'améliorer cette siuation, on a proposé que les
provinces où les musulmans· étaient en .majorité
soient admises à former un Etat tandis que celles
où les non-musulmans étaient en majorité en. for­
meraient un autre.

Si l'une est fondée sur la. religion, l'autre l'est
aussi. Mais elle n'est pas basée sur la religion, car
les musulmans n'ont jamais demandé l'échange des
populations ni n'ont appuyé une telle demande,
qui aurait eu pour but de rendre ûnEtat entière­
ment musulman. Cela aurait pu sembler être
fondé sur la religion. Cependant, ils ont dit que
les provinces ayant actuellement une majorité de
musulmans devraient être admises .~ former lm
Etat, celles ayant une majorité de non-musulmans
devraient en former un autre, les minorités étant
protégées et sauvegardées mutuellement. TI n'y a
rien qui ne soit.pas laïque dans cette affaire, sauf
que le partage dans toute l'Inde a été d'après la
religion. Les musulmans formaient de tout temps
une minorité aux Indes et, si ce pays avait cons­
ti: é un Gouvernement, ils auraient été perpétuel-
ement en minorité sans que leur situation pût

s'améliorer.

La division est poussée si loin que, d'après le
nom de chaque personne aliX Indes, pourvu qu'Cin
sache le nom complet et qu'on soit familier avec
le pays, on peut déterminer si l'on a affaire à un
musulman, à un sikh,· un hindou; un chrétien, etc.
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The MusIims, as 1 said, were· in a permanent
minority time and again. After the elective prin­
ciple was -introduced in local self-government in
provincial legislatures, and later on in the central
Legislature, we found that, in mixed constituen­
cies where there was· a majority of non-Muslim
electors, there was no chance of a Muslim being
elected at all, unless in his politics he had identi..
fied himself with the Congress. 1 shall cite only
one instance, which is striking. Under our Univer­
sity Act of-I forget the particular year, 1902 or
1904-the University of the Punjab, a Muslim­
majority Province, had the right of electing eight
members of the Senate through registered gra­
duates. The Senate was formed differently, by
nominations, buteight members of the Senate
were to be elected from registered graduates.
Among the registered graduates, there was a
majority of non-Muslims. On no single occasion,
with one exception, when a Congress Muslim was
elected, was a single Muslim, out of these eight
members of the Senate, ever elected. That is the
type of thing which took place, The Muslims, in
desperation, had to ask for a separation whereby
in certain provinces in which they wete in a
majority they would have equal conditions; and
in other provinces in which the non-Muslims had
a majority, they could rule. It was an attempt fust
to save at least three-fifths of the Muslims from
this kind of discrimination; and seconclly, to bring
about sorne sort of balance. There was no ideo­
logy based upon religion in tbis case.

The representative of India has argued, in
relation to our allegation of planned genocide,
that it would have been foolish of the Sikhs to
have planned to draw out of "West Punjab, where
they have ricb, canal-irrigated lands, into East
Punjab; that there was no reason why they should
have mede such a plan. In the fust place, the plan
embraced those two rich districts which the
representative of India mentioned: Montgomery
and Lyallpur. However, he went on to say that the
cQlonization there had been brought about by the
Sikhs. That is not a wholly correct statement.
The majority of the population were MusIims; the
majority of the colonisto;; were Muslims; the
greater part of the agricultural area was owned
by Muslims. However, there was no doubt about
a strong Sikh element aIso being present in those
districts.

J, myself, stated in my opening remarks that
the Sikh is an excellent peasant and farn;J.er.
Undoubteclly the Sikhs contributed very largely to
the colonization of those two areas. But the repre­
sentative of fudia; himself, when appearing before
the Boundary Commission, argued that although
these two districts were overwhelmingly Muslim
in their population, they should be allotted to
East Punjab, beeausethere was a strongeiement
ofSikh peasants in those districts. Fortunately,
that argument was not· accepted, but that was part
of the plan-not bis plan, but part of the Sikh
plan to claim those areas. The plan was that, in

Les musulmans, comme je l'ai dit, ont cons.
tamment été en minorité. Après que le priIicipe
de l'élection a été mis m vigueur pour les Gou­
vernements autonome:} locaux au parlement
provincial, et plus tard au parlement central, nous
avons constaté que, dans les circonscriptions
électorales mixtes, où les électeurs étaient en
majorité musulmans, il n'y avait pas la moindre
chance qu'un musulman soit élu, à moins qu'il
n'eût adopté la doctrine du Congrès comme
profession de foi politique. Je ne citerai gu'un
seul exempl\~, lequel est d'ailleurs frappant. Selon
notre loi sur les universités de 1902 ou 1904, j'ai
oublié l'année exacte, l'Université du Pendjab,
province en majorité musulmane, avait le droit
de désigner huit membres de l'Assemblée qui
devaient être choisis par les diplômés inscrits sur
le registre universitaire. Les membres de l'Assem·
blée étaient nommés de différentes façons, maL~

huit devaient être élus par les diplômés insèrits
sur le registre universitaire. Parmi les diplômés
inscrits sur le registre universitaire, il y avait une
majorité de non-musulmans. Presque jamais ­
.sauf une fois lorsqu'un musulman du parti du
Congrès a été élu - on n'a élu de musulman pour
l'un de ces huit sièges de l'Assemblée de l'Uni·
versité. Voilà le genre des événements qui se sont
produits. Les musulmans, en désespoir de cause,
ont dû demander un partage grâce auquel, dans
certaines provincs où ils étaient en majorité,. ils
pourraient jouir de l'égalité de traitement, et dans
d'autres provinces, où les non-musulmans étaient
en majorité, ils pourraient gouverner. TI s'agissait,
tout d'abord, d'épargner aux trois cinquièmes au
moins des musulmans, cette sorte de discrimina­
tion, et· deuxièmement, de réaliser un certain
équilibre. TI n'y a pas eu là d'idéologie fondée sùr
la religion.

Le représentant de l'Inde a prétendu qu'il
aurait été fou de la part des Sikhs - étant donné
que nous pensons qu'il y a eu génocide prémédité
- de projeter de quitter le Pendjab occidental,
où ils possèdent des terres riches et irriguées par
des canaux, pour se rendre dans le Pendjab
oriental, et qu'il n'y avait pas de raisons d'avoir
conçu un tel plan. Tout d'abord, ce plan visait ces
deux riches districts que le représentant de l'Inde
a indiqués: Montgomery et Lyallpur. Cependant,
il a dit encore que la colonisation avait été réalisée
dans cette région par les Sikhs. Cela n'est pas
absolument exact. La majorité de la population
était musulmane; la majorité des colons était
constituée par des musulmans, la plus grande
partie de la région agricole était possédée par des
musulmans. Cependant, il n'y a pas de doute que.
ces districts comportaient un fort élément sikh.

J'ai moi-même déclaré dans mes remarques
préliminaires· que le Sikh est un paysan et culti'
vateur excellent. TI n'y a pas de doute que les
Sikhs ont grandement contribué à la colonisation
de ces deux régions. .Mais, le représentant de
l'Inde lui-même, lorsqu'il a comparu devant ~a
Commission des frontières, a prétendu que, quOl­
que ces deux districts comptassent un~ écrasan!e
majorité de musulmans, ils deVl'aient être rattaches
au Pendjab oriental parce qu'ils comportaient une
forte proportion de· paysans sikhs. Heureuseme~t
cet argument n'a pas .été accepté, mais cela faisait

. partie du· plan, non le plan du représentant de
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whatever area they obtained in the East Punjab,
they would try to set up a Sikh domination. 1 am
sure that even the representative of India is not
unaware of the conception, to which 1 shall later
refer, of Sikhistan, the land of the Sikhs, or lOlal­
sastan, the land of the KhaIsa, Khalsa being
another name for the Sikh group. Perhaps this
plan was that in combination with the East Pun­
jab States-KapurthaIa, Faridkot, etcetera-which
are Sikh States, and particularly under the
hegemony of Sardar Patel, they should set up a
Sikh State in aIl those areas. The plan was to
drive ûut the Muslims from those areas, and to
pull out the Sikhs from West Punjab, and put
them fuere. They sought to put this plan into
effect by means of this planned genocide.

Hère is a note wJrich states that this was a plan,
and that this plan was known by the authorities
beyond any doubt. This note contains a record
of certain incidents which were record~d by the
Prime Minister of Pakistan. Early in July ·1947
a meeting was held in the Viceroy's house to
discuss the measures necessary to' combat the
Sikh plans for creating widespread disturbances
in the Punjab. The meeting was attended by Lord
Mountbatten and others. At this meeting a Bri­
tish officer of the Punjab C.I.D. (Criminal Inves­
tigation Division) gave a detailed account of how
the Sikhs were making elaborate preparations for
creating widespread d'.sorders in the Plinjab. The
evidence on this point was plentiful and reIiable,
and there could be no doubt as to the extent of
the preparations being made by Sikh leaders,
inc1uding the Rulers of some of the Sikh States.
Lord MoUlitbatten stated. categorically that he
would use aIl the force at bis command to crush
the disturbances. As an immediate precautionary
measure, it was agreed to by aIl present-but
reluctantly by Sardar Patel-that; prominant Sikh
leaders, including Master Tara Singh, the gentle­
man of the naked sword, should be arrested. The
question was aIso discussed in the Partition Coun­
cil in about the middle of July, and Lord Mount­
batten again undertook to use aIl the forces at his
disposaI-aireraft, tanks, guns, etcetera-to crush
any such movement. He stated that he had
warned the Maharaja of Patiala and other Sikh
leaders in the cIearest terros. No arrests were
made, however. A Iittle later Lord Mountbatten
stated that he had decided not to arrest the Sikh
leaders immediately, but to arrest them a week
before the announcement of the Boundary Com­
mission's award. Later, he changed bis ground
again and said he would strike at them siIDulta~

neous with the announcement of the Boundary
Commission's award, .which he stated would be
made on 11 August 1947 at the latest.

'The award of the Boundary Commission was
not announced until after 15·August, when Lord
Mountbatten had become constitutional Gover­
nor-GeneraI, and had therefore lost aIl the
powers he had as Viceroy. Then, on 10 July, in
the Partition Council-and.1 am reading from the

l'Inde, mais celui des Sikhs, lequel visait àreven­
diquer ces deux régions. Ce plan avait pour but
d'essaver d'établir la domination des Sikhs dans
n'importe quelle région qu'ils pourraient recevoir
dans le Pendjab oriental. Je suis sûr que même
le représentant de l'Inde n'ignore pas la concep­
tion, dont je reparlerai plus tard, du Sikhistan, le
pays des Sikhs, ou du Khalsastan, le pays des
Khalsas, KaIsa étant un autre nom du groupe sikh.
Peut-être ce plan consistait-il à établir un Etat sikh
dans toutes ces régions en les combinant avec les
Etats du Pendjab oriental : Kapurthala, Faridkot,
etc., qui sont les Etats sikhs, en envisageant en
particulier de les placer sous l'autorité du Sardar
Pate!. D'après ce plan on projetait de chasser les
musulmans de ces régions et d'y faire venir les
Sikhs du Pendjab occidental pour les y installer.
On a essayé de le mettre à e~écution au moyen
de ce génocide prémédité.

Voici une note qui déclare que ce projet exis­
tait et qu'il était indubitablement connu des
autorités. Cette note comprend un compte rendu
de certains incidents qui ont été consignés par le
Premier Ministre du Pakistan. Au début de juillet
1947, une réunion s'est tenu chez le Vice-Roi
afin de discuter les mesures nécessaires pour
déjouer les plans sikhs ayant pour but de créer
des troubles sur une grande partie du Pendjab.
Lord Moun~batten et d'autres personnalités ont
assisté à cette réunion. A cette séance, un officier
britannique de la Division des recherchvs crimi­
nelles du Pendjab a fait un compte rendu détaillé
des préparatifs complexes faits par les Sikhs pour
susciter des désordres étendus dans le Pendjab.
Les preuves fournies étaient nombreuses et
cerWnes, et l'importance des préparatifs faits par
les chefs sikhs, notamment les souverains de
certains Etats sikhs, ne faisait aucun doute. Lord
Mountbatten a déclaré catégoriquement qu'il
ferait usage de toutes les forces dont il disposait
pour écraser les émeutes. A titre de mesure de
précaution immédiate, toutes les personnalité:~

présentes ont convenu -. quoique à regret en ce
qui concerne le Sardar Patel - que les grands
chefs sikhs, notamment le chef Tara Singh, le per­
sonnage au sabre nu, seraient aTI,',êtés. La question
a été également discutée au Conseil de partage,
vers le milieu de juillet, et Lord Mountbatten s'est
engagé à nouveau à faire usage de toutes les forces
dont il disposait : aviation, chars d'assaut, artille­
rie, etc., pour écraser tout mouvement de ce
genre. TI a déclaré qu'il avait averti le Maharadjah
de Patiala et d'autres chefs sikhs dans les termes
les plus clairs. Cependant, aucune arrestation il'a
été opérée. Un peu plus tard, Lord Mountb9.tten
a déclaré qu'il avait décidé de ne pas arrêter
immédiatement les chefs sikhs, mais de le faire
une semaine avant la proclamation de la décision
de la Commision des frontières. Plus tard, il a
changé à nouveau d'avis. et a dit qu'il les frappe.
rait au moment même de la proclamation de
la décision de la Commission des frontières,
qui, a-t-il dit, serait faite le 11 août 1947 au rIns
tard.

La décision de la Commission des frontières
n'a été annoncée qu'après le 15 août, alors que
Lord Mountbatten était devenu Gouverneur
général aux terme~ de la constitution et avait,
par conséquent, perdu tous les pouvoirs qu'il
possédait comme Vice-Roi. Ensuite, le 10 juillet,
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On a dit que des faits analogues se sont pro­
duits cie l'autre côté. S'il s'en est produit, nous n~

désirons pas limiter l'enquête à un seul côté. SI
des faits analogues se sont produits du côté
opposé, nous accepterons volontiers Un enquête,
ainsi que la punition des coupables. Nous accep--

minutes of the meeting of that CouncU-Lord 1 au Conseil de partage, Lord Mountbatten a fait
Mountbatten himself stated : la déclaration ci-après - je cite le procès~verbal

de la séance du Conseil :
« Son Excellence a répété qu'il avait exposé très

clairement à Son Altesse le Maharadjah de Patiala,
et à tous les autres chefs sikhs avec lesquels il
avait eu des entrevues, les conséquences de toute
tentative de résistance active. Au~un gouverne­
ment soucieux de ses responsabilités ne tolérerait
un instant une telle action, qui serait combattue
par l'usage immédiat des forces armées régulières
de l'Inde. Etant donné la supériorité en avions,
chars d'assaut, artillerie, etc., dont jouissent ces
forces armées, cette action occasionnerait inévita­
blement des pertes très sévères à celL"{ qui ne
disposeraient que de fusils et d'armes automati­
ques. TI a exprimé son espoir qu'en conséquence
les chefs sikhs pourraient contenir leurs sujets.)

lis n'ont pas pu contenir leurs sujets.

TI est surprenant que le représentant de l'Inde
ait écarté tout cela, hier, en citant une déclaration
faite par Lord Mountbatten à Londres, selon
laquelle il ne faut pas exagérer ce genre de faits
car, après tou4 il s'agit seulement de 12 millions
d'hommes, ce qui ne constitue que 3 pour 100
de la totalité de la population de. l'Inde. Douze
millions, je crois, c'est un I-'eU plus ou à peu près
autant que la totalité de la population du Canada.
Cela n'avance à rien d'écarter ces questions en
invoquant des pourcentages. La détresse de quel·
ques êtres humains doit inspirer de la sympathie
et, s'il existe un remède, il faut en encourager·
l'adoption. Dire que 12 millions de gens sont en
jeu, mais que cela ne constitue que 3 pour 100 de
la population et que, par conséquent, cela n'a pas
d'importance, c'est faire preuve d'une dureté
qu'il me répugnerait d'associer à la personne de
Lord Mountbatten.

Ce que nous avons demandé, c'est qu';1 y ait
une enquête et que les coupables soient punis.

En ce qui concerne les Etats, nous affirmons
que ceux de Bharatpur et d'Alwar, ainsi que ceux
du Pendjab oriental, leurs souverains, leurs forces
armées et leurs gouvernements, sont tous
responsables.

En ce qui concerne le Gouvernement de l'Inde,
nous n'avons pas dit, et nous ne disons pas que,
en tant que tel, il ait dirigé ou commis le crime
de génocide. Mais nous affirmons que ce crime
a été commis dans de vastes régions, c'est-à-dire
qu'il y a eu une tentative d'anéantissement d'un
groupe par un autre groupe organisé, que cette.
tentative a réussi et que la, police et l'armée du
Gouvernement de l'Inde y ont activement
participé.

Que demandons-nous? Nous demandons que,
outre la punition des coupables, on rende leurs
maisons et leurs biens à ces 10 millions de gens
environ, dans les conditions de sécurité à réaliser
avec l'aide d'observateurs neutres, et qu'on alloue
des indemnités pour les dommages subis.

.. .i:ils Excellency reiterated that he had made
abundantly clear to His Highness, the Maharaja
of Patalia, mld aIl other Sikh leaders with·wh(()m
he had interviews, the consequences of any
attempt to offer active resistance. No responsible
Government will tolerate, for a moment, such
action which would be met by the immediate
employment of the regular armed forces of India.
In view of the superiority in airplanes, tanks, artil­
lery, etcetera, that the armed forces enjoy, such
action would inevitably result in very severe losses
being inflicted on those who would be armed only
with rifles and automatic weapons. He affirmed
his hope, therefore, that the Slkb. leaders wou!.d
be able to restrain their followers...

They were not able to restrain their followers.

Tt is surprising that the Iepresentative of India
should have dismissed aIl of this yesterday by
quoting a statement made by Lord Mountbatten
in London that this kind of thing need not be
exaggerated because, after aIl, the number in­
volved was only 12 millions, which is but 3 per
cent of the total population of India. 1 understand
that 12 millions is just about equal to the total
population of the Dominion of Canada. There is
no use in dismissing these matters by using per­
centages. The misery of a few human beings
ought to excite sympathy, and if there is any
remedy to be adopted" it should excite eagerness
to adopt that remedy. To say that 12 million
people are inv()lved, but that they are only 3 peI
cent of the population and therefore do not mat­
ter, betrays a c:.illousness of. view which 1 would
be reluctant to associate with Lord Mountbatten.

What we asked for is that there should be an
investigation, and punishment of those guilty.

With regard to the States, we aIlege that both
in the Bharatpur and Alwar States and also in
the East Punjab States, their RuleIs, their roilitary
forces and their Govemments were aIl respon­
sible.

With regard to the Govemment of India,
we have not said and we do not say that
the Govemment of India, as such, directed
or carried out genocide. But we do say that
genocide was carried out in large areas, that is
to say, that there was an attempt to wipe out
one group byanother organized group; that the
attempt has been successful; and that in the
attempt the police and the military of the Gov­
emment of Inma have helped actively.

What do we ask? We ask that, in addition to
punishment, there· should be restoration of homes
and property to these 10 million people more or
less, under conditions of security to be brought
about under international observation; and that
where there are cases for compensation, it should
be made.

It·has been said that similar things have 0CCur­
red on the other· side. If they have occurred we
do not want to limit the inquiry only. to one side.
If similar thingsbave occurred on the other side,
we should welcoDie an inquiry and we should
welcome the punishment of the guilty. We should 1

-,"
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we!come, in any case-whether those things have
happened as a result of genocide or not-a
combined joint effort under international super­
vision to restore people on bath sides to their
homes and ta their properties, and arrangements
to be made for compensation. 1 believe thîs is a
fair enough request.

l no.w come ta the matter of Kashmir proper.
The representative of India, at the very begin­
ning, made a complaint that sorne of their allega­
tions had not been specifically dealt with by me
in my speech. In arder to satisfy bis legalistic
requirement, 1 now state that those allegations
that have not been specifically dealt with by me,
or may not he dealt with before the end of our
discussions, are denied by my delegation.

It was then said that somehow the Pakistan)
Government was guiIty of sorne breach of inter-\
national obligation by abandoning the United'
Kingdom's forwardpolicy with regard ta these
tribes and withdrawing its military posts from
thesetribal areas. That is a permanent policy that
has been adopted and announced by the Pakistan
Government, namely, that it wants to make

~ friends with the tribes, that it does not want to ~
continue ta distrust them. The forward policy was
appropriate to the British who, however benign
they were in their later stages~r otherwise, as
sorne people have coi:ltinued ta allege ta the end­
were an alien Govemment. Their forw~dpolicyi
meant that in ordf~r to subdue· .the frontier,'
or to keep it in. O'cder, they must continue to
penetrate through these very difficult areasamong
these .very fierce and turbulent people. Pakistan
has announced the abandonment of that policy
and has· withdrawn its. military posts. One of the
obligations that that policy involved was a huge
financialoutlay. It also involved large military
Occupations. .That financial. outlay was a burden
even to the whole of India combined. It might
have. become an insupportable burden to Paki­
~tan. But however that may l1e, Pakistan'spolicy
lS not the forward policy.Even among British
statesmen and people. who were. conversant ,vith
the frontier, 'there always was a difference
concerning whether the forward policy shouldbe
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terons volontiers en tout cas - que ces faits
constituent ou. non un crime de génocide - un
effort commun des deux parties sous le contrôle
international pour rendre aux habitants des deux
pays 1 .rs maisons et leurs biens et convenir de
dispositions pour les indemniser. Je pense que
c'est là ll..l1e demande assez équitable.

J'en arrive maintenant à la question du Cache­
mire proprement dit. Le représentant de l'Inde,
dès le début, s'est plaint que je n'aie pas répondu
d'une façon précise, dans mon discours, à cer­
taines de mes affirmations. Afin de satisfaire à ses
exigences juridiques, je déclare à présent que
l'exactitude des affirmations auxquelles je n'ai pas
répondu d'une façon précise ou qui ne seront pas
traitees au ~ours de nos discussions, est niée par
ma délégation.

With regard to balles, the representative of En ce qui concerne les bases d'opérations, le
fudia. cited one instance, and drew attention ta i rèprésentant de l'Inde a cité un exemple et a
the report of a military officer to the Chief Secre-· attiré l'attention du Conseil sur le rapport d'un
tary to the Govemment of the North West Fron- officier attaché au Premier Secrétaire du Gouver­
tier Province, which stated that when he was in nement de la Province frontière du nord-ouest
Parachinar he bad observed Of had information qui a dit que, alors qu'il était à Parachimar, il a
that in Parachinar people had collected together observé lui-même, ou on lui a dit, que des gens
in order to go and fight in Kashmir. If members s'étaient rassemblés à Parachimar afin d'aller au
of the Security Council will be ple'ased t9 look Cachemire pour y combattre.· Si les membres du
at their maps, they will see that Parachinar i5 Conseil de sécurité veuIent bien jeter un coup
up at the end of the Kurram Valley. It is inside; , d'œil sur leurs c<.!rtes, ils verront que Paracb,imar
and far inside, the tribal area outside the North se trouve à l'extrémité supérieure de la vallée de
West Prontier Province. It was alleged that it was Kurram. TI est à l'intérieur, et loin à l'intérieur, de
in the North West Frontier ProVince. It is aImOStl la zone de,s tribus située en dehors de la Province

.~ 011 the boroer.ofAfghanistan. It is tribal territory; frontière du nord-ouest. On a prétendu qu'il était
it is the home of the. tribes. It cannot be said dans la Province frontière du nord-ouest. Or, il est
that Pakistan has established a base there. If presque à la frontière de l'Mghanistan. C'est un
someone has Been people collecting there with the territoire de tribus ; .là, les tribus sont chez .elles.
abject of going ta fight in Kasè..mir, they are colq

• On ne peut pas dire que le Pakistan ait établi une
lecting in· or about their homes. In fuis regard,. base en cet endroit. Si quelqu'un a vu des gens
that is the only instance cited. s'y rassembler dans le but d'aller combattre au

Cachemire, ils se rassemblent chez eux ou près de
chez eux. Sur ce sujet, c'est le seul ex.emple cité.

On a dit que, d'une manière ou d'une autre, le
Gouvernement du Pakistan était coupable d'un
certain manquement à ses obligationsintematio­
nales lorsqu'il abançlonne la politique britannique
de pénétration pratiquée à.l'égard de .ces. tribus
et lorsqu'il retire ses postes militaires de ces ZOnes
de tribus. C'est une politique permanente qui a
été adoptée et annoncée par le Gouvernement du
Pakistan, à savoir qu'il désire avoir des relations
amicales avec les tribus, qu'il ne :veut pas cOllti­
miêr à se défier d'elles. La politique de pénétration
convenait aux Britanniques qui, aussi bienveilIm,tts
qu'ils se scient montrés dans les dernières périodes
de leur occupation - si du moins oIipensequ'il
en était ainsi, car certains ont continué à préten­
dre le contraire jusqu'à la fu1 - recevaient leur
autorité d'un. Gouvernement étranger. Leur
politiqu~· de pénétration consistait,afln .• de .son­
mettre les t;ribus de la frf'ntière,ou d'y Illaintenir
l'ordre, à continuer à pénetrerqalls ces zones très
dangereuses, parmi ces populations farouches .et
turbulentes. Le· Pakistan a annoncé l'abandon de
cette politique et.il a retiré. ses postes .militaires.
Une des obligations que. cette politiquein;lpliquait
était un effort financier considérable. Elle impli­
quait également une vaste occupation· militaire.
Cet effort financier· constituait une .lourde charge,
même pour la totalité des Indes. Elle aurait pu
devenir .une charge insupportable pour le Pakistan;
mais, quoiqu'il en soit, la politique du Pakistan



1 shall now draw attention, with regard to all
these matters, to a report of 19 Januaryfrom
Lahore, .by Margaret. Parton, .sp~ia1 correspon-:
dent of the ,New.York .Herald. Tribune, published
in. this monûng's issue of that newspaper.The
article readsas follows:

The representative of India complained that
one of the results of that policy is that the tribes­
men are able to move about more freely with
their arms. That is so, but the policy was not
adopted for the purpose of allowing the tribesmen
to go and fight in Kashmir. The whole polièy. was
not adopted with reference to an incident which
had-not yet occurred. This policy was decided
upon on 8 October, and the other side states that
the very first raid, according to them, occurred
On 22 OctoOOr. However, those are the facts with
regard to the forward policy.
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.. IfPakistan is giving direêt assistance to Azad
(Free) fighting forces in Kashmir, evidence is not
on the surface to he Seen by prying foreigners;
Belowthe surface is a mass of rumeurs, contra­
dictions and paradoxes which, during a just com­
pleted .week a10ng the border of Pakistan and
Kashmir, .have alternately baffied· and amused
groups of press correspondents who followed Lia­
quat AliKban, Prime Minister of Pakistan, on
his tour of the ·frontier. During the entire
600 mile trip wesaw no raiders' bases, no training
centers, no stocks of arins and atmunition and
nQPakistan ··soldiersslippingoff ·to •the KashnUr
front.· Bventhose· reliable -.neutral observers'-··
BritiSh officersand civilians--deniedthe eXis'"

The representative of India quoted from an
article by· Douglas Brown, correspondent of the
Daily Telegraph, to the. following effect: .. The
tribal' leaders. daim tliat there were 60,000. Pa-:
thans .always figb.ting in Kashmir, each man
fighting. for abouta month at a time. They said
they used all toutes, but owing to Pakistan's lack
of co-operation, found it best to cross the .State
of Swat. The casua1ties so far have been about
400 dead and 250 weunded. .. The Statè of Swat,
if againthe members of the. Security Council
will- tutn .to their maps, is aImost on the border
of Kasbmir itself and is CODtigqouS with the whole
of the. rest of the tribal area. That isone answer
to the allegations of the representative of India
thatnothûig was being done by· the Pakistan
Govemment to stop thesetri6es, namely, the com­
plaint of the tribes themselvesthat, owing to the
lack ofco-operationof the· Pakistan· GovemmeIlt,
theyfound it best to cross the frontier from Swat
roto Kashmir,

contin:ued or w~etber a policy should be adopted 1 n'est pas la politique de pénétration. Même p~:i
of trying to brmg about soIIie sort of an under- . les hommes d'Etat et les autres personnalites
standing and co-operation with the tribes so tha t 1britanniques qui connaissent bien le problème de
they might themselves be left to maintain their la frontière, il y a toujours eu des divergences de
own security. There has a1ways been this contro- vues au sujet de savoir si 1<1 pnlitique de pénétra.
versy. In any case, Pakistan has adopted the latter tion devait être poursuivie ou si on devait
policy, and there is notbing wrong in that. adopter une politique visant à Rmener une cer-

taine entente et coopération avec les tribus, de
manière qu'elles puissent assurer elles-mêmes leur
propre sécurité. Cette controverse a toujours
existé. En tout cas, le Pakistan a adopté cette
dernière politique et il n'y a pas de mal à cela.

Le représentant de l'Inde s'est plaint qu'un des
résultàts de cette politique est que les membres
des tribus peuvent aller et venir plus librement
avec leurs armes. Cela est vrai, mais cette poli­
tique n'a pas été adoptée dans le but de permettre
aux membres des tribus d'aller combattre au
Cachemire. Toute cette politique n'a pas été
adoptée à propos d'un incident qui ne s'était pas
encore produit. L'adoption de cette politique a été
décidée le 8 octobre, et l'autre partie déclare que,
selon elle,·la toute première incursion a eu lieu le
22 octobre. En tout Cl:lS, tels sont les faits concer­
nant la politique de· pénetration.

Le leprésentant de l'Inde a c;:ité un passage d'un
article de Douglas Brown, correspondant du Daily
Telegraph, que voici : « Les chefs des tribus
prétendent que. 60.000 d'entre .eux luttaient cons­
tamment au Cachemire, chaque guerrier combat­
tant pendant une période d'un m()is environ
chaque fois. Ds disent qu'ils empruntent toutes les
routes, mais, .à cause du manque de coopération
de· la part du Palcistan, ils ont trouvé. préférable
de traverser.l'Etat de Swat.. Leurs pertes. se sont
élevées jusqu'à présent à environ 400 morts et
250 blessés.» Si les membres du Conseil de
sécurité veulent bien regarder de nouveau leur
carte, ils verront que l'Etat de Swat est presque
à la frontière du Cachemire même et contigu à
tout le reste de la zone des tribus. Voilà une
·réponse aux allégations du représentant de l'Inde
selon laquelle le Gouvernement du Pakistan n'a
rien fait pour arrêter ces tribus, à savoir. la plainte
de ces qibus eUes-mêmes de ne pas avoir bénéficié
de la coopération du Gouvemementdu Pakistah,
ce qui leur a fait préférer· de traverser la frontière
entre le Swat et le Cachemire.

Je vais maintenant attirer l'attention du Conseil,
au sujet de toutes ces questions; sur.un reportage
de Margaret Parton, correspondante spécia1edu
New York Hnrald Tribune, daté du 19 janvier,de
Lahore, publié dans le numéro de ce matin. Voici
le texte de cet article :

«Si le Pakistan aide directement les forces
èombattantes azad (Iibres)au . Cachemire,les
preuves n'apparaissent pas aux yeux des étrangers
curieux.. On fait circuler non ouvertement toutes
sortes de bruits côntradictcires et paradoxa"!1XqtÛ;
dotant la· semaine qu'ils viennent :de passer d~s
la· région frontière du· Pakistan et du Cachemrre,
ont alternativement dérouté et amusé les· groupes
de correspondà.ntsde presse qui ont accompagné
Liaquat Ali Khan, Premier 'Ministre du Pakistan,
dans sa visite de la région frontière. Durant toute
cette tournée de 950 ldlomètres environ, noUS
n'avons·. pas vU de base· de pillards, pas de cenn:e
d'entraînement, pas de stocks d'armes et de munt­
tions et pas de soldats du Pakistan s'infiltrant vers
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tence of any of those material aid which India
charges Pakistan is giving the fighters in Kashmir.

.. There were instead incongruities and sights
which verged on the melodramatic. There were
strange characters who emerged at twilight with
fantastic stories of intrigue, and even stranger
ones who àppeared at midnight to contradict the
stories of the first group. Both sides appeared to
be lying-but together they created an atmo­
phere of mingIed mystery and tension which, it
âppears, only an equitable decision by the United
Nations can relax. Il

This correspondent, Margaret Parton, thèn goes
on to give different facets of the picture, saying
there were tribesmen moving about, and describ­
ing other happenings, but saying nothing about
the organizations, the State help and the bases
and trainingthat the other side has alleged were
involved. That should· be a good enough answer
to the arguments on that point' by the represen­
tative of India. That is at least evidence of a
state of affairs which existed after bath he ·and
Ileft India and Pakistan respectively.

Another factor from which the representative
of India wanted to draw a conclusion was the
statement in which he admitted that 60,000 or
70,000 Poonchis were ex-soldiers but said that
officers must have been imported' for them. When
one says .. ex-soldiers ", one does not mean only
foot soldiers or cavalrymen. These 60,000to
70,000 people foughton the side of the United
Nations during the war. ManY of them obviously
WQuld be officers. There is really nothing much
ta that point.

But it was asked how, when one denies that
, there were training centres for the tribesand

when one asserts the tribes required no training
in the use of arms, does one account. for the fact
that the people who are fighting in Kashmir can
handIe mortats; how is it they can handle 3.17
howitzers, a type of weapon that we have no

, knowledge is being used in Kashmir; how is it
~at they Can use hand-grenades, 'wireless sets,
ëtcetera, unIess they have been trained? But the
representative of In:dia forgetsthat, according to
neutral observers-I quoted a report in the New
York Times, from its special correspondent-as
manr as 65 per cent of the people who arefight­
ing in Kashmir, which is a modest èstimate, are
themselves the people of Kasbmir. Among thelil
are' the Poonchis and ex-soldiers and ex-officers.
It is not necessary to give an account of how such
tribesmen as there are, if any, have receivedtheir
training in the use of these military weapons and
apparatus, if any particular training is necessary
for people of that kind.

It is' amusing in this connexion to refer to just
one sentence of a paragraph in The Times of Lon­
don of 13 January which was read by the repre-

le front du Cachemire. Même ces observateurs.
neutres, dignes de confiance -- officiers et civils
britanniques - ont nié l'existence de cette aide
matérielle que l'Inde accuse le Pakis1An d'avoir
accordé aux combattants du Cachemire.

c: TI Y avait, par contre, des situations absurdes
et des spectacles navrants qui frisaient la tragédie.n Y avait d'étranges personnalités qui surgissaient
au crépuscule contant de fantastiques histoires
d'intrigues, et d'autres, encore plus étrangés, qui
apparaissaient à minuit pour cOlltredire les his­
toires du premier groupe. Les deux parties
paraissaient mentir - mais, ensemble, ils créaient
une atmosphère mêlée de mystère et de tension
que seule, semble-t-il, une équitable décision de
l'Organisation des Nations Unies peut détendre. j.

Cette correspondante, Margaret Parton, conti­
nul" ensuite à exposer les divers aspects du tableau.
TI Y a des membres des tribus, dit-elle, qui se
déplacent de côté et d'autre, et elle décrit les
autres événements, mais ne dit rien des organisa­
tions, de raide officielle ni des basef et des
centres d'entraînement que la partie adverse a
prétendu exister. Cela doit être une réponse suffi:'
sante aux arguments invoqués sur ce point par le
représentant de l'ID.de. C'est là au moins la preuve
de l'état de choses existant après que lui et moi
avons quitté l'Inde et le PakistaIl respectivement

Un autre élément dont le représentant de l'Inde
désirait tirer une conclusion est la déclaration
dans laquell~ il a admis que· 60.000 à 70.000
habitants de Poonch étaient d'anciens soldats,.
maiS il a dit qu'on avait dû faire venir des offi­
ciers, pour les commander. Lorsqu'on parle
d' ({ anciens soldats ~, on n'entend pas seulement
de simples soldats d'infanterie ou de simples
cavaliers. Ces 60.000 à 70.000 soldats ont com;'
battu du· côté des Nations Unies pendant la
guerre. Nombre d'entre eux ont été évidemment
officiers. Cet argument n'a vraimentpasgrand~
valeur.

Mais, a-t-on demandé, lorsqu'on nie qu'il y
avait des centres d'entraînement pour les tribus,
lorsqu'on affirme. que les tribus n'avaient ,pa~
besoin d'instruction pour se servir de leurs armes,
comment explique-t-on le fait que ces gens qui
combattent au Cachemire peuvent manier des
mortiers, comment se fait-il qu'ils peuvent seser­
vir .des obusiers de 82 mm., un genre d'armes
qw,à notre connaissance, n'est pas employé au
Cachemire, comment se fait-il qu'ils. peuvent se

. servir de grenades à main, d'appareils de radio~
etc., s'ils n'ont pas été instruits?,'Le représentant
de l'Inde. oublie que, selon des observateurs
neutrës - je cite un reportage du correspondant
spécial du New York TUnes -' 65 pour 100 au
moins des gens qui combattent au Cachemire -­
et c'est là une évaluation modérée - font partie
de la population même du Cachemire. Parmi eux
il y a les gens de Poonch, d'anciens, soldats- et
d'anciens officiers. TI n'est pas nécessaire d'explh
quer conunent ces membres des tribus, s'il y en
a, ont été instruits dans l'usage de ces armes et
équipeIIlents militaires, si toutefois ,. une instruc­
tion' particulière est nécessaire pour des gens de
cette sorte.

TI est, amusant, à ce sujet, de se référer à une
phrase du paragraphe du Times de Londres du
13 janvier,' qui a. été lue par le 'représentant de
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l'Inde, à l'exception justement dt:: cette phrase qui
se trouve au milieu du paragraphe. Je n'attribue
pas le fait que cette phrase n'a pas été lue à une
intention préméditée. C'est peut-être parce qu'elle
n'avait pas de rapport avec le contexte qu'il citait.
La voici: «Selon des .sources sûres les forces
azad se composent pour environ 60 pour 100 de
gens du Poonch, c'est-à-dire pour 60 pour 100
de gens du Poonch .qui sont d'anciens soldats
entraînés... pour 35 pour 100 de Pathans des
tribus et peut-être pour 5 pour 100 de musulmans
du Pendjab~. Le but visé par le discours du
représentant de l'Inde était de faire croire que ces
combats du Cachemire sont conduits par les
membres des tribus, ce qui n'est pas du tout exact.
même d'après les comptes rendus sur lesquels se
fonde le représentant de l'Inde.

Cette affirmation trouve sa réponse dans une
proposition assez naïve qu'a faite le représentant
de l'Inde lui-même. Dans une partie de sa plai­
doirie il a dit: « Si le Gouvernement du Pakistan
ne peut pas arrêter toute cette infiltration de
membres des tribus du Pakistan dans l'Inde, alors,
nous, Gouvernement de ,l'Inde, sommes prêts à
l'arrêter au nom du Gouvernement du Pakistan
pou.r l'~der à remplir ses obligations internati~

nales }). Nous examinerons plus tard la nature de
l'obligation internationale. Mais comment se fait-il
que, si le Gouvernement de l'Inde trouve si diffi­
cile d'expulser du Cachemire les membres des
tribus où ils ne ~ont que quelques milliers, il soit
si impatient, désireux et anxieux d'entreprendre
une guerre à grande échelle contre les tribus,sur
la frontière, dans l'espoir que, là, il pourra les
soumettre complètement? Quelle est l'explication
de ce fait? D ne peut maîtriser quelques milliers
de membres de tribus, dans le Cachemire, ~t il
formule à ce sujet une plainte internationale, de
première importance. Cependant il est prêt à
prendre toute la zone des tribus, à la frontière.
Je n'ai pas pu trouver d'explication à cela. La
vérité est que, quoique peut-être les tribus appor­
tent certains renforts aux forces azad et du
Cachemire, le parti principal qu'il combat au ,1
Cachemire est constitué par la population du pays.
Si la population n'appuie pas ce mouvement, si
elle est tout entière avec Cheik Mohammed
Abdullah, ainsi qu'on l'a prétendu hier, alors
comment l)e fait-il que ces régions: Gilgit, les
.alentours de Muzaffarabad, Uri, Mirpur et Riasi,
toute la région autour de la vallée même, jusqu'à
Jammu, soient en possession des forces du Cache­
mireazad ? Le peuple est avec eux. On dit que
le peuple ne veut pas de ces envahisseurs qui
s'appuient sur le Pakistan pour, obtenir la réunion
du Cachemire par la force. Cependant, cette
situation dure depuis des mois et plus de la
moitié (,ie1a partie habitée de l'Etat de Cac:b.e­
mire est entre les mains des forces du Cachemire
azad.

La véritable situation est que c'est un mouve­
ment du peuple du Cachemire pour se libérer de
la tyrannie des Dogras, amené par les massacres
dont je vais maintenant parler, et dont l'existence
a été entièrement et catégoriquement niée par le
représentant de l'Inde, avant le 22 octobre, date
de la première incursion. Ce mouvement s'étend.
Dèst certain que cette lutte éveille 'une certaine
sympathie parmi les tribus, et je n'ai pas nié le
fait qu'il en est, de même dans tout le Pakistan.

sentative of India, with the exception of that
one particular sentence in the middle of it. 1 do
not attribute the fact that this, sentence was not
read ta any ulterior purpose. It was not, perhaps,
pertinent ta the context he was citing. It reads :
.. According ta a tellable estimate, the Azad
forces consist of about 60 per cent Poonchis.....
-that is 60 per cent of the people of Poonch
who were trained ex-soldiers-"... 35 per cent
Pathan tribesmen, and possibly 5 per cent Punjabi
Muslims. •• What was sought tobe made out in
the whole of the addressby the representative of
India was ·that all this fighting in Kashmir is being
done by the tribesmen, which is not ~t all a cor­
rectpicture, even according ta the account upon
which the representative of India, relies.

This contention isanswered by a naïve sug­
gestion whichthe representativeof India bimself
made. In one part of bis case he said that if the
.Pakistan Government could not stop completely
the infiltration of tribesmen through Pakistan intn
Kashmir, then .the Government of India was
prepared ta stcp them for the Pakistan Govern­
ment ta help .it fuHill its international obligation.
We shall come ta t4e natpre of "the international
obligatit:>n later" But how is it that, ·if the Govern·
ment of fuma finds it so difficult to expel the
tribesmen from Kashmir, where there are only a
few thousandofthem, it is sa anxious and sa
ready, willing and eagerto undertake a full-scale
war with the tribesmen on the froJ;ltier in the.
hope thatthere it will beable tosubdue the fron­
tier tribesmen altogether? What is the explanation
for that ? It cannat control a few thousand tribes­
men in Kashmir, and it makes afirst-c1ass inter­
national complaint inthat regard; but it is
prepared to take over at the frontier the whole of
the tribal area. It have not been able ta find an
explanation for that. The truth of the matter is
that, although the tribesmen do fumish a certain
amount of stiffening, possibly, to the Azad and
·Kashmir forces, ,the main party which isbeing
fought against in Kashmir is the people of Kash­
mir. If the people were not behind this movement,
if ~e peopl~ w~re all with Sheikh Mohammad
Abdullah, as was all~ged yesterday, then how is
it that these areas-Gilgit, the vicinity of Muzaf­
farabad, Uri, Mirpur and Riasi, aIl around ,the
Valley itself right up ta Jammu-are in the,pos~
session of the A zad Kalihmir forces? The people
are with them. It is said that the people do not
want these incursionists from outside, egged on
byPakistan in order to force an accession upon
Kashmir. Yet this situation has gone on for
D10nths at a time and, of, the inhabited portions
of the Kashmir State, more than half aIe in the
possession of the Azad Kashmir forces:

Tbereal picture istha,t it is a movement of
the people in Kashmir to get tid of Dogra tyranny
brought about" bythe massacres to which Isban
presently come, the existence of which has been
altogether and categorically denied by the repre­
sentative of India before 22 October when the
:tirst raid took place. This movement is spread­
ing. No doubt, there is sympathy among the
tribesmen, and 1 have notdenied the fact that
there' is sympathy aIl' through Pakistan with the
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.struggle. But the spearhead of tbe movement, the
people upon whom the brunt of it has fallen and
who are mainly fighting, are the people of
Kashmir themselves. If that were not so, the
movement would have collapsed within three days.
How is it continuing?

With regard to the position of' the National
Conference and Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah, it
is said he is the beloved leader of t.lJ.e Kashmiris.
whose feet they aIl desire to kiss, who brought
about this accession in co-operation with the
Maharaja. As the Security Council is aware, there
are two political associations in Kashmir: the
National Conference, the President of which is
Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah, and the Muslim
Conference. The National Conference came into
existence, 1 am informed, about 1938. The Mus­
lim Conference had already been in existence. A~
a matter of fact, 1 am told that Sheikh Moham­
mad Abdullah's own election as a member of the
Assembly in the 1935 elections was secured on
the Muslim Conference ticket. The present posi­
tion is that the leaders of the Muslim Conference
are in gaol, some of them put there by the Maha­
raja, the others put there since under the direc- .
tians of Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah, or at least
since Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah became head
of the Emergency Administration, of which the
Prime Minister is Mr. Mahajan.

It was stated yesterday-as a matter of facto
it was set out in one of these pamphlets that have
been distributed on the invasion of Kashmir­
that Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah's popularity
may be judged from this: that during the last
elections, which were boycotted by the National
Conference because Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah
was in gaol, out of 607,41Ç- voters, onIy 200,000,
as stated by the representative of India, and only
182,800, as stated in this pamphlet, went to the
poils.

In the fust place, the elections were held in
January of last year, and in January conditions.
over the greater part of'Kashmir were very much
worse than the conditions that the members of
the Security Council have seen here; and add
ta it that it is a high, hilly country and difficult
t~ move about in. Therefore, in the very nature
of things, very few people could have gone
ta the poIls in Kashmir itself. In Jammu it
would have been different. Actually, in two con­
stituencies with regard to which 1 have been able
to gather faèts, more than 10,000 polled their
votes in one constituency, and more than 6,000
in another. Out of twenty-one Muslim members,
fourteen elected were Muslim Conference people,
though 1 understand even their leaders were in
?aol, aIld in' the remaining seven constituencies
mdependents wereelected. But it so happened
that, on tec~ical grounds, the nomination paper::;
of aIl the Muslim Conference candidates were
rejected. That is the situation at this stage in so
far as the position with regard to the National
Conference and Sheikh Abdullah is concemed,
though 1 shaIl have to revert to il: again when 1
Come to the question of accession.

1 It has been asked: ce Why this trouble in
Kashmir?" It is then said: ce This trouble in

. Kashmir is due to the fact that the Muslim
,League, having advocated an ideology based upon

Mais la tête du mouvement, le peuple qui sup­
porte le plus fort de la lutte et qui constitue la
masse des combattants, c'est le peuple même du
Cachemire. S'il n'en était pas ainsi, le mouvement
se serait effondré en trois jours. Comment se
fait-il qu'il continue?

En ce qui concerne la position de la Confé­
rence nationale et du cheik Mohammad Abdullah,
on dit qu'il est le chef bien-aimé des habitants du
Cachemire qui désirent tous lui baiser les pieds;
c'est lui, dit-on, qui a amené la réunion en coopé­
ration avec le Maharadjah? Ainsi que le Conseil
de sécurité le sait, il y a deux associations poli­
tiques au Cachemire: la Conférence nationale,
dont le président est le cheik Mohammad Abdul­
lah, et la Conférence musulmane. La Conférence
nationale a été créée, à ce que j'ai appris,
vers 1938. La Conférence musulmane existait
déjà à cette époque. Naturellement, le cheik
Mohammad Abdullah a été élu à l'Assembléf'.
en 1935, sur la liste de la Conférence musulmane.
La s~tuation actuelle est que les chefs de la Con­
férence musulmane sont en prison, certains sur
l'ordre du Maharadjah, les autres d'après les
directives du cheik Mohammad Abdullah, depuis
lors ou tout au moins depuis qu'il est devenu
chef du Gouvernement extraordinaire dont le
Premier Ministre est M. Mahajan.

On a dit hier - en fait,. d'ailleurs, on l'a
exposé dt~ns une de ces brochures sur l'invasion
du Cachemire qui ont été distribuées - que la
popularité du cheik Mohammad Abdullah peut
être jugée d'après le fait suivant: aux dernières
élections, que la Conférence. nationale a boycot­
tées parce que le cheik Moharnmad Abdullah
était en prison, sur 607.419 votants, 200~OOO seu­
lemr.nt, selon le représentant de l'Inde, et 182.800
seulement, selon ces brochures, sont allés aux
urnes. .

Tout d'abord, les élections ont eu lieu en jan­
vier de l'année dernière, et en janvier la situation
dans la plus grande partie du Cachemire était bien
pire que celle qui vient d'être exposée aux mem­
bres du Conseil de sécurité; ajoutez à cela que
c'est un pays élevé, accidenté et où il est difficile
de se déplacer. En conséquence, il est de la
nature des choses que peu de gens aient pu aller
aux urnes dans le Cachemire même. Au Jammu,
cela aurait été différent. En fait, pour deux cir­
conscriptions au sujet desquelles j'ai pu obteÎ1ir
des renseignements, plus de 10.000 électeurs sont
allés aux urnes dans l'une, et plus'de 6.000 dâns
l'autre. Sur vingt et un membres. musulmans, qua­
torze élus appartenaient à la Conférence musul­
mane, quoique. leurs chefs. fussent en prison;
dans les sept autres circonscriptions, 011 a élu des
indépendants. Mais il est arrivé. que, pour des
raisons techniques, les élections de tous les can­
didats de ta Conférence musulmane ont été atlllu­
lées. Telle est la situation, jusqu'ici, pour ce qui
est de la position de la. Conférence nationale et
du cheik Mohammad Abdullah. J'aurai d'ailleurs
à y revenir lorsque j'aborderai la .question de la
réunion. .

On a demandé: «Pourquoiy a:-t-il des troubles
au Cachemire?» On a répondu:« Ces troubles
au Cachemire sont dus au fait que la Ligue
musulmane, ayant prôné une idéologie fondée sur
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la religion et un Etat fondé également sur la reli­
gion, ne peut tolérer une situation telle qu'un
Etat dont la majorité des habitants sont musul­
mans soit réuni à l'Inde, et on insiste pour que,
par la coercition ou d'autres moyens, équitable­
ment ou non, l'Etat s'unisse au Pakistan, quoique
les habitants désirent s'unir à l'Inde ~.

Lorsque le Junagadh, un Etat du Kathiawar,
s'est réuni au Pakistan, - et il faut se rappeler
que le Junagadh avait une majorit.é de non-musul­
mans dans !3a population quoique le Prince fût
musulman - le Gouvernement de l'Inde a pro­
testé auprès du Gouvernement du Pakistan, disant
qu'il n'aurait pas dft accepter cette union, et l'un
des principaux motifs de cette. protestation était
que la majorité de la population du Junagadh
était hindoue. En conséquence, le Pakistan n'aurait
pas dft accepter la réunion. Qui fondait sa pro­
testation sur le principe que la majorité d'un
groupe défini par ia religion était d'un côté ou
d'un autre?

.on a dit alors: «Regardez à quel point nous
sommes innocents dans cette affaire. Voici un
rapport de nos chefs d'état-major,disant que per­
sonne n'a étudié la question de l'envoi de troupes
au Cachemire antérieurement au 24 octobre, deux
jours après que la première incursion a eu lieu »,
Nous ne nions pas ce fait, il est exact. Nous accep­
tons la déclaration de la partie adverse. Nous
n'avons pas dit que des mouvements de troupes
avaient été projetés de tout temps. Nous avons dit
qu'il y avait eu de:s intrigues au sujet de la réu­
nion. Voici quelques faits à ce sujet:

Le cheik Mohammad Abdullah a été convaincu
de sédition au cours de l'année 1946, ou peut-être
1945 -. j'ai oublié la date donnée par le représen.
tant de l'Inde - et il a été condam.né à neuf ans
de prison. TI était en prison. J'ai déjà mentionné
antérieurement le fait que je n'insinue rien contre
le cheik Mohammad Abdullah. Connaissant les
conditions régnant au Cachemire, je sais qu'il a
été condamné à cause de ses sentiments politiques.
TI n'y a pas eu de sédition du tout. Nous sommes ,
très heureux qu'il ait été libéré. Je crois qu'il est .
sorti de prison le 26 septembre, quoique la date
n'ait pas d'importance. Néanmoins, il a certaine­
ment été libéré en septembre. Pourquoi? Parce
que le Maharadjah désirait se servir de lui comme
émissaire entre lui-même et le Premier Ministre de 51,)
l'Inde dont le cheik Mohammad Abdullah avait
été l'ami intime et le collaborateur, afin d'établir
ou de régler les conditions de l'union. Aucun autre
motif n'a été donné, et nous disons que c'est là
la raison de sa libération.

L'intimité de l'amitié entre le cheik Mohammad
Abdullah et le Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru, Premier
Ministre de l'Inde,.et de leurs relations politiques,
peut être jugé par ce qui suit. Quand le cneik

,Mohammad Abdullah a été poursuivi pour sédi­
tion, - ou tout autre chef d'accusation - le
Pandit Jawahar!al Nehru, qui. avait déjà été
nommé membre du Gouvernement de l'Inde et qui
n'avait jamais pratiqué la' profession d'avocat,
quoiqu'il en ait lës qualifications, a couru au
Cachemire parce qu'il désirait défendre le cheik
Mohammad Abdullah, ce qui est un sentimer+
très louable. Cependant, dans ces circonstances,
c'était un acte accompli sous le coup de l'émotion,
étant donné les obligations que le· Pandit Jawa·
harlal Nehru avait déjà assumées. TI fut expulsé

religion and aState based upon religion, cannot
tolerate a situation in which aState wherein a
majority of the people are Muslims s'hould accede
to India, and it insists that, whether by coercion
or other means,fair or fOlÙ, the State should g<>
to Pakistan, though the people want to accede to
India...

When Junagadh, a State in Kathiawar, acceded
to Pakistan-and bè it remembered that Junagadh
had a majority of non-Muslims in its population,
although the Ruler was Muslim-the Govem­
ment of India protested to the Govemment of
Pakistan that it should not· haw accepted this
accession, and oae of the chief grounds for this
protest was that· the majority of the people of
Junagadh were Hindus. Therefore, Pakistan
should not have accepted. the accession. Who.
was basing his claim on the ideology of a majority
of the religious community being on one side or
the other?

Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah was convicted of
sedition sometime in 1946, or it possibly may
have been 1945-."1 forget the date cited by. the
representative of India-and sentenced to nine
years' rigorous imprisonment. He was in gaol. 1
have aIready said that 1 make no implication
against Sheikh Mohammad Abdùllah. Knowing
the conditions in Kashmir, 1 know that he was.
sentenced on account of ms patriotic feelings.
There was no sedition about it at all. We are very
'glad that he was released. Ibelieve he was re­
leased on 26 September, although the date does
not marter. Nevertheless, he was certainly released
in September. Why? Because the Maharaja
wanted to use him as an emissary between him­
self and the Prime Minister of India, whose close
friend and associate he had been, in order to
bring about or sett1e the terms of accession. No
other reason has been given, and we say tbat that
was the reason.

It was then said, .. Look how innocent we are
in this matter. Here is a report by our chiefs of
'staff, saying that nobody took into consideration
the question of military m.ovement into Kashmir
,earlier than 24 October, two days after the first
:raid had taken place". That is not denied;
that is so. We accept the statement. We have not
said that military movement had been planned
all through. We have said intrigues had been
going on with regard to the accession. 1 shall cite
some facts with regard to it.

The c10seness of the frlendship and the political
relationship between Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah
and Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru, the Prime Minister
of India, may be judged.from the fact that when
Sheikh Mohammad A1:>dullah was being tried for
'sedition-or whatever the charge was-Pandit
.Jawaharlal Nehru, who had then aIready been
nominated a member of the Government of India,
and who hasnever practised as a lawyer though
he is a. qualified lawyer, rushed' up to Kashmir
because hë wanted' to defend' Sheikh Mohammad
Abdullah-which W li. very laudable sentiment.
However,· under the circumstances, it was a
sOlnewhat emotional gesture, having regard to the
responsibility which Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru
a1readyhad undertaken. He was expelledby the
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Maharaja and put out of the State. That incident
shows how close an interest Pandit Jawaharlal
Nehru has always taken in Sheikh Mohammad
Abdullah.

It· is difficult to believe that nothing was going
on. Some days after Sheikh Mohammad Abdul­
Iah'srelease, he proceeded to Delhi and was
obviously in touch with the Govemment of
fudia. 1 s:{1all come to some of his statements
later, but on 25 October The Times of London,
among other things, had this to say:

.~ But the Union of India has been taking a
lively interest in the subject "-the subject of
accession-u and indications are that the Hindu
Maharaja of Kashmir, Sir Hari Singh, hàs lately
been much infiuenced by representations plade by
Mr. Gandhi, who visited Kashmir three months
ago, and by other Congress leaders. "

That is one assertion. However, it was said on
the other side that Pakistan, had taken up a very
wanton attitude with regard to this matter; that
before 22 October no molestation of Muslims had
taken place in the State; that Pakistan engineered
this raid into Kashmir in order to coerce the
State into accession· to Pakistan. That is a very
grave èharge and a very important one, apalt
from its gravity. On our side~ we have stated that
the whole of thîs uprising in Kashmir, with which
the Muslims of the surrounding States and coun­
tries are in sympathy, and such assistance as t'IJ.e
tribesmen are giving it, is due to the massacres,
molestations and the persecutions of the Muslims
that had a1ready started in the State. On the o~er

side, it is said: U No, it is wanton aggression
against the State of Kashmir in. order to coerce it
iuto accession to Pakistan. " Therefore, so far as
the facts are concerned, this is the crucial and
the central matter to which attention must be
paid.

In the fust place, as a matter of argument, it
was said that the whole case is built upon a
fiimsy foundation. Why should the Maharaja have
wanted to massacre his Muslim population, iU·
treat them or persecute them? Could it be con­
ceived that he could get rid of 3 million Muslims
of his State and replace them by other ïnha.bi­
tants? The idea is so absurd, it is said, that it
has merely to be mentioned to be rejected. In
the fust place, 1 would again, at the risk of
wearying the Council, draw attention to the fact
that in another Hindu State, something of that
kind had a1ready happened. It was. not 50 fantastic
or absurd as to be dismissed in that very State.
Kapurthala had a majority of Muslims, and tqday
there is not one Muslim left in the State. What
lS there ~antastic about such an idea today? Last
year, at this tune, if anybody had mentioned the
idea to me, 1 would have characterized it in the
same terms in which the representative of India
characterized it yesterday. However, today there
are instances and examples have been set which
might be followed.

But take a larger exarnple. The Sikhs have
'Succeeded in the East PuuJab of getting. rid of
{) million Muslims. The representative of India
'Said: .. No, .150,000 Muslims are still in East
P?Djab." Well, all right; 150,000 Muslims are
still in East Puujab. They have still succeeded jn

sur l'ordre du Maharadjah et chassé de l'Etat. Cet
incident montre combien était vif l'intérêt que le
Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru avait toujours porté au
cheik Mohammad Abdullah.

TI est difficile de croire qu'il ne se passait rien.
Q~elques jours après la libération du cheik
Mohammad Abdullah, celui-ci s'est rendu à Delhi
où il a été évidemment en contact avec le Gou­
vernement de l'Inde. Je reviendrai plus tard sur
ses déclarations, mais, le 25 octobre, le Times, de
Londres, a publié entre autres choses ce qui suit ~

«Mais l'Union indienne a pris un vif intérêt à
la question » - la question de la réunion - « et
tout porte à croire que le Maharadjah hindou du
Cachemire, Sir Hari Singh, a été dernièrement
très influencé par les représentations que
M. Gandhi lui a faites lO;l'squ'il s'est rendu dans
son pays il' y a trois mois, et par d'autres chefs
du parti du Congrès. »

C'est là une assertion. Cependant, la partie
adverse a dit que le Pakistan avait pris une atti­
tude inconsidérée à l'égard de cette question,
qu'avant le 22 octobre aucune molestation de
musulmans n'avait eu, lieu dans cet Etat et que le
Pakistan avait machiné cette incursion dans le
Cachemire afin de forcer l'Etat à se réunir au
Pakistan. C'est là une très grave accusation et
très importante, outre sa gravité. De notre côté,
nous avons déclaré que toute cette révolte du
Cachemire, qui a éveillé la sympatllie dés musul­
mans des Etats et des pays environnants et suscité
l'aide des tribus, est due aux massacres, molesta­
tions et persécutions subis par les musulmans, qui
avaient déjà commencé dans cet Etat. La.partie
adverse dit: « Non, c'est une agression inconsidé­
rée contre l'Etat du Cachemire afin de le forcer à
se réunir au Pakistan »..En.conséquence, au point
de vue des faits, c'est là un point crucial et central
sur lequel il faut porter son attention.

Tout d'abord, à titre d'argument, on a dit que
toute la cause était édifiée sur un fondement sans
consistance. Pourquoi le Maharadjah aurait-il
voulu massacrer son peuple musulman. le maltrai­
ter et le persécuter? Peut-on concevoir qu'il ait
pu se débarrasser de 3 millions de musulmans,
habitant son Etat, et les remplacer par d'autres
habitants? On a dit qu'il suffisait d'énoncer cette
idée pour la rejeter comme absurde. En premier
lieu, au risque d'ennuyer le Conseil, je voudrais
attirer de nouveau son attention sur le fait que
dans un autre Etat hindou, un fait de ce genre
s'était déjà produit. Cette idée n'était pas si fan­
tastique ni absurde qu'elle ait été écartée dans cet
Etat même. Le Kapurthala avait.une majorité de
musulmans, et aujourd'hui il. n'y .en .reste pas.un
seul. En quoi cette idée est-elle fantastique aujour­
d'hui? L'année dernière, à cette. époque, si quel­
qu'un m'avait parlé de cette idée, je l'aurais qua­
lifiée des mêmes termes que l'a fait,hier, le
représentant de l'Inde. Cependant, aujourd'hui, il
y a des exemples qui pourraient être imités.

.Mais prenons un exemple plus important. Les
Sikhs ont réussi, dans. le Pendjab oriental,. à se
débarrasser de6millions.de musulmans. Le repré­
sentant de l'Inde a dit: «Non, il reste encore
150.000 musulmans dans le Pendjab oriental?>.
Bon, très. bien ;il reste15Q.00 musulmans dans le.



getting rid of 6 million minus 150,000 Muslims.
In the State of Kashmir, if a million Muslims could
be got rid of and rep!aced by Sikhs and Hindus,
the trick would be done. What is there fantastie
about this idea? But let us get to the faets. After
aIl, this is an argument and counter-argument.
What are the facts? Are the faets as stated by the
representative of India? Are the facts as stated by
myself?

This is what the representative of India said
yesterday [234th meeting] :

U Tliat feeling of tevenge was fostered by the
faCt that these were Muslim invaders"-that is
to ~ay, after the invasion of 22 October 1947, the
feeling of revenge was'fostered ,among the Hindus
and Sikhs in the Stâte-u who had come from the
nortb, and who had pillaged and looted their
homes, and murdered them and their women. It
was that feeling which resulted in the first killing
in the Kashmir State by Hindus and Sikhs, which
occurred on 4 November 1947, about a week after
the raid. That is the ooly killing, of any moment,
which occurred at aIl in Kashmir.

.. 1s it not, then, preposterous. to suggest that
thïskilling, which took place after the raid, was,
as tb.e representative of Pakistan would have it,
the. cause of the raids which took place in
Kashmir? "

1 submit to the Security Council that this is a
Crucial matter.

With regard to raids on West Punjab from the
Jammu arid Kashmir State; 1 have already drawn
the. attention of the Security Council to that
matter in detail in my previous speech [228th
meeting]. l shall not repeat the facts here, but
instead, shall concentrate on ibis issue.

But with regard to the raids in West Punjab, 1
might add that they still continue. Our Iatest
telegram is dated 22 January and was sent from
Karachi by the Minister of Information to the
Embassy in the United States. It states:

.. 'A heavily armed mob, nearly 500 strong,
crossed the border in Pakistan and launched a
strong D.ttack on the village of Dandot, according
to a report from Sialkot received on Monday,
19 January 1948,' says a press note issuedby.the
WestPunjab Government.·'Besides twenty persons
killed; about 100 head of cattle were found buined
to death." Jammu State troops were reportèd to
have launched' another attack on the border village
in the Sialkot District,' says apress note issued by
the West Punjab Government on 20 January.
, They killed two persans and set fire ta a number
of houses in Pakistan territorj,' adds the press
note."

Of course,the representative of lndia might say,
as he said yesterday, .. We are notresponsiblefor
it. It is the JammuStatetroops who are respon­
sible, with regard ta the. massacre of the convov
-on 4 Novembèr." He said, .. True,wè were in

Pendjab oriental. ils ont tout de même réussi à se
débarrasser de 6 millions de musulmans moins
150.000. Dans l'Etat de Cachemire, si on pouvait
se débarrasser d'un million de musulmans et les
remplacer par des Sikhs et des Hindous, le tour
serait joué. Qu'y-a-t-il de fantastique là-dedans?
Mais venons-en aux faits. Après tout, je viens
d'exposer un argument et l'argument opposé.
Quels sont les faits? Les faits sont-ils conformes
aux. déclarations du représentant de l'Inde?
Sont-ils conformes aux. miennes?

Voici ce qu'a dit hier le représentant de l'Inde
[2348 séance] : '

«Ce désir de vengeance s'exacerbait du fait
qu'il s'agissait là d'envahisseurs musulmans» - il
s?agit du sentiment de vengeaIice favorisé après
l'invasion du 22 octobre 1947 parmi les Hindous
et les Sikhs de l'Etat - «qui étaient venus du
nord et avaient dévalisé et pillé leurs maisons,
massacré leurs frères et leurs femmes, C'est ce
sentiment qui a provoqué le premier massacre
commis dans l'Etat du Cachemire par des Hin­
dous et des Sikhs, massacre qui s'est produit le
4 novembre 1947, une semaine environ après
l'incursion. C'est le seul massacre qui se soit
jamais produit au Cachemire.

« N'est-il donc pas insensé de déclarer que ce
massacre, qui s'est déroulé après l'incursion, a été, .
COlllme le représentant du Pakistan le prétend,
la cause des incursions qui se sont déroulées au
Cachemire? ».

Je J,sclare au Conseil de sécurité que c'est là
un point crucial.

En ce qui concerne les incursions dans Je
Pendjab occidental lancées du Jammu et du
Cachemire, j'ai déjà attiré l'attention du Conseil
de sécurité sur cette question, dans le détail, à
l'occasion de mon discours précédent [228'
séance]. Je ne répéterai pas les faits ici, mais, par
contre,. je me concentrerai sur la présente ques­
tion.

Mais, en ce qui concerne les incursions du
Pendjab occidental, je peux ajouter qu'elles con­
tinuent. Notre dernier télégramme est daté du
22 janvier. et a été envoyé de Karachi par le
Ministre de l'information à l'Ambassade du Pakis­
tan à Washington.· Une note de presse publiée
par le Gouvernement du Pendjab occidental fait
connaître que:

« Selon un rapport de Sialkot reçu le lundi
19 janvier 1948... une foule armée jusqu'aux
dents, forte d'envil'on500personnes, a traversé la
frontière du Pakistan et a lancé une puissante
attaque sur le village de Dandot. Outre vingt per",
sonnes tuées, une centaine de têtes de bétail ont
été trouvées brûlées et mortes. On mande que,
d'aprèa une ilote de presse publiée ·par'le Gouver­
nement du Pendjab occidental le 20 janvier, les
troupes de l'Etat de Jammu ont lancé une autre
attaque sur un village frontalier du distric~de
Sialkot. Elles ont tué· deux personnes et D1l$ ~e
feu à un grand nombre de maisons dans le tem­
toire du Pakistan, ajoute cette note de presse. »

Naturellement, lereprésentani de l'Inde peut
déclarer, ainsi qu'il l'a dit hier: « Nous ne sommes
pas responsables de cela. Ce sont les troupes de
l'Etat de Jammu qui sont responsables du massa­
cre des voyageurs' d'un train qui a eu lieu le
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occupation of the State, but this massacre was
earried out by the troops of the Maharaja, and
we had no responsibility for it."

Now 1 come ta the allegation that no incidents
of Muslim oppression took place before 22
üctober 1947; that this was a wanton invasion by
the tribesmen to force Kashmir into accession to
Pakistan; and that all that took place vis-à-vis
the Muslims occurred later as a result of a spirit

1 of revenge fostered by this raid. In the fust place,
1 would draw the attention of the Security Coun­
cil to the considerable portion of my fust speech
dealing with this matter. Again, 1 shall not repeat~
as 1 have set out tbe various details of the perse..
cutions and the raids that have taken, place. But
1might draw the attention of the Security Council
to the st~tement of Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah
himself, made in Delhi on 21 October 1947,
before any raid had taken place. Sheikh Moham-

! mad Abdullah said that the present troubles in
Poonch, a feudatory of Kashm.ïr, were caused by
the unwise policy adopted by the State. The
people of Poonch, who suffered under their local
Ruler and again under the Maharajfl, of Kashmir
the overlord of the Poonch Ruler, had started a
people's movement for the redress of their grie­
vances. It was not communal. The State of
Kashmir sent in its troops and there was panic
in Poonch. But most of the adult population of
Poonch, he explained, were ex-servicemen in the
Indian Army, with close connexions with the
people in Jhelum and Rawalpindi. They evacuted
their wornen and children, crossed the frontier,
and retumed with arms supplied to them by
willing people. The present position was that the
Kashmir State forces were compelled to withdraw
in certain areas.

Why \Vere these people in Poonch under the
compulsion of taking their women and children
out of t".1e State, placing them in West Punjab,
borrowing arms and ammunition and going back
and :/ighting the State troops before any raid had
taken place? This is from the mouth of Sheikh
Mohammad Abdullah himself.

l VJould further draw the attention of the Secu­
rity Council in this connexion to a statement made

: by the same special correspondent of the DaiEy
Telegraph of London, Douglas Brown, who stated
in the issue of 12 January 1948: U It was,
however,1llldoubtedly, -tales of horribkl crucltie~
against their coreligionists in Jammu, coupled
:vith heartetting news of the insurrection ..-that
1S to say, the insurrection of the Poonchis and so
on_U which fust set them on 'their course of

1 invasion." 1 vdsh to repeat, ." tales of horrible
cruelties against their co-religionists in Jarimm,
coupled with hearting news of the insurrection."
The insùri'ection had aIready takenplace' and it
was basèd on the cruelties' thathadalready taken
~Iace. Further· on, the correspondent says, .. The
SItuation is complicated by many factors. One of
the factors is rbis: .. Yet another element in the
situation is provided by Sikh refugees from the
West ~unjab who have seized Muslim lands in

4 novembre.» TI a dit: «TI ,est vrai que nous
occnpions le pays, mais ce massacre a été commis
par les troupes du Maharadjah et nous n'en som­
mes pas responsables. li>

Maintenant, j'en viens à l'allégation selon
laquelle on prétend qu'aucun' incident relatif à
l'oppression des musulmans n'a eu lieu avant le
22 octobre 1947, qu'il y a eu une folle invasion
des tribus pour forcer le Cachemire à se réunir au
Pakistan et que tout ce qui s'est produit à l'égard
des musulmans a eu lieu plus tard, en raison d'un
esprit de vengeance causé par ce raid. Tout
d'abord, je voudrais attirer l'attention du Conseil
de sécurité sur une partie considérabie de mon
premier ùîscours. Je ne répéterai pas les différents
détail's sur les persécutions et les incursions qui
ont eu .lieu et que j'ai exposées. Mais je désire
attirer l'attention du Conseil de sécurité sur une
déclaration du cheik Mohanlillad Abdullàh lui­
même, faite à Delhi le 21 octobre 1947, avant
qu'aucune incursion n'ait eu lieu. Le cheik
Mohammad Abdullah a dit· que les troubles
actuels du Poonch, Etat vassal du Cachemire,
étaient causés par la politique peu sage adoptée
par l'Etat. La population du Poonch, qui a souf­
fert sous le règne de son prince ainsi que sous la
domination du Maharadjah de Cachemire, suze­
rain du prince régnant sur le Poonch, a déclenché
un mouvement populaire pour obtenir la répara­
tion des torts subis.

Ce n'était pas un mouvement. L'Etat de Cache­
mire a envoyé des troupes et s'il s'est produit une
panique dans le Poonch. Mais la plus grande par­
tie de la population adulte du Poonch, a-t-il dit,
se composait d'anciens soldats de l'armée
indienne, ayant des liens étroits avec la population
de Jhelum et de Rawalpindi. TIs ont évacué leurs
femmes et leurs enfants, ont traversé la frontière
et sont revenus avec des armes fo1ll'l1Îes par des
gens qui sympathisaient avec eux. TI en est résulté
que les forces de l'Etat de Cachemire ont été obli­
gées de se retirer dans certaines régions.

Pourquoi ces habitants duP'Oonch ont-ils été
forcés d'emmener leurs femmes et leurs enfants
hors du pays, de les installer dans le Pendjab
occidental, d'emprunter des armes et des muni­
tions et de revenir combattre les troupes de l'Etat,
avant qu'aucune incursion n'ait eu lieu? Cette
déclaration est des lèvres mêmes du cheik
Mohammad Abdullah.

Je voudrais en outre attirer l'attention du Con­
seil de sécurité, à ce sujet, sur un reportage fait
par le même correspondant spécial du Daily
Telegraph, de Londres,· Douglas Brown, qui a
publié dans le nUl11éro du 12 janvier 1948 ce qui
suit: «Ce· furent incontestablement des récits
d'horribles cruautés conunises contre les, coreli­
gionnaires du JalllIDU, associées à d'enc0u,ragean­
tes nouvelles de l'insurrection» - c'est-à-dire
l'insurrection des gens de Poonqh -'.« qui les
mirent tout d'abord sur le chemin de l'invasion».
Je désire répéter: «!les récits d'horribles cruautés
commises contre leurs coreligionnaires du Jammu,
associées à d'encourageantes nouvelles de·l'insur­
rection ». L'insmectlon avait déjà eu lieu et elle
avait été causée par les cruautés qui avaient déjà
été commises. Le correspondant ajoute : « La
situation est compliquée 'r dl' de nombreux .fac­
teurs. En voici un : un autre élément de la situa­
tion est constitué par les réfugiés sikhs· dù Pendjab
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occidental' qui, se sont emparés de terres apparte.
nant à des musulmans du Jammu ». C'est exacte.
ment ce que nous avons affirmé s~être produit et
qui devait se produire.

Le compte rendu continue : « Ds ont perpétré
les massacres ql1Î se sont produits en cet endroit
en octobre dernier, afin de débarrasser cette région
et en faire un nouveau territoire sikh, qui com.
penseraitleurs pertes au Pakistan eUoumiraitune
partie du noyau d'un futur Sikhistan. » En d'autres
termes, ils désiraient transformer le Cachemire en
un pays. des Sikhs. Ds ne pouvaient y parvenir
qu'en réduisant la majorité mùsulmane à une mi.

.norité, en tuant, pillant, expulsant des musulmans
et en amenant des Sikhs;

Le compte ,rendu contmue: .« Ces nouveaux
arrivés n'avaient aucune sympathie véritable pour '
Sir Hari Smgh et'· ses favoris dogras, quoique
îusqu'à présent ils eussent travaillé en alliance
malaisément maintenue avec eux. Ds 'considèrent
le puissant Maharadjah de Patiala comme leur
chef et profitent maintenant largement de la pré.,
sence dans la province de ses troupes nationales. l)

Cela rend l'origine des troubles parfaitement B
claire. Mais il existe une preuve concrète. Le b
20 septembre 1947 -. aussitôt que cela - le h
Gouverneur général du Pakistan .a reçu de la 4 0
Conférence musuImane du Cachemire le télé·
gramme suivant': « Oppression militaire atroce
dans le Poonch. Population pillée et tuée au
hasard. Prière d'intervenir ».Mais le représentant
de l'Inde dit qu'il ne s'est rien passé, et ces
troul'es sont celles dont je viens de parler.

Voici un autre télégramme des musulmans de
Bagh MaIlat, Etat de Poonch, en date du 29 sep­
tembre 1947, adressé au Gouvemeur général du
Pakistan: « Feu ouvert par le Gouvemement du
Cachemire depuis les 9 et 10 du mois de Bhadon
- cela v~ut dire, je pense un peu après la mi·
septembre - pertes de notre population musul·
mane ~stimées à 500 vies humaines. Prière d'inter­
venir immédiatement. » Mon savant anli continue
à dire que rien ne s'est passé et que personne n'a
été molesté, par les troupes nationales moins que
par' quiconque. Et ceci s'est passé en septembre.

Voici un rapport du Vice-Commissaire du dis·
trict de Rawalpindi adressé au Commissaire de la
division de Rawalpindi, en date du 8 octobre
1947 :

« A mon retour de Srinagar, le 8 octobre 1947,
j'ai rencontré un grand nombre de femmes et
d'enfants venant du Poonch et traversant la fron·
tière. Ds faisaient le récit de traitement inhumains
et de terribles atrocités commises par les troupes
dogras en opérations dans la région. du Poonch.
J'ai appris que dix ou onze; T,illagesavaient été
brûlés, que les femmes avaient été violées et que
les maisons .des musulmans avaient été incendiées
.par l'armée dogra. Au, pont de Kohala, j'ai per­
suadé l'officier commandant les troupes nationales
de prendre des .mesures pow: ces réfugiés, du côté
du Cachemire, car j'ai estimé qu'il était du devoir

.de l'Etat du Cachemire .de s'assurer de ses
propres. nationaux" d'autant plus' que. leurs souf­
frances étaient causées parles troupes nationales.

«Me dirigeant 'vers' Murree, j'ai rencontré près
du village de Déwal, à quelque dix kilomètr~
de Kohala, environ 600 femmes et enfants qUi
avaient traverséla rivière, venant du tenitoire du

Here. is a report. from. the Dèputy Commis­
sioner of the Rawalpindi District to the Commis­
sioner, Rawalpindi Division, dated 8 October
1947 :

, .. On myway backfrom Srïnagaron 8. October
1947, l Came across a large nuinber of women
and children crossing over from the Poonch side.
They related' stories6f inhuman treatment .and
terrible atrocities on the part of the Dogra troops
operating in the Poonch area. l was informed
that ten.. oreleven villages had been, b~ed,
wOlp,en hadbeen raped, and Muslim houses.had
been looted bythe Dogra A.11llY~, At the Kohala
Bridge, l persuaded the officerin charge of the
Statetroops to ,arrange for .these refugees' on 'l;he
Kashinir side, asI ielt that it was prltnarily the
respÇ>~ibility of the ~asl1mir'State •to lookafter
its' own .nati()n:a1s,espe~iaIly whën their' miseries
were due to the action; of' the Stat"troops.

., Onproce~~g'~~ Murree,. l ,;::ame across,
near the village of Dewal.abou~ .seven ,nliles nom
Kohala, ~bout600 women and. ,qhildren. who·had
crossed theri.ver frolll Kashmir. territory. They
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The report continues: •• These newcomers have
no real love for Sir HariSingh and bis Dogra
favourites, though hitherto theyhave been
working in uneasyalliance with them. They look
to the" powerful Maharaja of .Patiala as their
patron, and atpresentare takingfuIl advan:tage of
the presence ofhis State troops in the Province."

Jammu." That is exactly what we have aIleged
was .happening and was. bound to happen.

The report goes on : .. They originated the mas­
sacres there last October, to clear for themselves
new Sikh territory to compensate for their losses
in Pakistan and to provide part of the nucleus of
a future Sikhistan." In other words, they wanted
to convert Kashmir into, a land of the Sikhs. It
could notbeso converted unIess the Muslim
majority were reduced to a minority by killings,
by looting, by expulsion and by an. influx of
Sikhs. '. "

That w6uldmake it quite clêar how the trouble
started. But there, is specific evidence. On 20
September 1947-':"as early as that-the following
telegram was received, by the Govemor-General
of Pakistan fromthe Muslim Conference, Kash­
mir :" Atrocious. Inili.tary oppression in' Poonch.
Public being looted and shot' af random. Kindly
intervene."Buttherepresentative of India says
that nothing was happening. And these are troops
thatare rilentioned here.
, ,Here' is, another telegram from the Muslims of
B.agh MaIlat, Poonch State, to the Govemor­
General of Pakistan,dated29 September 1947:
"Fire opened by the Kashmir Govemment since
9th and lOth of Bhadon." That would put it,
l suppose, shortly, after the nliddle, of September.
.. our Muslim publicl6ss estimated at 500 lives.
Kindly inte,rvene immediately." My leBmedfriend
continues to say that nothing had happened and
that.nobody·had'been touched, least of aIl by the
State troops. And this wasin September.
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also related the same tale of woe. It would have
been inhuman to ask them to return to their own
country. Accordingly, 1 arranged to set up a
temporary refugee camp at the village of Phag­
wari, which is a somewhat more central place than
Dewal. 1 expect that the stream of refugees may
become stronger every day." That was on 8
October~ a fortnight before the fust raid took
place.

1 have before me one of our intelligence rèports, 1
marked .. Top Secret." However, it constitutes
evidence, and therefore 1 shall read portions of it.
It is dated 12 October, and reads as follows :

.. Muslims pfKashmir and Poonch, who form
80 to 90 per cent of the entire population, axe
keen that the State should accede to Pakistan,
but the attitude of the State authorities afiorded
indications to the contrary. On 15 August, Pakis­
tan Day was celebrated at Srinagar. The State
authorities tried to iIi.terfere with it.On 26
August, the celebrations were ammged in Tehsil
Bagh, Poonch State, resulting in a major clash
between the authorities and the people, with
heavy casualties to both (roughly estimated, 200
on the civiIian side and 50 on the military side)."

Further on, the report states :

" It was decided to oppose the State's drift
towards the Indian Union at aIl costs. The acti­
vities of Dogra troops, who had deliberately in­
dulged in looting, arson and harassment of ,Mus­
lims, made the situation intolerable, and the meet­
ing resolved to resist the criminal activities of the
authorities by means of direct action. This action
commenced on 2 October 1947."

That is when the movement started in Poonch.
The report goes on to say:

"Poonch-Pakistan border was the first to be
affected. The populace raided police station at
Dherkot on 2 October. The police ran away, and
the raiders captured 500 muzzle-loading guns, a
few shotguns, 8 rifles and 10,000 rupees."

The report goes on : .. On the night between 2
and 3 October, the civilians attacked the military
post at Churiala. About 40 miIitarymen were
killed, with very few casualties on the civilian
side. Action still continues, and the troops are
practically besieged."

The report thell goes on to give details of the
clashes on the different days up to 6 October.
Further on, the report states: •• On the 4th, the
troops attackedKhuntm: Rehala with a force of
about 200. They bumed about 50 houses. They
were engaged by the rebels. Fifty of them were
killed and 70 wounded. One Bren gun· was seized.
Civilian casualties are not known." .

Further on, the report states: .. The troops
retreating from· Khuntar Rehalaset fire to a

.number of Muslim houses at Pachbot. This resul­
te~ in irregular action on a sector of about· ten
miles affecting "-and then several villages are
rnentioned.

Cachemire. lis faisaient égaiement le récit de
leurs malheurs. 11 aurait été inhumain de leur
demander de retourner dans leur pays. En consé­
quence, j'ai fait le nécessaire pour établir un camp
de réfugiés temporaire au village de Phagwari, qui
est à un endroit un peu plus central que Dewal.
Je pense que le flot des réfugiés peut s'accroître
de jour en jour.» Ceci s'est pass6 le 8 octobre,
une quinzaine de jours avant la première incur­
sion.

J'ai entre les mains un des rapports de n,otre
service de renseignements, marqué ({ trés secret».
Cependant, il constitue un témC!ignage et, en con­
séquence, j'en lirai des extraits. li est daté du
12 octobre et est ainsi conçu:

«Les musulmans du Cachemire et du Poonch,
qui constituent de 80à 90 pour 100 du total de
la population, désirent ardemment· que . l'Etat
s'unisse au Pakistan, mais l'attitude des autorités
gouvernementales manifeste une volonté contraire.
Le 15 août, on a célébré la fête du. Pakistan à
Srinagar. Les autorités gouvernementales essayè-­
rent de s'y opposer. Le 26 août, on a organisé la
célébration de cette fête à TehsilBagh, Etat de
Poonch, et il en est résulté un terrible choc entre
les forces de l'Etat et la population, avec de nom­
breusesvictimes des deux côtés (environ 200 du
côté des civJset 50 du côté des soldats). »

Le rapport continue ainsi :

, «On a décidé de· s'opposer à tout prix à ce
que l'Etat soit entraîné vers l'Union indienne. Les
activités des troupes dograsqui avaient délibéré­
ment pillé, incendié et molesté des musulmans,
rendirent la situation intolérable; à la réunion,
on résolut de résister aux activités criminelles des
autorités, par l'action directe. Cette action a com­
mencé le 2 octobre 1947. »

C'est ce jour-là que le mouvement a commencé
dans le Poonch. Le rapport continue:

«( La frontière entre le Poonch et le Pakistan a
été affectée la première. La population a attaqué
le poste de police de Dherkot le 2 octobre. La
police s'enfuit, et les attaquants capturèrent 500
fusils se chargeant par la bouche, quelques fusils
de chasse, 8' carabines et 10.000 roupies. »

Le rapport continue: « Durant la nuit du 2
au 3 octobre, les civils ont attaqué le poste mili­
taire de Churiala. Environ 40 soldats ont été tués;
il" Ya eu_très peu de victimes du côté des civils.
L'action continue, et les troupes sont pratiquement
assiégées. »

Le rapport donne alors des détails sur les com­
bats qui ont. eu lieu à différents moment jus­
qu'au .6 octobre.. Le rapport déclare ensuite:
«( Le 4, les soldats ont attaqué Khuntar Rehala
avec un effectif d'environ 200 hommes. 11& ont
brûlé· environ 50 ,maisons. Us ont été attaqués
Par les rebelles. Cinquante soldats ont é'l:é tués
et 70 blessés. .on s'est emparé d'un fusil-mit:rail­
leur. Bren. On ignore le nombre des victimes
civiles. »

Le rapport continue. comme suit ~ «Les troupes
qui se retiraient de K:huntar Rehala ont mis le feu
à un certain nombre de maisons musulmanes à
Pachbot. TI en est •résulté une action· irrégulière
dans un secteur d'environ seize kilomètres,affec­
tant... » Suivent les noms de plusieurs villages.
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l Bandes armées.

Ceci indique donc ce qui s'est passé à cette
époque. Sur ce qui a eu lieu plus tard, le rapport
déclare:

«Un autre caractère significatif de ces opéra.
tions est que les soldats étaient invariablement
accompagnés de civils non-musulmans, qui étaient
munis soit d'armes à feu, soit de sabres et de
lances. Les civils étaient employés à incendier et
à massacrer aveuglément les femmes et les enfants
musulmans, tandis que les soldats attaquaient les
bandes de civils armés. »

Ce rapport de renseignements a-t-il été fabriqué
le 10 ou le 11 octobre, dans le but de créer un
motif pour lancer une expédition le 22 octobre,
et les faits ont-ils été allégués comme .::ause de
cette expédition? Le rapport du Vice-Commis­
saire est-il le fruit de son imagination ? La décla­
ration du cheik Mohammad Abdullah relative
aux événements dn Poonch a-t-elle été fabriquée
pour faire tort à la cause indienne?

C'est alors que nous avons envoyé un télé­
gramme. Ainsi que je l'ai déjà dit, je ne le citerai
pas in extenso. Mais le Ministre des affaires
étrangères a envoyé un télégramme au Premier .. Previou
l\finistre du Cachemire, le 12 octobre, dix jours Muslim re
avant l'expédition. TI est ainsi conçu: sahib. AlI b

rance from
«Des soldats de l'armée du Pakistan, qui sont fifteen miles

récemment revenus de permissions prises chez eux including
dans le Poonch, rapportent que des bandes armées Number of
comprenant des militaires attaquent les villages
musulmans de cet Et~t. Leurs récits sont confirmés continues.

started. Ove
par le grand nombre: de villages qu'on peut voir Korans mad
brûler de Murree Hill. Le Gouvernement du Pa·
kistan est intéressé vitalement au maintien de la : hunted and
paix sur ses frontières et au bien-être des musul-
mans des territoires adjacents et, pour ce seul
motif, il a le droit de demander l'assurance que
des mesures soient prises pour rétablir l'ordre
dans le Poonch. »

Ensuite, il fait ressortir «qu'une grande partie
du personnel militaire du Pakistan est recruté
dans cette région et qu'il est inquiet. »

Voici un télégramme du Président de la Confé­
rence musulmane du district de Jammu, daté du
20 octobre, de Sialkot. TI a dû évidemment aUer
à Sialkot. Sialkot se trouve à quarante-cinq kilo­
mètres de l'autre côté. Le télégramme est adressé
au sardar Adbul Rabnishtar, l'un des Ministres à
Karachi. C'est évidemment une copie envoyée
chez lui. Le télégramme est ainsi conçu:

«Des troupes dogras, renforcées par un très
grand nombre de soldats de l'armée indienne, en
civil, des jathas 1 sikhs d~ l'endroit et de l'exté­
rieur, d'Hindous et. de Radjpoutes, munis d'armes
modernes, ont commencé un massacre général des
.musulmans de Ranbirsinghpura, Akhnur, Samba 1

et de Jammu, dans le district de Jammu. Plusieurs
milliers de musulmans déjà massacrés sans pitié.
Des centaines de femmes enlevées. Tous les bi~ns
meubles pillés et des centaines de .villages mus~­
mans réduits en èendres. Des forces hostiles, conti­
nua'ilt le massacre de musulmans des faubourgs
et brûlant les villages musulmans de tous côté.s,
convergent à présent sur la ville de Jammu) et
n'en sont plus qu'à 1.600 mètres de distance. ~e
village de Raipur, à l'intérieur de la zone mili·
taire. de Jammu, brûlé. Les musu1Ih~s déjà dans

.. Men of the Pakistan Army Nho have recently
returned from leave at their homes in Poonch,
report that armed bands, which include troops,
are attacking Muslim villages in that State. Their
stories are-confirmed by the large number of vil­
lages that can be seen burning from Murre '\ Hill.
The Pakistan Government is vitally interested in
the maintenance of peace on its borders and the
welfare of Muslims in adjoining territories, and,
on iliese grcunds alone, would be justified in
asking for asSi:!rance that steps be taken to restore
order b Poonch."

It is then point out " that a good many of our
military personnel are drawn from that area, and
they are being disturbed ".

Here is a telegram from Sialkot, dated 20
October, from the President of the District Mus­
lim Conference, Jammu. He must obviously have
gone tG Sialkot. Sialkot is twenty-eight miles from
the other side. The telegram is addressed to Sardar
Abd,;! Rabnishtar, one of the Ministers· in Kara­
chi. It is obviously a copy sent to his house. The
telegram reads as follows :

"Dogra military reinforced by numberless
Indian Army plain-clothers, Sikh jathas,1 local
and from abroad. Hindus and Rajputs,armed
with modem weapons, launched wholesale mas­
sacre. of Muslims of,Ranbirsinghpura,:Akhnur,
Sam.baand Jammu Tehsils of Jammu District.
Several thousand· Muslimp .alreadv.ruthL ·31y but­
chered. Hundreds of wornen abducted.. AlI move­
able property looted and hundreds of MuslimviI- .
lages bumt to· ashes. Hostile forces, continuing
killing. suburbanMusIims and burning'Muslim
villages from all sides, now converging on Jammu
City and only one mile distant from it. Village
Raipur, within Jammu Cantottment· area, bumt.
MusIims in City· already hopeless.· mfuority and
altogether unarmed. Fifteen thousandMusIims of
Jatnmù City including women, children and cream

"Another significant feature during these opera­
tions was that the troops were invariably accom­
panied by civilian non-Muslims who were either
armed with firear ., or swords and spears. The
civilians were useu for purposes of arson and for
indiscriminate slaughter of Muslim women and
children, while the troops engaged civiliau armed
gangs:-

Was this intelligence report being manufac­
tured on 10 or Il October in "arder to make out a
case that there should be a raid on 22 October,
and these happenings alleged as reasons for it ?
Was the report of the Deputy Commissioner
similarly drawn from bis imagination? Was
Shèikh Mohammad Abdullah's statement of what
was happening in Poonch manufactured in order
ta damage the Indian case?

Then .we sent a wire. As 1 have already set
this out, 1 shall not go into it in extenso. But the
Foreign Minister sent a wire tû the Prime Minis­
ter of Kashmir on 12 October, ten days before
the raid. It reads as follows :

:L Anneâ bands.

Now this indicates what was happening at that
time. At a later stage the report says :
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of Muslim intelligentsia surrounded from all sides,
helpless and in immediate danger of being
ruthlessly killed. Muslim military disarmed and
Brigadier Khoda Bux, Jammu Cantonment, re­
lieved by Hindu Brigadier. If immediate help not
made, aIl will be butchered. Persistent bigger tra­
gedy than East Punjab. Pray intervene imme­
diately ,,,ithout losing a second, or if IÎothing eIse
possible, kindly arrange eVllcuation of Jammu
Muslims through Pakistan armies. Most urgent."

This was followed by another telegram of the
same description, which need not be read. Here
is a telegram from the City Muslim Conference, 1
Jammll, which agai."1 was sent frOID Sialkot, to the
Govemor-General at Karachi, 22 October, the
last day on which the raid started at the other
end. The telegram reads as follows :

"Previons telegrams unheeded. Ten thousand
Muslim refugees gathered Rosin factory Miran­
sahib. AIl butchered by Dogra militar}r, after assu­
rance from Kashmir Premier for safety. Within
fifteen miles radius of Jammu City, all Muslims,
including women, children, officiaIs, killed.
Number of killed over 40,000. Organized killing
continues. Attacks on Jammu City Muslims
started. Over 350 mosques burned. Bonfires Holy
Korans made. Muslim officiaIs and officers being
hunted and killed."

This was the picture seen from 20 September
to 22 October, and 1 was astounded when the
representë1tive of India said yesterday-no doubt
on the basis of information supplied ;he would
not know the facts himself-that no killing of
Muslims had taken place before the 2nd-as a
matter of fact before the 4th. He said that· it
was " that feeling which resulted in the fust kill­
ing in the Kashmir State by Hindus and Sikhs.
which occurred on 4 November 1947, about a
w~k afterthe raid. That is tlle onlykilling, of
any ,moment, which occurred in Kasbmir. Is it not
then preposterous to suggest," he said, .. that this
killing which took place after the raid, was, as
the representative of Pakistan wouldhave it, the
cause of the raids which took place in Kashmir ? "

1 leave. It to the Security Council to decide
whether these killings were the cause or the con­
sequence of the raid.

Inow .come to my last observations. That is
the situation, but the situation must be remedied.
T!tat is what the Security Council is concemed
Wlth. 1 have had to take up the time of the
Security Council to give it the picture as it is.

. On· the one side, it was saîd to be an aggres­
Slve raid on the territory of Kashmir to coerce
that State to. join Pakistan; that ït carried
everythingbefare it ;that there was looting, arson
and so on; that Indian troops were· there legiti-

la ville ~· ...t Ln "1 ,. '3nurité désespérée et complete­
m(;nt dé- "ll; ~..ûnze mille musulmans de la
vC:~ de _, comprenant des femmes, des
enfants e. ...a fleur de l'élite intellectuelle musul­
ma.ne, el1tourés de tous côtés, impuissants et en
danger immédiat d'être impitoyablement tués.
Soldats musulmans désarmés et général Khoda
Bux, de la ganüson de Jammu, remplacé par
général hindou. S'il n'est pas porté un secou1s
immédiat, tous seront massacrés. Drame perma­
nent plus terrible que celui du Pendjab oriental.
Prière d'intervenir ilJlDlédiatement sans perdre une
seconde ou si rien d'autre n'est possible, prière
faire évacuer les musulmans du Jammu par les
armées du Pakistan. Extrêmement urgent. »

Ce télégramme a été suivi d'un autre du même
genre et qu'il est inutile de lire. Voici un télé­
gramme de la Conférence musulmane de la ville
de Jammu, qui a été aussi envoyé de Sialkot au
Gouverneur général à Karachi, daté du 22 octo­
bre, jour où l'expédition est partie, à l'autre
extrémité du pays. Ce télégramme est ainsi
conçu:

«On n'a pas tenu compte des télégrammes
précédents. Dix mille réfugiés musulmans rassem­
blés dans la manufacture 4e colophane à Miran­
sahib. Tous massacrés par les soldats dogras
après que le Premi!}r Ministre du Cachemire eut
donné des assurances pour leur sûreté. Dans un
rayon de vingt-quatre· kilomètres de la ville de
Jammu, tous les musulmans, y compris les fem­
mes, les enfants et les fonctionnaires, tués. Nombre
des tués dépasse 40.000. La tuerie ·organisée
continue. Les attaques contre les musulmans de
la ville de Jammu ont commencé. Plus de 350
mosquées brûlées. Feux de joie faits avec le saint
Coran. Les fonctionnaires et les officiers musul­
mans sont pourchassés et tués. »

Telles sont les scènes qui se sont déroulées du
20 septembre au 22 octobre, et j'ai été stupéfait
lorsque le représentant de l'Inde a dit hier ­
certainement d'après des renseignemen,ts qui lui
ont été communiqués, il ne connaissait pas les
faits lui-même -._. qu'aucun massacre de musul­
mans n'a .eu lieu avant le 2 - en réalité avant
le 4. TI adit que c;était «ce sentiment dé ven­
geance qui a causé le premier massacre commis
au Cachemire par les Hindous et les Sikhs, qui
a eu lieu le 4 novembre 1947, environ une se­
maine après l'incursion. C'est le seul massacre
quî se soit produit à u."l. moment quelconque dans
le Cachemire. N'est-il donc pas ridicule d'affir­
mer», at-il dit,« que ce massacre, qui a eu lieu
après. l'expédition, a été, ainsi que l'a prétendu
le représentant du Pakistan, la cause des expédi­
tionsqui ont eu lieu au Cachemire? »

Je m'en remets au Conseil de sécurité pour dé­
cider si ces massacres o.ùt été la cause ou laconsé­
quence de l'expédition.

J'en arrive à présent à mes dernières .observa...
tions. Telle est la situation, mais il faut y remé...
dier. C'est là ce qui intéresse le Conseil desécu­
rité. J'ai \.0.1 prendre le temps du Conseil de
sécurité pour tracer un tableau exact.

D'un côté, on a dit qu'il s'agissait d'une incur­
sion agressive dans le territoire du Cachemire pour
forcer cet Etat à se joindre an Pakistan, et qu'elle
a balayé tôut devant elle; qu'il y a eu des pillages',
des incendies, etc. ; que les troupes indiennes se
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,'Briefiy, the situation can.only 'be resolved along
the. following lines; whatevt'-:the details Illay be.
CoIiside~g thàt ·it· is' mainlY,.the,populàtion of
~s1unir thatis jighting, it ,IntIst becompletely
as$UIed, ,and effective guarantees must be given,
thatMuslims will not be persecuted andoppressed
and thatthé people of theState shall decide their
Own constitution and the. ~hape of their Govern­
m,ent. '

On the other side, the picture is of. ~ mQve:meJ1,t
for liberation and freedom started by ~e,pe.ople
of Kashmir itse~ in sheer desperation against the
tyranny. and persecution wilich they had for so
long· suffèrëéI; and which had culminatedin all
these horrors and iniquities to which 1 have
drawn attention. No doubt these people have the
sympathy of the Muslims of West Pakistan, of
the Muslims of the North WestFrontier Province,
Clfthe Muslims of the tribalareas, an4 such of
!hem as areableto help themgetthro:ugh. There
isthe account ~om the tribes themselves that they
have mostly. to take 'their, route,through the State
o~ Sw~t. But however they get thIough, the q1,l~S~
tioniS'how, to ,resolvethis situation. The question
is n()~how ,to enablethe Indian Army to take pos­
session of the whole of Kashmir and to do what
it:likês therê, buthow·to resolve the situation.
.~. • .", :' ..•• t

mately, Kashmir being a part of India's territory­
which we do not for one moment accept ; and the
Indian Govemment says, .. We ask the Security
Council to direct the Pakistan Govemment to
stop the. infiltration of the tribes into Kashmir
through Pakistan territory ". That is to say, astate
of affairs should be brought about in which the
I!J.dian Army should be able to put down and to
ciush this movement in Kashmir, which it does ,
not admit) but which is admitted throughout the
accounts of all neutrals, and even in the statement
of Sheikh Abdullah himself, so that the Indian
Govemment can have the whole of the Kashmir
State within the hollow of its hands.

trmlvaient légitimement dans le pays, le Cache..
mire faisant partie du territoire de l'Inde - théo­
rie que nous n'acceptons pas une seconde - ;et
le Gouvernement de l'Inde dit: «Nous deman.
dons au Conseil de sécurité d'inviter le Gouveme.
ment du Pakistan à at-rêter l'infiltration des tribus
dans le Cachemire au travers du territoire du
Pakistan »: C'est-à-dire qu'un état de choses de.
vrait être créé grâce auquel .l'armée de l'Inde
pourrait maîtriser et écraser ce mouvement dans
le Cachemire, qu'il ne reconnaît pas, mais qui est
reconnu dans les rapports de tous les neutres, et
même dans la déclaration du cheik Abdullah lui­
même, de sorte que le Gouvernement de l'Inde
pourra avoir tout l'Etat du Cachemire dans le
creux de la main.

De l'autre côté, le tableau est constitué par un
mouvement pour la libération et la liberté déclen.
ché par le peuple du Cachemire lui-même, poussé
tout à fai~ à bout, contre la tyrannie et la persé­
cution qu'il a subies si longtemps et qui ont atteint
leur paroxysme dans toutes ces erreurs et iniquités
sur lesquelles j'ai attiré l'attention du Conseil. n
est. certain que ces gens jouissent de la sympathie
des musulmans du Pakistan occidental, des musul·
mans de la Province frontière du nord-ouest, des
musulmans des zones de tribu..<:; et de ceux qui
sont en mesure de les aider à passer la frontière.
Vous avez, des tribus elles-mêmes, un compte
rendu o~ il e~t dit. qu'elles ont principalement
emprunte les routes qui traversent l'Etat de Swat.
Cependant, quelle que soit la manière dont elles
passent, la· question qui se pose est de trouver
une solution. La question n'est pas de savoir corn.
ment permettre à l'armée indienne de prendre pes-
session de la totalité du Cachemire et d'y faire
ce qu'elle veut, mais de savoir comment trouver
une solution à la situation.

En un mot, on ne peut trouver une solution
que selon les principes suivants, quels que soient
les déta.i1sd'application. Etant donné le fait que ..
c'est principalement la population du Cachemire
qui combat,. il .faut qu'elle soit complètement as· .
surée, et des. garanties efficaces. doivent être .don­
nées, que les musulmans ne seront pas persécutés
et opprimés et que les habitants du pays décide­
ront de leur propre constitution .et de la forme,
de leur gOllvemement. . ,

,Assurances mustbe given and fulfilled that Des assurances doivent être données, qui de~'
Inman troops andall· outsiders shall· withdraw ; vront être respectées, que les troupes ,indiennes
this assurance must •.be given in' order that' law et tous les gens de l'extérieur·· se 'retireront; cette
and arder maybe.restored. Ifthat assurance is assurance devra être donnée, afin que la loi et
given, if wQuld go a very longway towards l'ordre puissent être rétablis. Si cette assUIaIl.ce
bringing about a cessation· of the conditions that est donnée, cela fera be~ucoup pour amene( la
p~vail today.Alloutsidem, 'that istosay,the cessation des conditions qui règnent aujourd'hui.
Sikhs and Hindus whoarecoming fromoutside, Tous les gens de l'extérieur, c'est-à-dire les Sikhs
the.. Muslinls. who. ma.y .not he fighting. but who et IJindous. q\Ùviennent du deh,ors, les musulmans
ëom~from, oULSlQeior any silicerepurpose, sh~ qUi peuvent ne pas combattre mais qui viennent
withdraw,. and an thcsewhohavebeen.~mpellecl de l'extérieur pour des buts sincères, seretireron~

. to leavethe State of Kashmir and who are cj~ens: et tou~ ceux qui ont. été forcés. de .quitterle
pfKashItûtshallbepermittedtoreturn.fiD.ordéi\ Cachemire et qui sont citoyens du pays seront

[toenableafree choicetobemadeb~thepeople autorisés àyretourner. Afin de permettre au
l, of .I{ashmirin •the •. matter of •. accession,that.'is, peuple du, Cachemire de, faire· un ·libre' choix· datt~
,1. whether they willaccede to Pakistanorwhether la question de .la •réunion, ... c'est-à-dire' dans la

t they will accedetoIndia, a neutral and impartial ; question de l'union avec le Pakistan ou avec
\adm~niFtratlon .. shallbel!ietllP. Ass:ur,ag.ce musti, l'Inde, une administration neutre et impartiale sera
\be,gJ.'V'en tpthateffect. ., _ établie. Des,assurances devl'ontêtre données à çet

effet. .
'> Here ls, Sheikh> Mohammad Abdullah, the Prenez le cheik Mohammacf Abdullah qtlïest

belovedleaderof the people of Kaslrinir. l,have unchefaimé'dupeupleduCachenilie.J'ai analysé
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analysed that position to some extent. He is at
the head of the Kashmir administration; it is
impartial; it is neutral. 1 shall draw attention only
to two statements of Sheikh Mohammad Abdul­
lah in this connexion. In the Hindustan Times
of Delhi of 12 November 1947, he is reported as
saying. 14 There May not he a referendum at all
afte.r this disaster at Baramula, Url, Pattan and
Muzaffarabad and otbel:' places. After what has
happened in these places, the people of Kashmir
may not bother about a refer-endum." Obviously
Sheikh Mol;lammad Abdullah's position refl.ected
only those people of Kashmir who were with him.
But what about the people of Kashmir who were
fighting at these very places, and were still figbt­
ing under the Azad Kashmir Government?

Even more extreme is the &tatement in the
1 Hindustim Times of New Delhi of 27 December

1947 from its correspondent at Indore, the capital
of one of the Indian States in Central India. This
statement is dated 25 December. It reajs as fol­
lows: .. Speaking at a mass Praja Mandal rally,
Sheikh MohaiIlmad Abdullah declared that Kash­
mir has finally resolved to remain with India,
ruled by the Kasbmir Jewel, Pandit Iawaharlal

1 Nehru. Pakistan can conquer Kashmir only after
each and every Kashmiri has dedicated bis Iife
in fighting with Pakistan." .

That is what Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah.has
put forward as a head of .a .. neutral " organiza­
tion,whi.ch·has suggested that, under bis auspices,
a plebiscite might be held. This plebiscite call
be observed, if you .like,by international obser­
vers. AlI that the international obst _'Vers could
accomplish would be. to see that, at the polling
places, nobody was clubbed or otherwise coerced.
How could these observers ensure that the admi­
nistratio~ has not a1ready accomplished its pur-

.1lose, by aIl sorts of means which are familiar in
manyparts of the worl1, that .certain people,
when they go to the. poUs, shall vote only one
way? When the head of the Administration has
annoUhcedthat so long as a smgle Kashmiri is
alive, Kashmir shallaccede to India and to nobody
else: --!hat· statementat least applies to him; so
long asheis alive, KashmirshaIlaccede to India.. ~. .

'rherefore, undera neutral administration or
under United .Natiorts .obs(lrvation,whatever is
preferred;·, a .plebiscite ought ta. beheld as .to
whether Kashmir shaIl accede to India. or Pakis- ­
tari. It isonlyinsurances and guarantees along,
these lines ·that would· make it possible tostop 1

thefighting.

1 have.· given the Security Council the reasons,
thepictures and. the roots. of this situation. It is
the evil that is .thêretoday wJllch has to be cleaned
?ut,.and 1 have sugge~ted the onlyw~y of c1eap.­
mg It out. lrJ. any such scheme, Pakistan will
fully co":operate to whatever extent. it is called
uponto do so.It wiI1beeager to doso. We
consider. itan honour to do.so in orderto bring
peace and ()rdertothat part of· the world.

The' 'system of consecutive interpretation was
resumëdat tms point; .

cette position dans une certaine mesure. TI est à
la tête du Gouvernement du Cachemire; il est
impartial; il est neutre. J'attirerai l'attention seu­
lement sur deux déclarations du cheik Mohammad
Abdullah à ce sujet. Dans le Hindustan Times
de Delhi, en date du 12 novembre 1947, on rap­
porte qu'il a dit ~ «TI peut se faire qu'il n'y ait
pas du tout de référendum après ce désastre de
Baramula, Url, Pattan et Muzaffarabad et autres
lieux. Après ce qui s'est passé en ces endroits, il
se peut que le peuple du Cachemire ne se soucie
même plus d'un référendum. » Evidemment l'opi­
nion du cheik Mohammad Abdullah ne concerne
que les habitants du Cachemire qui étaient avec
lui. Mais que penser de ceux qui combattaient en
ces endroits même et combattent encore sous les
ordres du Gouvernement du Cachemire azad?

Cependant, l'article publié dans le Hindllstan
Times de Delhi, du 27 décembre 1947, de son
correspondant d'Indore, capitale d'un des Etats
indiens de l'Inde centrale, est encore plus outran­
cier. Cet article est daté du 25 décembre. TI est
ainsi conçu: «Parlant à une réunion publique, à
Praja Mandal, le cheik Mohammad Abdullah a
déclaré que le Cachemire avait finalement décidé
de rester avec l'Inde, gouvernée par ce joyau du
Cachemire: le Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru. Le Pa­
kistan ne pourra conquérir le Cachemire qu'après
que les habitants du Cachemire auront sacrifié leur
vie jusqu'au dernier en -combattant contre le
Pakistan..»

Voici ce qu'il a déclaré, en qualité de chef
d'une organisation «neutre », en proposant qu'un
plébiscite ait lieu sous ses auspices. Ce plébiscite
pourra être surveillé, si vous le désirez, par des
observateurs internationaux. .Tout ce que. ces
observateurs Dou.rraient faire serait de veiller à ce
'que, aux lieûx de vote, personne ne soit frappé
ou fasse l'objet d'une pression. Comment. ces
observateurs pourraient-ils assurer que le Gouver­
nement n'a pas déjà attemt;- par toutes sortes de
moyens bien connus dans de nombreux: pays du
monde, son but de faire voter dans un seul sens?
Si le chef du Gouvernement a annoncé que, tant
qu'un seul habitant du Cachemire sera vivant, le
Cachemire doit être uni à l'Inde et à auCun autre
Etat, cette· déClaration. s'applique au moins à 111i­
même: il estime que, tant qu'il sera envie, le
Cachemire doit être uni à l'Inde.

.' En conséquence, sous un Gouvernement neutre
ou sous la surveillance de l'Organisation des Na..­
tions Unies, selon ce qui sera jugé· préférable, .il
faudra organiser un plébiscite sur .la question. de
l'uaion du Cachemire à l'Inde ou. au· Pakistan.
Seules des assurances etdes garanties dans ce sens
permettront d'arrêter les combats.

J'ai e~poséauConseildesêcurlté les raisons,
la description. et .les causes .profonqes de cette
situ~tion.. C'est cette. plaie q1.J'il fajJt nettoyer, ,et
j'ai suggéré la. seule manière de la nettoyer. Pour
la réalisation de· ce projet, le Pakistan. coopèrera
pleinement, quelle que soit la mesure dans laquelle
il seraf~t appeLàlui. L''-impatien~.d'yaiger.
Nous estimollsqu~:c'est un honneur cl y cooperer
afin· d'apporter la paix. et l'ordre. dans.cette partiè
du monde. . .. -

A cëstade des débats il est··· de nouveau· fait
usage de l'interprétation consécutive. ..
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M. NOEL BAltER (Royaume-Uni) (traduit de
l'anglais) : Nous avons entendu les déclarations
des deux parties en cause. Beaucoup de choses
ont été inscrites aux procès-verbau.'t du Conseil
de sécurité que, si l'histoire même pouvait être
écrite à nouveau, les deux parties désireraient
effacer. Ayant entendu les parties, je désire, en
qualité de membre du Connil de sécurité parta­
geant ses devoirs envers l'humanité, poser cette
question avec une égale compréhension, une égale
amitié et, si elles veulent bien me permettre de
m'exprimer ainsi, avec un égal amour pour toutes
les deux: Que doit faire maintenant le Conseil de
sécurité? J'espère que ncus porterons notre atten·
tion sur les parties constructives des discours de
nos collègues de l'Inde .et du Pakistan.

Je ne propose pas que nous laissions de côté le
reste de leurs déclarations, ou que, en recherchant
une solution, nous négligions les causes du conflit
acb.lel. Au contraire, il nous faut prendre des
dispositions contre ses. causes dans toutes nos pr~
positions. Mais U llOUS faut essayer de placer les
choses que nou>'! avons entendues dans leur véri­
table perspective, et ensuite examiner s'il vaut
la peine de continuer et quel espoir nous avons
de parvenir à un règlement complet et
équitable.

Je suis profondément convaincu que les deux
Gouvernements désirent véritablement un règle.
ment et que, en conséquence, on peut arriver à un
arrangement équitable. Le représentant du Pakis­
tan, la semaine dernière, et de nouveau aujour­
d'hui, et le représentant de l'Inde, lorsqu'il a
ouvert les débats et de nouveau hier, nous ont
exposé la manière dont les troubles qui ont opposé
des groupes d'origines différentes· se sont produits
au COl:lrS de ces deux dernières années. Je n'ai
pas l'intention de discuter les détails tragiques sur 1

lesquels ils ont attiré notre attention. Dans mon
esprit les rapports de causalité à ce sujet sont
encore enveloppés de mystère.. Certain~ment,ces
troubles ont leur origine dans l'histoire et j'espère
que, bientôt, ils disparaîtront de nouveau dans
l'histoire. L'intérêt de chacun est d'oubliér le passé
et de se concentrer sur l'avenir.

Je ne minimisep<is les terribles événements qui
se sont produits, les peites de vies hwnaines, ni les
souffrances des réfugiés. Néanmoins, il est vrai
- et ce n'est pas un hasard - que 95 pour 100
de la péninsule n'ont pas été touchés et que, même
là où les .désordres ont eu lieu, de grands efforts,
couronnés de succès, ont été accomplis par •les
deux Gouvernements pour les maîtriser. Les pas­
sions des groupes d'origines différentes ont été
allumées dans le Pendjab ët à Delhi, et la violence
de la populace s'est déchaînée _. une populace
munie de quantités d'armes automatiques et de
munitions. A un certain moment, il a semblé que
toute la structure de l'Etat allait s'écrouler et1~
loi s'effondrer. Les .événements de Dellii n'ont été
que le plus dangereux exemple de ce qui s'est
passé ailleurs, mais les deux Gouvemementsont
maîtrisé la situation' et, en ·le faisant, leurs chefs
ont fait preuve d'un grand couragephyslque et
IOoral. Chaque jour, à Delhi, le .Pandit Nehru.a
risqué sa vie pour arrêter les troubles ... et. sauver
les musulmans. Les Premiers Ministres de l'Inde
et du Pakistan ont fait des tournées ensemble.
Ensembl~, ils ont dirigé des c;ampagnes d'apaise­
ment et fait des appels au calme, et jepensequ~

It is my profound conviction that both Govem­
ments really want to reach a settlement, and that,
therefore, a fair adjustment. can be made. The
representative of Pakistan last week and again
today, and the representative of India when he
opened the matter and again yesterday, gave us
their accounts of how the communal troubles hap­
pened over the last two years. 1 do not intend to
discuss the tragic features to which they drew
attention. To my mind the process of causation
is still wrapped in mystery. No doubt these trou­
bles came out of history, and 1 hope they will
saon disappearinto history again. The interest of
everyone is to forget the past and to concentrate
on the future.

1 do not rninimize the terrible events thathave
occurred, the loss of life or the suffering of. the
refugees. Nevertheless, it is true, and is noacci­
dent, that 95 per cent of· the. Sub..,Continent was
unaffected, md that, even where disorders took
place, there were great and successful efforts by
both Govemments toget them under control.
Communal passions had been inflamed in the
Punjab and in Delhi, and mobviolence broke
loose, mob violence With unlimited ammunition
and automatic weapons. At moments· it appeared
that the whole fabric of govemment might· break
down and the mie of law collapse. The events
:in Delhi were only the most dangerous example
of whathappenedelsewhere, .but the two .Govern:'
ments brought things. under .colltrol and, in so .
doing, $eir.leaders displayed .great .physical .and
moral courage. Day .after .day in .Delhi Pandit
Nehru risked his lifeto stop the troubles and to
save the Muslims. The PrbÎle. Ministers •of India
and of Pakistan went out together. They conduc~
ted joint campaigns and made joint appeals, and
1 think that both Govemments showed great
statesmanship and resolution of. no ordinary kind.
In the end they succeeded in getting their armies,

1 am not suggesting that we can brush aside ilie
rest of their statements, or that in seeking a solu­
tion we can neglect the causes from which the
present conflict came. On the contrary, we must
make provision concerning those causes in all
that we propose. But we must try to put what we
have heard in. its true perspective, and then to see
whether it is worth going on, ll."ld what hope we
have that a full and fair settlement can now be
made.

Mr. NOEL BAKER (United Kingdom) : We
have heard statements from the two parties in this
case. Much has been inscribed in the record of
the Security Counci1 which, if history itself could
be rewrltten, both parties WQuld desire ta e..~pnnge.

Having heard the parties, 1 want, with equal
llnderstanding, with equal friendship, and, if they
will allow me to say so, with equallove for both,
as a member of the Security Council, sharing our
collective responsibility to mankind, to ask the
question: What ought the Security Council now
ta do? 1 hope we shall fasten our attention on
the constructive parts of what our colleagues from
India and Pakistan have said.
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and then their police, to do their duty. They
punished those who attacked the trains and
convoys, they re-established discipline and law,
and restored the convoys and camps to reasonable
arder, By far the most important, they began to
exorcise the satanic passions aroused by fear, and
to revive the spirit so truly characteristic of India
and Pakistan: the spirit of human charity, mutual
help and the protection of the sufferers on either
side.

1 remember with what infinite relief, sitting in
my office in London, 1 received the first tele­
grams which told us that the spirit of charity had
begun once more to revive. The t\.Vo Govem­
ments did this by co-operation. They resolved to
stop the killings, and they determined to prevent
their troubles leading on to war. They found that
the troubles had caused a mass movement of
refugees. As the representative of Pakistan has
said today, 10 million' people displaced from
their homes constitute a vast mass of human suf­
fering. 1 know the kind of difficulties it creates :
l worked for Nansen after the last war in the

j exchange of population between Greece ard Tur­
key, and helped to resettle 2 million refugees, 1
followed their movement, their settlement and the
results over many years. The problems are innu­
merable and infinitely complex. They have not
been solved in India and Pakistan, but 1 say,
knowing something about it, that those in charge
-and the leader of the Indian delegation is the
Minister responsible for that work-have already
achieved quite remarkable results.

1 am referring to the protection of the crops
and the resettlement of the refugees in productive
work. It is only a beginning, but it is a good
beginning. In 95 per cent of the Sub-Continent,
troubles did not occur at points of danger where
grave incidents had happened before. By wise
statesmilnshîp and 'vigorous action, they were held
in check. At the tiJrne of the greatest crisis, when
the wave cf communal strife was sweeping for­
ward, the two Governments worked together
untU, after grave disasters, they brought the mad­
ness under control.· Therefore, that was a great
achievement.

It is not the only one. They have reached
agreement. on other problems wmch were caused
by partition, such as the financial settlement. This
does not concem only the division of the cash
balances. There are many other matters of great
complexity, and of vital economic importance to
both countries on which the interests of the two
Governments might seem to he diametrically
opposed and for which an arbitral tribunal had
been set up. As to the division of military stores,
thel'e were difficulties which were caused partly
~transport. I. was a member of our Ministry of
.ransport during the war, and Iknow the difficul­

ties involved in the transport of military stores.

les membres des deux Gouvernements ont fait
preuve de qualités d'hommes d'Etat et d'un esprit
de décision peu ordinaires. A la fin, ils ont réussi
à ramener leurs armées et leur police à l'obser­
vation de leur devoir. Ds ont puni ceux qui ont
attaqué les trains et les convois, ils ont rétabli la
discipline et le respect de la loi et fait régner
l'ordre à nouveau dans les convois et les camps.
Mais ce qui est de beaucoup le plus important,
ils ont commencé à exorciser les passions satani­
ques soulevées par la peur et à faire revivre cet
esprit si caractéristique de l'Inde et du Pakistan,
l'esprit de charité humaine, d'aide mutuelle et de
protection des victimes des deux pays.

Je me rappelle, avec quel immense soulage­
ment, étant dans mon bureau de Londres, j'ai reçu
les premiers télégraIllIDes qui nous annonçaient
que l'esprit de charité avait commencé à revivre.
Les deux Gouvernements ont réalisé cela par la
coopération. Ds ont décidé d'arrêter les tueries et
ont résolu d'empêcher que les troubles entrâment
à la guerre. Ils ont constaté que ces troubles
avaient causé le déplacement d'un nombre énorme
de réfugiés. Ainsi que le représentant du Pakistan
l'a dit aujourd'hui, lorsque 10 millions de gens
quittent leurs foyers, il en résulte des souffrances
immenses. Je connais le g~nre de difficultés que
cela cause: j'ai travaillé pour l'organisation Nan­
sen après la dernière guerre lors de l'échange de
populations entre la Grèce et la Turquie et j'ai
aidé à établir 2 millions de réfugiés. J'ai suivi leur
déplacement, leur établissement et les résultats
qui en ont découlé, pendant de nombreuses
années. Les problèmes sont innombrables et infi­
niment complexes. Ils n'ont pas été résolus dans
l'Inde et le Pakistan; mais, cOlwaissant la ques­
tion, je dis que les dirigeants - et le chef de la
délégation indienne est le ministre qui est chargé
de ce travail - ont déjà obtenu des résultats tout
à fait remarqllables.

Je me réfère à la protection des récoltes et à
l'établissement des réfugiés permettant un travail
productif. Ce n'est qu'un début, mais c'est un bon
début. Dans 95 pour 100 de la péninsule indienne,
il ne s'est pas produit de troubles aux points sen­
sibles où dj:l graves incidents s'étaient produits
auparavant. Par une sage politique et une action
vigoureuse, on a tenu les fauteurs de troubles· en
échec. Au moment de la crise la plus grave, lors­
que la vague de conflits entre groupes d'origines
différentes envahissait le p~vs, les deux Gouverne­
ments ont travaillé ensemble jusqu'à ce qu'ils aient
maîtrisé la folie des émeutiers, malgré des désas­
tres considérables. Un résultat notable. a donc été
obtenu.

Ce n'est pas le seul. Les deux GÇll;lve~nements
sont parvenus à un accord sur d'autres questions,
soulevées par le partage, telles que le règlement
financier. Cela ne concerne pas seulement la
répartit!.on des fonCi3 en' espèces. TI y a beauco~p
d'autres questions d'une grande complexité .et
d'une importance économique vitale pour les deux
pays, pour lesquelles les intérêts des deux Gou­
vernements pourraient sembler être diamétrale­
ment opposés et pour lesquelles on a désigné 1111
tribunal arbitral. En ce qui concerne le partage
des stocks mili~,:rlres,·n s'est produit des difficultés
causées notamment par 'les transports. J'ai fait
partie de notre Ministère des transports durant



According to the last messages which 1 received,
those difficulties had been overcome.

Therefore, 1 think that, if we view these events
in their true perspective, we must admit that
althougb both Governments, like human beings,
made mistakes, and some people on both sides
preached dangerous ideas, the evidence discloses
that it was not the Governments which were to
blame. The two Governments faced more disagree­
ments than any other two ilew Governments
had ever faced before in trying to establish their
States and administrations. The evidence further
discloses that after long weeks, when difficulties
threatened to overwhelm these two Governments,
they mastered those problems and came very close
to full agreement and co-operation on every ques­
tion.

About six weeks ago 1 reported to my cabinet
colleagues that the situation had improved enor­
mously, that Kashmir was the chief outstanding
issue, and that, in the spirit of the situation as it
then existed, 1 had reason to believe that the
Governments wanted to settle and would settle
their problems. 1 still believe that they cano That
is the fust lesson which 1 have leamed from the
history of the last few months.

The second lesson, which is the obverse of
what 1 have said, is that, in spite of their efforts
to work together, the Kashmir business brought
these Governments very close to war. Three weeks
age, when this appeal was made, both Govem~

ments thought that at any moment war might
begin. As long as the present fighting in Kasbmir
continues, then, as the Indian representative stated
yesterday aftemoon, there is a danger that the
area of confiict will be enlarged and that aImost
by .. accident", to use his'word, the parties may
drift roto war.

The third lesson to he learned from the last
few months is that. if warhappens, it may be the
most terrible com.1ict in the history of mankind. 1
ask the parties and the Securïty Council to
consider what fuis conflict would mean. to the
armies, the officers and the men who participate
in it. Six months ago there was a single Army
with a· century of comradeship,;,in-arms behind i~

In this last war, .its men had a superb record of
achievements in every theatre and in every battle
against the Nazis. At their farewell gatherings,
when the Army was being divided, they wept over
the separation.

What would slich a. conîlict Mean to the peoples
there ? It would Mean that communal strife would
begin· again. There are aImost 40 million Muslims
in India, and many non-MusUms on. the other
side. There·would be no armies to help check the
troubles. They would be locked in battle at the
front. The . tribesmen might .come down not in
tens, but.in hundreds of thousands. They might
be a mortal danger. to both Governments. The 1
imagination is baftled at what· might happen. A

la guerre et je connais les difficultés inhérent~

au transport des stocks militaires. Selon les der.
nières nouvelles que j'ai reçues, ces difficultés ont
été surmontées.

En conséquence, je pense que, si nous considé­
rons ces événements sous leur véritable perspec.
tive, nous devons admettre, - d'après les témoi.
gnages recueillis - quoique les deux Gouverne­
ments, comme des êtres humains, aient commis
rles erreurs et que des deux côtés, certaines pero
sonnes aient prôné des idées dangereuses - que
les Gouvernements ne sont pas fautifs. Ces deux
Gouvernements ont rencontré plus de difficultés
qu'aucun autre auparavant, lorsqu'ils ont tenté de
mettre sur pied leurs Etats et leurs administra.
tions. Les témoignages montrent en outre qu'après
de longues semaines, lorsque les difficultés ont
menacé de les accabler, ils ont résolu ces problè­
mes et sont parvenus à une coopération et un
accord presque complets sur toutes les questions.

n y a environ six semaines, j'ai rendu compte à
mes collègues du Gouvemement que la situation
s'était améliorée considérablement, que le Cache­
mire était le problème principal à résoudre et
que, selon l'esprit de la situation telle qu'elle était
alors, j'avais des raisons de croire que les Gou­
vernements désiraient régler et régleraient leurs
différends. Je crois toujours qu'ils le peuvent. C'est
là la première leçon que m'ont enseignée les
événements de ces derniers mois.

La deuxième leçon - et cela s'oppose à ce
que je viens de dire - est que, malgré les efforts
qu'ils ont déployés pour travailler ensemble,
l'affaire du Cachemire a amené ces Gouverne­
ments à deux doigts d'une guerre. n y a trois
semaines~ lorsque cet appel a été lancé, les deux
Gouvemements ont pensé qu'à tout moment la
guerre pourrait éclater. Tant que les combats
actuels continueront dans le Cachemire - ainsi
que le représentant de l'Inde l'a dit hier après­
midi - le danger existe que la zone de conflit
s'étende et que presque « par accident » - c'est
le mot qu'il a prononcé -les parties soient entraî­
nées dans la guerre.

La troisième leçon à tirer des événements de
ces derniers mois est que, si la guerre éclate, ~ne
pourrait devenir la plus terrible catastrophe de
l'histoire de l'humanité. Je demande aux parties
et au Conseil de sécu...'ité de réfléchir sur les con·
séquences de ce conflit pour les armées, les offi·
ciers et les hommes qui y participeront. n y a six
mois, il y avait une seule armée jouissant d'une
tradition de compagnons d'armes, vieille d'un
siècle. Au cours de cette dernière guerre elle a
acquis de magnifiques états de services sur tous
les théâtres d'opérations et dans tous les combats
livrés aux nazis. Lors des revues d'adieu, quand
l'armée a été divisée en deux, les soldats ont versé
des larmes sur leUr séparation.

Quel résultat ~urait ce conilit pour les habitants
de ces pays? Cela déclencherait à nouveau· ~es
luttes intestines. n y fi près de 40 millions de
musulmans dans l'Inde et de nombreux non'
musulmans de l'autre côté. n n'y aurait pas
d'armées pour aider à maîtriser les troubles. Enes
seraient retenues au front pour le combat. Les
guerriers des tribus pourraient descendre de leurs
montagnes non par dizaines, mais par centaines de
milliers. ns pourraient constituer un dangermor·
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sub--continental war would be an unbelievable
disaster for the new Asia on which such hopes
of progress are now pinned. It would be a disaster
no less grave for aIl of us. It wouId retard our
post-war reconstruction. For the United Nations,
it would be a bitter defeat.

1 ask the delegations for what reason would this
war be fought? What is really at stake today
in Jammu and Kashmir? What is it that the two
Govemments care about? What are they seeking
to promote ? It is not territorial aggrandizement;
it is not the addition of population; it is not new
sources of wealth for exploitation; it i.s not t".1e
faIse glory of victory by arms; it is not the old
pemicious mirage of national prestige. Tb:Jse are
all discredited nineteenth century imperialistic
ideas'. The stake in Kashmir, what both Govern­
ments want, is the happiness, the peace and the
prosperity of their people-Muslim and non-Mus­
lim alike. They want their people to live, to
worship and to be governed as they desire. How
could that purpose justify a war? How could war
promote that purpose ?

Kashmir has a population of 4 millions. They
are now suffering the anguish and destruction
which fighting always brings. If the conflict
spreads and continues, it will take a generation
for them to recover. Kashmir has a population of
4 millions. From our office in the Empire State
Building we look out over the homes of over twice
that number. Four millions are a lot of people, but
they are 1 per cent of the population of the Sub­
Continent. They will need a generation to recover
if war occurs. What about the other 99 per cent
of the population? They will suffer the min 1
have described.

1 have here with me to act as advisors two
great military men, Lord Ismay, who was on Mr.
Churchill's staff during the war, and General
Schoones, who commanded in Burma- in our des­
perate campaign. They tell me that in their view,
after studying military history, wars very rarely
produce the results fof. which they were begun.
IPL this case war would destroy the purpose of the
Governments altogether.

The alternative to war is agreement in the
Security Council. Both parties have told us they
want peace with justice. Both have told us they
Want the will of the people of Kashmir to prevail.
The representative of India stated this yesterday,
and the representative of Pakistan stated it today.
Our task is to formulate a plan by which that can
be done. Let us press forward with that work.

Asfrom today, let the Presitlent of the Security
Council confer with the parties, and let them be
a drafting co~ttee of the Security Council. Let
the~ go forward from the preliminary agreements
whÏch the President recorded in his report the

tel pour les deux Gouvernements. L'imagination
est confondue par la vision de ce qui pourrmt arri~

ver. Une guerre dans la péninsule indienne serait
un désastre inconcevable pour la nouvelle Asie,
dans laquelle on met de si grands espoirs de
progrès. Ce serait un désastre non moins grave
pour nous tous. Cela retarderait notre recons­
~ction d'après guerre. Pou; les Nations Unies,
ce serait un cruel échec.

Je demande aux délégations pour quelle raison
cette guerre serait-elle livrée? Qu'est-ce qui est
réellement en jeu aujourd'hui dans l'Etat de
Jammu et Cachemire? Que veulent les deux Gou­
vernements? Que cherchent-ils à rftaliser? Ce
n'est pas un agrandissem~ntterritorial; ce n'est pas
un accroissement de population; ce ne sont pas de
nouvelles sources de richesse pour l'exploitation;
ce n'est pas la fausse gloire de la victoire par les
armes; ce n'est pas le pernicieux mirage du pres­
tige national. Ce sont là des idées impérialistes du
dix-neuvième siècle, toutes discréditées. La ques­
tion en jeu est le Cachemire; ce que les deux Gon­
vemements désirent, c'est le bonheur, la paix et
la prospérité de leurs peuples - musulmans et
non-musulmans. lis veulent que leurs populations
vivent, pratiquent leurs religions et soient gou­
vernées comme elles le désirent. Comment ces buts
pourraient-ils justifier une guerre? Comment une
guerre pourrait-elle réaliser ces buts ?

Le Cachemire a une population de 4 millions.
d'habitants. Actuellement, ils souffrent de la ter-­
reur et des destructions que les combats apportent
toujours avec eux. Si le conflit s'étend et se pro­
longe, il leur faudra une génération pour s'en'
remettre. Le Cachemire a une population de
4 millions d'habitants. De notre bureau, dans
l'Empire State Building, nous promenons nos
regards sur les foyers d'une population deux fois
plus nombreuse. Quatre millions, cela représente
un grand nombre de gens, mais cela ne constitue
qu'un pour cent de la popul~tion de la péninsule.
II leur faudra une génération pour se rétablir si
la guerre éclate. Que penser des 99 pour 100 res­
tants? Ils souffriront du désastre que j'ai décrit.

J'ai ici avec moi, en qualité de conseillers, deux
grands militaires, Lord Ismay, qui a fait partie de
l'état-major de M. Churct.till durant la guerre, et
le général Schoones, qui a commandé en Birma­
nie au cours de la campagne et des combats achar­
nés qui s'y sont déroulés. lis me disent que, à leur
avis, leur connaissance de l'histoire militaire les
incite à penser que les guerres donnent très rare­
ment les résultats pour lesquels elles ont été com­
mencées. Dans ce cas, la guerre détruirait entière­
ment le but que se proposent les Gouvernement;.

La seule solution, en dehors de la guerre, est
l'accord au sein du Conseil de sécurité. Les deux
parties nous ont dit qu'elles désirent la paix dans
la justice. Elles désirent, nous ont-elles dit, que la
volonté du peuple de Cachemire prévale. Le repré­
sentant de l'Inde l'a déclaré hier, et le représen­
tant du Pakistan l'a déclaré aujourd'hui. Notre
tâche consiste à formuler un plan par lequel cela
pourrait être réalisé. Faisons progresser rapide­
ment le travail.

Que dès aujourd'hui le Président du Con­
seil de sécurité confère avec les deux par­
ties, et qu'on désigne un comité de rédaction du
Conseil de sécurité" Qu'il aille de l'avaIl:t en par­
tant des accords préliminaires que le Président a
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other" day.Let them bring us a plan in outline,
if it may be, by Monday next. It is only by agree.­
ment that the Governments can avert common
dangers which threaten them both. It is to their
overwhelming material interest to agree. To the
peoples of India and Pakistan, with their age­
old cultures, their philosophy and their spiritual
power, it is much more than a material interest
that is at stake.

A distinguished leader in their struggle for inde­
pendence said a year or two ago: .. We in the
Sub-Continent have to live to'gether. Let us live
in brotherhoodand peace. If we do not so live,
nature will make us suffer, and after great suffer­
ings we will have to reconcile ourselves to the fact
'that those whom God united nobody can separat~.

Any Hindu who offends a Muslim is doing injus­
tice to bis own community and country, and any
Muslim who offends a Hindu is destroying his
religion and the freedom his country."

That great prophet, Mahatma Gandhi, who has
just rendered such supreme service not only to
India and Pakistan but also, 1 think, to aIl
mankind, bullt -the independence movement on
the principle of non-violence against the British.
1 refuse to believe that the free Governments of
India and Pakistan cannot apply that principle
to their own relations. 1 am convinced that the
statesmanship which brought this matter' to the
Sr.cUrity Council will bring theSecurity Council
to success.

No doubt, to reach agreement, both sides must
make concessions, but in the Security Council
parties make -concessions not to each other but to
mankind. ,In the SecUrity CouncilaIl of us have
one overwhelniing interest: that truth and justice
shaIl-prevail.

Mr. AUSTIN {United States of América) : 1
intend to make onlya few brief :remarks. The
presentation of the claims on both sides permits
of only one decision which, it 'seems to me, pres­
cribes a course for the SecUrity Council. Even
without finding the facts, we clearly see a situa­
tionwhich-urgently requires the application of aIl
the pacific powers of the SecUrity Council. 1 have
listened intently to the claims of both sides, and
'never in' thehistory of the United Nations have
l been so grateful that the United Nations exists
and is here' toreceive the presentations that 'have
been ·so ably madeou'both sidesofthis question.

The Sec'urity' Councilhas not yet been caIled
upon to make a decision with despect to guilt or
\Vith rèsp~ct to what the actual facts are in detail,
but '. we .already hàve enough information to
arouse the ethical sense of the United Nàtions to
full and complete action, and we should do
everything we cau, as a worldOrganization whose
aim is to abolisbwar and to establish conditions
in which -peace '. will prevail, to help and guide
these people who are, beneath aIl their troubles,
brothers and friends, and who are tme lovers of

rappelés dans son rappo~ l'autre jour.' Que le
Comité nous présente' un projet de plan, si pos­
sible, hindi prochain. C'est seulement par un
accord que les Gouvernements pourront éviterles
dangers communs qui les menacent tous deux. n
est de leur intérêt matériel capital de s'accorder.
Pour les peuples de l'Inde et du Pakistan, avec
leur antique civilisation, leur philosophie et leur
pouvoir spirituel, c'est beaucoup plus qu'un inté­
rêt matériel qui est en jeu.

Un chef distingué, du temps de la lutte de
l'Inde pour son indépendance, a dit, il Y a un ou
deux ans: « Nous autres, dans la péninsule, il
nous faut vivre ensemble. Vivons dans la frater­
nité et la paix. Si nous ne vivons pas ainsi, la
nature nous fera souffrir et, après de grandes
souftrances, il nous faudra accepter le fait que
ceux que Dieu a unis ne peuvent être séparés par
personne. Tout Hindou qui offense un musulman
commet une injustice envers son propre groupe
et son propre pays, et tout musulman qui offense
un Hindou détruit sa religion et la liberté de son
pays. »

Ce grand prophète, le Mahatma Gandhi, qu:
vient Juste de rendre un suprême service non seu­
lement à l'Inde et au Pakistan mais aussi, je
pense, à toute l'humanité, a édifié le mouvement
de l'indépendance sur le principe de la non­
violence envers les Britanniques. Je refuse de
croire que les libres Gouvernements de l'Inde et
du Pakistan ne peuvent appliquer ce principe. à
leurs propres relations. Je suis conv~cu que la
politique qUi a porté cette a:ffàire devant le Conseil
de sécUrité conduira le Conseil de sécUrité au
succès.

'Certainement, pour parvenir àun accord, les
deux parties doivent fàire des ,concessions. Cepen­
dant, au Conseil de sécUrité, chaque partie ne
fait pas de concessions à l'autre, mais·à l'huma­
nité. Au Conseil de sécmité, nous avons tous un
intérêt capital: que la vérité et la justice pré­
valent.

M. AUSTIN (Etats-Unis d'Amérique) (traduit
de l'anglais) : J'ai l'intention è. ne fàire que
quelques brèves remarques. La 1- 'ésentation des
demandes des deux parties ne permet qu'une seule
décision qui, à mon sentiment, fixe la voie à
suivre par le Conseil de sécUrité. Même avant
d'avoir fait une enquête sur les faits, nous voyons
clairement une situation qui nécessite d'urgence
l'application de tous les pouvoirs de règlement
pacifique du Conseil de sécurité. J'ai écouté avec
une grande attention les demandes des deux par­
ties et jamais, depuis la création de l'Organisation
des NationsUriies, je n'ai été plus heureux que
cette institution existe, et qu'elle puisse entendre
des exposés aussi remarquables que éeuxqui ont

.été 'pronom:és pâr 'lès deuxpames en cause.
'Le Conseil de sécUrité n'a pas encore été

appelé à prendre une décision~u. sujet de. la cul­
pabilité ou dec:e que sont les ventables faIts dans
le détail, mais nous avons déjà suffisamment de
renseignements pour !Uciter I:Organisation. des
Nations Unies à passer a une action plus énergIque
dansle domaine moral, et nous devrions faire tout
notr~ possible, étant une organisation~~ndiale
dont le but est d'abolir la guerre et de creer des
conditions permettant'à la paix de prévaloir, po~
aider et guider ces deux peuples qui, malgré toutes
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peace seeking our guidance. They would not be
here unless they expected a great effo~ from us
to help them. Of course, this calls for mutual con­
sideration, mutual sacrifice, and mutual endeavour,
which the parties here have shown most nobly in
what they have achieved so far. The fact that
they have already made an agreement and have
asked the. Security Council to put it into effect
tbrough a resolution [230th meeting] is progress
for which they are entitled to great praise.

Another point which 1 want to have in the
record is a recognition of the very important fact
that when India accepted the accession of Kash­
mir, it made its act stand for a great principle by
stating, as a part of the acceptanc~, that it was
conditional on fair plebiscite being held ta deter­
mine 'the will of the people of Kashmir with
respect to accession. 1 think an example was made
in history at that point.

Now comes Pakistan, which agrees to and
stands for exactly the same doctrine. So we are
blessed, as it were in this tremendously difficult
situation, by having the two parties' which havn
that vision as to the possibilities of a solution
that would really settle their troubles. This is a
situation, however complex and difficult it may
be, that is filled with hope.

Tt sec;:ms to me, in determining whether there
is a situation which, if it were to continue, might
lead to a dispute or ta war, that we have before
us an opportl,mity ta make progress in the right
direction, through the continuation of the entiTely
friendly and informal conferences under the
guidance of the President of the Security Council.
My country thinks that these conferences should
be continued in the real spirit that animates India
and Pakistan here, and that they .should not be
interfered with bythe necessary presentation of
charges,counter-charges, claims artel so on that
have to go into the record.

We should like to suggest to the twoparties
that under theg'o.lidance of the President of the
Sec.urity Council, they should try to reach agree­
ment on those issues-and they relate to political
issues as well as to the military issues-that were
prel.ented by the mst petition [document 8/628].

We now have a counter-petition [document
8/646]. The whole matter is before us.

It is the Kashmir matter on which all these
other questions will depend. It seems to me that
our advice to the two parties should be-and
that is what they are asking for whenthey come 1
here-that they proceed with the Kashmir mat­
ter, withoutprejudice to the other question; com­
plete thenegotiations that are .now pending; and,
with respect to the media and metho,ds Qfcreating
fuoseconditions in which a fair plebisci~e pan be
held, arrange an interim government that is
recognized as :free fromthe -smell of brimstone,
as'uearly impartial and perleet a..~ two great conn­
tries like Inma.and Pakistan can make it, in which
the rest of the world will have confidence as being
fair.

leurs difficultés, sont frères et amis, .et qui, aimant
réellement la paix, recherchent nos conseils. Ils ne
seraient pas ici s'ils ne comptaient pas que nous
ferons un grand effort pour les aider. Naturelle­
ment, cela requiert la considération mutuelle, les
sacrifices réciproques et les efforts communs dont
les parties ont noblement fait preuve dans l'œuvre
qu'ils ont réalisée jusqu'à présent. Le fait qu'elles
ont déjà conclu un accord et demandé au Conseil
de sécurité de le mettre en vigueur par une réso­
lution [2300 séance] constitue un progr~s digne
des plus grands éloges. ..

Un autre point que je désire voir figurer au
procès-verbal est la reconnaissance du' fait très
important que, lorsque l'Inde a accepté la réunion
du Cachemire, elle l'a fait pour. la défense d'un
grand principe, en déclarant que cette acceptation
était subordonnée à un plébisci.te loyal, destiné à
manifester la volonté du peuple du Cachemire au
sujet de l'union. Je pense que cela constitue un
exemple pour l'histoire.

Voici maintenant le Pakistan qui accepte la
même doctrine et s'en fait le défenseur. Ainsi,
nous avons cette chance,. dans cette situati,on
extraordinairement difficile, que. les deux parties
entrevoient les possibilités d'une solution qui rè­
glera véritablement leurs conflits. C'est une situa­
tion qui, aussi complexe etciifficile qu'elle puisse
être, est ple~e d'espérancl?

Je pense qu'en déterminant si nous sommes en
présence d'une situation qui, en se prolonge~t,
pourrait conduire à un différend ou à la guerre,
nous avons l'occasion cfe progresser dans la bonne
voie en continuant à tenir des conférences tout à
fait amicales et officieuses sous la direction du
Président du Conseil de sécurité. Mon pays pense
que ces conférences devraient se poursuivre, dans
l'esprit même qui anime l'Inde et le Pakistan,
et que ces pays ne devraient pas être troub.lés.par
la nécessité de présenter des- accusations, contre­
accusations,plaintes,etc" qui dotvent êtreins­
crites aux:proc~s-verbaux.

Nous désirerions suggérer aux deux parties
qu'elles essaient, sous la' di:èection du· Président
du Conseil de sécurité, de parvenir à un accord
sur les problèmes _.. et ils se rapportent aux
questions politiques aussi bien qu'aux questions
militaires - qui ont été exposés dans la première
démande [document 8/628]. '

Nous avons maintenant unedem2illde reconven­
tionnelle [document 8/646], nous s(},1UDles saisis
de toute l'affaire.

C'est de l'affaire du Cachemire que toutes les
autres questiops dépendront. Je pense que nous
devrions copseiller ·aux deux parties -- et c'est
ce qu'elles demandent en venant ici - de régler
l'affaire du Cachemire, sans préjudice de l'autre
questjon, de termin,er les -négQci!itions actuellement
en cours et, a:u s:ujet des moyens et niéthodes à
employer pour .créer les conditions d'un pléb~­

cite loyal, de s'entendre pour.désigner.un gouver­
nementproyisoirequi sera reconnu cOnune ne
sentant .pas le soufre, .aussi imparti~ et parfait
que deux ·grands pays.~OInme l'Inde. et le Paltis ,J.1.

'p,oUrront le réaliser, et _dans lequel le reste du
monde a}.lra ,confiance parce q.u'il .sel:'a équitable.
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It will not be difficult. If one comes to the
conference table with the spirit of agreement,
one will find many ways of carrying out this
spirit. Of course, the agreement should be such as
would invite the retum of émigrés to their homes.
It should be such an interim arrangement as would
open up the ballot boxes to everybody with the
utmost freedom, and without any restraint except
the restraint of maintenance of order under the
law.

Freedom in the exercise of the franchise is what
I understood India to refer to when that coun­
try made it a condition precedent to the final
accession of Kashmir to any other country;
namely, that a plebiscite should be held. That was
a part of the Tes gestae for India.

I wish to ask something eIse. My thoughts are
not mature enough to submit a proposition. I am
not making a motion, but I ask if it is not
worthwhile for the parties involved, in their search
for peace and for a real, true settlement of a very
complex situation, to conduct aIl these 'proceed­
ingg-the plebiscite especially-under the aegis of
the Security Council. In asking that question, I do
not mean to imply that the Security Council
should be sent over there. The Security Council
can remain here and perform its duty. In addi­
tion, it cari supervise fuis interim situation so as
to guarantee a free and clear opportunity to the
people of Jammu and Kashmir to record their
will with respect to accession and other ques­
tions, as there will saon come the question of a
pennanent Government aIso.

There is much more that is running through
my mind in connexion with this matter, which I
omit for the time being.

General McNAUGHTON (Canada): I speak at
this time only to associate myself with the expres­
sions of hope voiced by the representatives of the
United Kingdom and of the. United States that the
discussions between 'the representative of fudia
and Pakistan, under the auspices of the President
of the Security Council, will continue so that a
basis of agreement may be reached to terminate
the fighting; to afford security to the peoples of
Jammu and Kashmir under some authority which
will be recognized by everyone concemed as
strictly impartial; and, most important, to provide
for a plebiscite of the people in which aIl of them
will be permitted to express without fear or
'favour their wishes as to the future government
of the State.

From what has been said in the Security Coun­
cil this moming, I feel confident that if the dis­
cussions are resumed, they will result in the
development of specific proposals which will
represent a substantial step forward in these im­
portant matters.

Mr. DE LA TOURNELLE (France) (translated
trom French) : I listened with emotion to the
eloquent appeal of the United Kingdom represen­
tative. I think that Mr. Noel Baker accurately
expressedthe sentiments we all felt after hearing
the statements of the two parties. Indeed, it is

. quite clear that, in spite of the critical situation
which has arisen, the two Governments are too
conscious of their great responsibilities towards
the vast populations they have the honour to

Ct; ne sera pas difficile. Si vous prenez place
à la table de conférence, animés d'un esprit de
conciliation, vous trouverez de n\Jmbreux moyens
de mettre cet esprit. en pratique. Naturellemen~

l'accord devra prévoir le retour des émigrés dans
leurs foyers. Ce sera cet accord provisoire Gui
assurera à tous l'accès aux urnes avec la plus
grande liberté et sans aucune restriction, sauf celle
nécessitée par le maintien de l'ordre dans la loi.

Je pense que l'Inde se référait à la liberté
d'exercice de ce droit lorsqu'elle a posé cette
condition à la réunion définitive du Cachemire à
tout autre pays, à savoir : un plébiscite. Cela fait
partie des «hauts faits » de l'Inde.

Je désire demander autre chose. Mes idées ne
sont pas suffisamment mûres pour présenter une
proposition. Je ne soumets pas une motion, mais
je me demande s'il ne vaudrait pas la peine que
les parties intéressées, dans leurs efforts en faveur
de la paix et du règlement réel et véritable d'une
situation très complexe, procèdent à tous ces actes
- en particulier au plébiscite - sous l'égide du
Conseil de sécurité. En posant cette question, je
ne veux nas dire que le Conseil de sécurité devra
se rendr~ sur place. Le Conseil de sécurité peut
rester ici et exercer ses fonctions. En outre, il
peut surveiller la situation provisoire de manière
à garantir aux peuples de Jammu et Cachemire
la faculté d'exprimer librement et clairement leur
volonté au sujet de l'union et d'autres questions
- car celle d'un gouvernement permanent se
posera aussi bientôt.

J'ai encore beaucoup de choses à l'esprit à ce
sujet, que j'omets pour l'instant.

Le général McNAUGHTON (Canada) (traduit
de l'anglais) : Je prends à présent la parole seu­
lement pour m'associer à l'espoir, exprimé par
les représentants du Royaume-Uni et des Etats­
Unis, que les délibérations des représentants de,
l'Inde et du Pakistan, conduites sous les auspices
du Président du Conseil de sécurité, se poursui­
vront de manière qu'on puisse parvenir à une base
d'accord pour mettre un terme aux combats,
donner la sécurité aux peuples de Jammu et Ca­
chemire sous un gouvemement qui sera reconnu
par tous les intéressés, aussi impartial que possi­
ble, et, ce qui est le plus important, organiser un
plébiscite où chacun pourra exprimer, sans crainte
ni pression, sa volonté au sujet du futur gouver­
nement.

D'après ce qui a été dit ce matin au C?nseil
de sécurité, je suis convaincu que, si les discus­
sions sont reprises, elles permettront l'élaboration
de propositions concrètes qui constitueront un
grand progrès dans cette importante affaire.

M. DE LA TOURNELLE (France) : J'ai écouté
avec émotion l'éloquent appel du représentant du
Royaume-Uni. M.Noel Baker, je crois, a exprimé
excellemment les sentiments que nous avons tous
ressentis après avoir entendu les exposés des deux
parties. TI est, en effet, apparu très claireme~t
qu'en dépit Ûl} la situation critique qui a surgi,
le" <lb, ' Gouvt'rnements sont trop conscients de
1 , 'bill" .,. d tres'en~~ m:~~"~i1S0S f"é:)ponsa tes Vls-a-VlS es ,
nomh >,{n.1ses populations qu'ils ont l'honneur de
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govem to risk allowing the present dispute to
degenerate into a conflict.

The Security Council has taken only the fust
steps along a path which may lead to peace.
Nevertheless, it has made an important decision
in establishing a Commission which has very wide
powers, since it is both a commission of investiga­
tion and a commission of mediation.

1 think that the Commission's fust task should
tE' to organize a plebiscite as soon as possible. In
that connexion, 1 think that the speediest pro­
cedure would be to continue consultations between
the two parties, under the President's auspices, in
order to establish the conditions in which that
plebiscite should take place.

Personally, 1 would suggest three conditions:
1. The withdrawal of foreign troops from the

State of Kashmir. ,
2: The return of the inhabitants~ irrespective

of their race-Hindu or Moslem- to their'places
of origin in that State.

3. The establishment of a free administration
which would not exert pressure on the population
and would give absolute guarantees of a free
vote.

Mr. Hsu (China) : My delegation is pleased
to note that, in spite of all differences, the two
parties are in fondamental agreement. They agree
that the case should be settled by pacific means
and that the wishes of the people involved should
be taken consideration.

Like all the members who have spoken, my
delegation supports the suggestion of the repre­
sentative of the United Kingdom that the parties
be requested to continue the exploration of means
of settlement under the guidance of '/:he President
of the Security Council.

The representative of the United Kingdom has
made an appeal which was as statesmanlike as it
was beautiful. 1 am sure both parties will respond
favourably.

Mr. EL-KnoURI (Syria) : 1 wish to express my
full agreement with the statement made by the
representative of the United Kingdom, and also
with the statements' of t'he members who spoke
after him. These statements certainly have been
very helpful and useful for the continuation of
our work, WOTk on which we have made very
good progress.

It is the hope' of my delegation that these
negotiations will be continued under the guidance
of the President of the Security Council and that
they will include the items which have been
mentioned, especially those mentioned by the
representatives of France and Canada.

'Provision should also be made with respect to
another point of disagreement among the parties,
namely, the refugees in places other than Khasmir.
They should be given the opportunity to return
to their homes, and provision for redress should
be made; It is to be expected' that similar pre­
visions will be established for both sides. In this
manner all the causes of· the dispute will be
removed and no issue will he 12ft to disturb" the
good relations and friendfu\f;s~ between the two
Dominions.

diriger, pour risquer de laisser dégénérer en conflit
le différend actuel.

Le Conseil de sécurité est à peinè entré dans
une voie qui peut conduire à la paix. Néanmoins,
il a pris une importante décision par la création
d'une Commission possédant des pouvoirs très
étendus, puisque celle-ci est à la fois une Commis­
sion d'enquête et une Commission de médiation.

Je pense que son premier soin sera d'organiser
un plébiscite dans le plus bref délai. Acet égard,
il me semble que la procédure la plus rapide
consisterait à poursuivre, sous les auspices du
Président, les consultations entre les deux parties,
afin de déterminer dans quelles conditions aura
lieu ce plébiscite.

Pour moi, j'en vois trois:
1. Le retrait des troupes étrangères de l'Etat du

Cachemire;
2. Le retour dans cet Etat des habitants, quelle

que soit leur race - hindous ou musulmans - et
leur réinstallation dans leur lieu d'origine;

3. L'installation d'une administration libre qui
ne fera pas pression sur la population et donnera
des garanties absolues sur la loyauté des votes.

M. Hsu (Chine) (traduit de l'anglais) : Ma
délégation est heureuse de noter que, mëÙgré toutes
les divergences d'opinion, les deux, parties sont
d'accord sur les principes. Elles conviennent que
la question doit être réglée par des moyens paci­
fiques et qu'on tiendra compte de la volonté des
peuples intéressés.

Comme tous les membres qui ont pris la parole,
ma délégation appuie la suggestion du représen­
tant du Royaume-Uni selon laquelle les parties
seront invitées à poursuivre l'étude des moyens de
règlement sous la conduite du Président du Con­
seil de sécurité.

Le représentant du Royaume-Uni a fait un
appel qui a été en tous points remarquable et
digne d'un homme d'Etat. Je suis sûr que les
deux parties y répondront favorablement.

M. EL-KHoURI (Syrie) (traduit de l'anglais) : Je
désire exprimer mon entière approbation de la
déclaration faite par le représentant du Royaume­
Uni ainsi que de celles des membres qui ont parlé
après lui. Ces déclarations ont certainement été
très utiles et nous aideront dans la poursuite de
nos travaux, qui ont déjà fait de très grands
progrès_

Ma délégation espère que ces négociations se
poursuivront sous la direction du Président du
Conseil de sécurité et qu'elles comprendront les
points qui ont été mentionnés, en particulier ceux
qui ont été cités par les représentants de la France
et du Canada.

On devrait prévoir des dispositions au sujet
d'un autre point de désaccord entre les parties, à
savoir la question des réfugiés se trouvant ailleurs
qu'au Cachemire. On devrait leur ménager la pos­
sibilité de retourner dans leurs foyers et réparer
le préjudice qu'ils ont subi. li est probable que des
dispositions semblables seront établies des deux
côtés. De cette manière, toutes les causes de
différends seront supprimées et il ne restera au­
cune question susceptible de troubler les bonnes
relations et l'amitié existant entre les deux Do­
minions.
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Comme l'a dit le représentant du Royaume..
Uni, nous ne devrions pas regarder vers le passé.
Nous devrions tourner le dos au passé et regarder
en avant afin d'assurer l'avenir. En même temps,
nous ne pouvons fermer complètement les yeux
sur ce qui s'est passé. Certaines choses se sont
produites des deux côtés. TI y a des réfugiés dans
les deux: pays et on devrait leur donner la possi~

bilité de retourner dans leurs foyers. Leur situa~

tion requiert.un rajustement.
Le représentant de la France a déclaré que la

première condition à réaliser avant le plébiscite
est que toutes les troupes étrangères devraient être
retirées du Cachemire. Je désire ajouter à ce point
que non seulement les troupes étrangères de~

vraient être éloignées, mais aussi les étrangers qui
ont fait des in\!UIsions et les membres des tribus
venus du dehors. TI faut qu~ils se retirent pour
qu'on réalise un règlement pacifique et que le
peuple exerce son droit de disposer librement de
lui-même.

M. DE LA TOURNELLE (France) : Comme suite
à la remarque que vient de faire le représentant
de la Syrie, je précise ma pensée et me hâte de
dire que «troupes» signifie aussi bien troupes
régulières que troupes irrégulières, c'est-à-dire les
effectifs qui combattent sous le commandement
d'un Etat aussi bien que les tribus qui ne recon­
naissent aucune autorité d'Etat.

Le PRÉSIDENT : Le désir a été' exprimé que
les reorésentantsde l'Inde et du Palcistan poursui­
vent Îeurs convers'ations en vue d'un règlement,
ceci avec le concours du Président du Conseil, sur
la base des éléments d'accord qui pourraient exis~

ter dès à présent et en tenant compte des éléments
qui ont été apportés au débat. Si tel est le désir
des deux parties en même temps que celui du
Conseil, je reprendrai immédiatement les contacts
avec les repr~sentants de l'Inde et du Pakistan.

S'il n'y a pas d'observation$ nous nous réunirons
de nouveau mardi matin pour conJnuet l'examen
de cette affaire.

La séance est levée à 13 h. 55.

Mr. DE LA TOURNELLE (France) (translated
jrom French) : As a result of the remarks
which the Syrian representative has just made, 1
should like to explain my idea and point out
that by .. troops" 1 mean regular forces as weIl
as irregular ones~ that is to say, troops fighting
under the com'" and of a State as weIl as tribes
which recogniz(. 'lO State authority.

The PRESIDENT (translated /rom French) : The
wish has beenexpressed that the representatives
of India and Pakistan should continue their
discussions with a view to' reaching a solution
with the assistance of the President of the Council
on the basis of anyelements of agreement which
may now emt, and taking into RcCOunt the points
which have arisen in thecoutse of the debate. If
that is the wishof the two parties and of the
Council, 1 shaIl immediately approach. the repre­
sentatives of Iildia and Pakistan again..

If there is no objection, we shan meet again on
Tuesdaj moming to continue the consideration of
this question.

The meeting rose a J55 pm.

As the representative of the United Kingdom
has said, we should not look to the pasto We
should tom our backs on the past and look ahead
in order to ensure the future. At the same time,
we cannot close our eyes cQmpletely to the pasto
There are· things which have happened on both
sides. There are refugees on both sides and they
should be given the chance to retum to their
homes. Their situation requires some readjust­
ment.

The representative of France stated that the
fust requirement before the holding of the
plebiscite is that all foreign troops should be
withêlrawn from Kashmir. 1 wish to add to that
point that not only should foreign troops be
removed, but a1~0 foreign raid(:rs and tribesmen
who are not Kashmiris. It is necessary for them
to be withdrawn in order to obtain a peaceful
settlement and in order to ensure the freedom of
the people to exercise their right of self-determi­
nation.
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Held at Lake Success, New York,
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l.Adoption \otth{' agenda.

2. India-PaIdstan question.:
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Tenue à Lake Stlccess, New-York,
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Préiide"'t : M.F. VAN LANGENHOVE (Belgique).
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